This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



The role of the Coxsackie and Adenoviral Receptor in TNF alpha driven inflammation

Hicks, Alexander Peter

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

THE ROLE OF THE COXSACKIE AND ADENOVIRAL RECEPTOR IN TNF ALPHA DRIVEN INFLAMMATION

By

Dr Alexander Peter Hicks

King's College London

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2015

Abstract

Transepithelial migration (TEpM) of leucocytes during the inflammatory process requires engagement with receptors expressed on the basolateral surface of the epithelium. One such receptor is Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor (CAR) which binds to Junction Adhesion Molecule - L (JAM-L) on leucocytes during TEpM.

This study reports the first evidence that TEpM of leucocyte cells requires, and is controlled by, phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR. The *in vitro* data shows that these leucocyte cells can adhere to an epithelial layer but where the cytoplasmic tail of CAR is prevented from undergoing phosphorylation the leucocytes are unable to transmigrate. Furthermore it shows that this CAR phosphorylation step is driven by TNF α signalling via a TNFR1-PI3K-PKCδ dependent signalling pathway. The work demonstrates that THP-1 cells can secrete TNF α thereby activating the CAR phosphorylation pathway leading to TEpM without addition of exogenous TNF α but importantly where TNF α is added this process is augmented suggesting a role for CAR in inflammatory conditions. Mouse models also confirm that CAR phosphorylation in response to inflammatory stimuli occur in vivo. Both acute (a 24 hour inhaled TNF a challenge) and chronic (a 34 day ovalbumin challenge) inflammatory conditions are studied. Confocal microscopy techniques are used to show that the cytoplasmic tail of CAR is phosphorylated. Specifically this is seen at the cell membrane of epithelial cells of bronchioles with associated inflammatory cells in the interstitium.

Taken together these data describe a novel method for the control of TEpM by transmigrating leucocytes that can also be heightened by the presence of proinflammatory cytokines during inflammation. This provides a novel target for controlling inflammation at the epithelium, a key component of the pathogenesis of many diseases including asthma.

Acknowledgements

I must start by expressing my gratitude to my two supervisors Professor George Santis and Dr Maddy Parsons. They have both worked incredibly hard to nurture me through the PhD. More significantly their enthusiasm and example has ensured that despite all the challenges that face the scientific community in the current economic climate I am left with a strong desire to continue with a career in medical research that could well have been lost without their involvement.

I would also like to thank Dr Penny Morton for the invaluable support I have received from her over many years both during the PhD and in the years leading up to it. Without her technical advice and assistance I would have floundered in the world of research many years ago but more importantly without her unwavering patience and reassurance when I repeatedly forgot the simplest steps in an experiment there would be no thesis now to review. As a result any weakness in my research knowledge and ability is no reflection on all the effort she has put in to train me.

I am similarly very grateful for the all the help and advice from Dr Elena Oritz-Zapator and Dr Alistair Noble in the development and processing of the mouse models. This work was often very challenging and novel for the research group as a whole and required their reassuring presence to ensure success.

I am also very thankful to all the other members of the lab who have ensured that even after the fifth failed repetition of an experiment it was still a fun place to return too. I definitely miss the trips with Claire, Richard and Siva to visit the 16th floor AMT coffee shop for another 'debrief' over a failed experiment.

3

Finally and most importantly I must give a heartfelt thank you and apology to my wife, Vicki, for supporting me through the last few years. These have included many anxious and grumpy moments, with multiple weekends and evenings lost to work. Her understanding and support, with the aid of our 'helpful' cats Florence and Livingstone, have ensured that there is a completed body of work and a sane individual at the end of the process.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT 2		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
TA	BLE OF CONTENTS	
TABLE OF FIGURES		
TA	BLE OF TABLES12	
1	: INTRODUCTION16	
1.1	THE RESPIRATORY EPITHELIUM	
1.2	THE ROLE OF THE RESPIRATORY EPITHELIUM IN INFLAMMATION AND ASTHMA	
1.3	EPITHELIAL CELL JUNCTIONS	
1.4	TIGHT JUNCTIONS	
1.5	JUNCTION ADHESION MOLECULES	
1.6	Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor	
	1.6.1 The Structure of CAR29	
	1.6.2 The expression of CAR in the body	
	1.6.3 CAR in tight junctions	
	1.6.4 CAR in Inflammation	
1.7	LEUCOCYTES AND TRANS-EPITHELIAL MIGRATION (TEPM)	
1.8	CYTOKINE DRIVEN CELL SIGNALLING	
	1.8.1 Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α)44	
1.9	AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS OF THIS STUDY	
2	METHODS AND MATERIALS	
2.1	Cell Lines	

2.2	CELL CULTURE	48
2.3	ANTIBODIES	49
2.4	Cytokines	52
2.5	ANTIBODY PRODUCTION AND ELISA ASSAYS	53
2.6	PKCA SILENCING	55
2.7	IMMUNOBLOTTING	56
2.8	IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	58
2.9	IMMUNOSTAINING AND CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY	60
2.10	TNFR1 INHIBITION	62
2.11	LPermeability Assay	62
2.12	TRANSMIGRATION ASSAY	63
2.13	3THP-1 CELL ADHESION ASSAY	64
2.14	ORGANOTYPIC CULTURE	64
2.15	Mouse models	66
	2.15.1 Acute inflammatory mouse lung model	66
	2.15.2 Chronic inflammatory mouse lung model	69
3	CHARACTERISING THE EFFECTS OF CYTOKINES ON CAR	
PH	OSPHORYLATION AND FUNCTION	70
3.1	INTRODUCTION	70
	3.1.1 Cytokines and Tight Junction Proteins	70
	3.1.2 Objectives	72
3.2	RESULTS	73
	3.2.1 Phosphorylation of CAR in response to cytokines	73
	3.2.2 Development of serine/threonine phosphorylation specific CAR antibodie	es 76

3.2.3 CAR phosphorylation at the serine/threonine phosphorylation site in resp	onse
to TNF α	82
3.2.4 Development of tyrosine phosphorylation specific CAR antibodies and res	sponse
to TNF α	86
3.2.5 CAR response to cytokines	89
3.2.6 PKCδ is responsible for CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF $lpha$ stimula	ation
92	
3.2.7 PI3K inhibition leads to loss of PKC δ phosphorylation and therefore CAR	
phosphorylation in response to TNF $lpha$	95
3.2.8 NFкB activation downstream of TNF is unaffected by CAR	97
3.2.9 MAPK signalling in response to TNF is unaffected by CAR overexpression.	99
3.2.10 The disruption of CAR with adenovirus 5 fibre knob leads to the loss of	of CAR
phosphorylation in response to TNF $lpha$	101
3.3 Discussion	103
3.3.1 CAR phosphorylation in response to cytokines	103
3.3.2 CAR at the cell membrane	105
4 INFLAMMATION LEADS TO CAR PHOSPHORYLATION AND IMMUN	E
CELL MIGRATION IN VITRO	107
4.1 INTRODUCTION	107
4.1.1 CAR and the immune response	107
4.1.2 Leucocyte Transenithelial Migration (TEnM) in response to cytokine stim	107 li 108
4.1.2 Leadodyte Hunsepithenan wightion (TEpin) in response to cytokine stim	un 100
4.2 NESULIS	110
4.2.1 Localization of TNE recentor and CAD in LIDEC	110
4.2.1 Localisation of TNF receptor and CAR in HBEC	110 <i>110</i>

	4.2.3 Confocal imaging of junction markers in mixed populations of Wt HBEC and
	FLCAR HBEC
	4.2.4 Phospho-CAR alters leucocyte transmigration118
	4.2.5 TNF α induced CAR phosphorylation promotes TEpM of THP-1 cells121
4.3	DISCUSSION
5	INFLAMMATION LEADS TO CAR PHOSPHORYLATION AND IMMUNE
CE	LL MIGRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> 128
5.1	INTRODUCTION
5.2	RESULTS
	5.2.1 Mouse lung response to acute inflammatory stimulation
	5.2.2 Mouse lung response to TNF α in the presence of Ad5FK
	5.2.3 Mouse lung response to chronic inflammatory stimulation137
5.3	DISCUSSION
6	DISCUSSION143
6.1	CAR PHOSPHORYLATION IN INFLAMMATORY CONDITIONS
6.2	PHOSPHORYLATION OF THE CYTOPLASMIC TAIL OF CAR CONTROLS CAR-DEPENDENT LEUCOCYTE
TRA	NSMIGRATION
6.3	POTENTIAL MECHANISMS FOR CAR MEDIATED TEPM
6.4	CONCLUSION
7	REFERENCES154

Table of Figures

FIGURE 1-1: THE EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TROPHIC UNIT1	8	
FIGURE 1.2: CELL TO CELL ADHESION IN THE AIRWAY EPITHELIUM	21	
FIGURE 1.3: GRAPHIC REPRESENTATION OF A TIGHT JUNCTION	24	
FIGURE 1.4: MEMBERS OF THE JUNCTION ADHESION FAMILY OF TRANSMEMBRANE		
PROTEINS	26	
FIGURE 1.5: JAM FAMILY INTERACTIONS	<u>28</u>	
FIGURE 1.6: SHOWING THE FOUR DOMAINS OF CAR AS A TRANSMEMBRANE		
PROTEIN	31	
FIGURE 1.7: POSSIBLE SITES FOR PHOSPHORYLATION OF THE CAR CYTOPLASMIC		
TAIL	33	
FIGURE 1.8: LEUCOCYTE MIGRATION ACROSS AN EPITHELIAL BARRIER INTO THE		
LUMEN	12	
FIGURE 2-1: GRAPHIC SHOWING THE PRINCIPLES OF A CONFOCAL MICROSCOPE	51	
FIGURE 2.2: PERMEABILITY MODEL SHOWING CELLS GROWN ON A COLLAGEN COATED		
PLATE FOR A FITC/DEXTRAN PERMEABILITY ASSAY	33	
FIGURE 2.3: ORGANOTYPIC CULTURE SHOWING HBEC GROWN AT AN AIR LIQUID		
INTERFACE ON A MATRIGEL/COLLEGEN/FIBROBLAST LAYER6	35	
FIGURE 2.4: FACS GATING STRATEGY FOR BAL CELL DATA	38	
FIGURE 3.1: ALTERNATIVE AMINO ACIDS FOR TYROSINE SUBSTITUTION	74	
FIGURE 3.2: THE CYTOPLASMIC TAIL OF CAR IS PHOSPHORYLATED AT BOTH THE		
THREONINE AND SERINE SITES BY TNFA BUT NOT AT THE TYROSINE	75	
FIGURE 3.3: PHOSPHO-SERINE/THREONINE ANTIBODY DEVELOPMENT	79	
FIGURE 3.4: SERINE/THREONINE CAR PHOSPHORYLATION ANTIBODY PURIFICATION 80		
FIGURE 3.5: CAR PHOSPHORYLATION FOLLOWING THE ADDITION OF TNF AT THE		
SERINE/ THREONINE SITES	34	

FIGURE 3.6: IMAGING OF CAR PHOSPHORYLATION FOLLOWING THE ADDITION OF TNF AT	
THE SERINE/THREONINE SITES85	
FIGURE 3.7: PHOSPHO-TYROSINE CAR ANTIBODY DEVELOPMENT AND RESPONSE TO	
CYTOKINE STIMULATION	
FIGURE 3.8: CAR RESPONSE TO ALTERNATIVE CYTOKINES	
FIGURE 3.9: PKC PHOSPHORYLATES CAR DOWNSTREAM OF TNF	
FIGURE 3.10: PKC PHOSPHORYLATES CAR DOWNSTREAM OF TNF (IMAGING)94	
FIGURE 3.11: PI-3K INHIBITION CAUSES LOSS OF BOTH PKC PHOSPHORYLATION AND	
CAR PHOSPHORYLATION IN RESPONSE TO TNF96	
FIGURE 3.12: NFkB SIGNALLING IS UNAFFECTED IN THE PRESENCE OF CAR	
FIGURE 3.13: MAPK SIGNALLING IS UNAFFECTED IN THE PRESENCE OF	
PHOSPHORYLATED CAR100	
FIGURE 3.14: FIBRE KNOB ASSOCIATED DISRUPTION OF CAR HOMERDIMERISATION	
LEADS TO LOSS OF TNF DRIVEN CAR PHOSPHORYLATION102	
FIGURE 4-1: CAR PHOSPHORYLATION AT CELL JUNCTIONS:	
FIGURE 4-2: LOCALISATION OF TNF RECEPTOR AND CAR IN HBEC	
FIGURE 4-3: CAR PLAYS A ROLE IN CONTROL OF TNF-INDUCED EPITHELIAL CELL	
MONOLAYER PERMEABILITY115	
FIGURE 4-4: CONFOCAL IMAGING SHOWING MAXIMUM INTENSITY PROJECTIONS OF	
JUNCTION MARKERS IN HBEC FOLLOWING TNF A TREATMENT:117	
FIGURE 4-5: CAR PHOSPHORYLATION DOES NOT AFFECT ADHESION BUT PROMOTES	
THP-1 INTEGRATION: 120	
FIGURE 4-6: TNF A PROMOTES TRANS-EPITHELIAL MIGRATION OF THP-1 CELLS IN A	
CAR DEPENDENT MANNER122	
CAR DEPENDENT MANNER	

FIGURE 5.2: ACUTE INFLAMMATORY MOUSE MODEL WITH INCREASED NEUTROPHIL		
PRESENCE IN RESPONSE TO TNF STIMULATION132		
FIGURE 5.3: MOUSE LUNG MODEL OF ACUTE TNF STIMULATION LEADS TO CAR		
PHOSPHORYLATION133		
FIGURE 5.4: JUNCTION MARKER STAINING IS UNALTERED IN AN ACUTE INFLAMMATORY		
MOUSE LUNG MODEL		
FIGURE 5.5: ACUTE INFLAMMATORY MOUSE MODEL WITH LOSS OF INCREASED		
NEUTROPHIL PRESENCE IN RESPONSE TO TNF STIMULATION WITH THE ADDITION OF		
AD5FK136		
AD5FK		

Table of Tables

TABLE 1. TABLE OF ANTIBODIES USED DURING THE PROJECT. WB: WESTERN BLOT,	
IHC: IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY. IP: IMMUNOPRECIPITATION	.49
TABLE 2: CAR p-ser293/thr290 antibody data	.54
TABLE 3: CAR P-TYR269 ANTIBODY DATA	.55

Abbreviations

AACARGFP	Phospho dead CAR over expressing cell line
AJ	Adherens Junctions
Akt	Ak thymoma
АРКС	Apical protein kinase C
ATII	Alveolar type 2 cell
Ca ²⁺	Calcium
CAR	Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor
CARGFP	CAR overexpressing cell line with a GFP tag
CD	Cluster of differentiation molecule
cIAPs	Cellular inhibitors of apoptosis
CLMP	CAR like membrane protein
CNS	Central nervous system
D1	Domain 1
D2	Domain 2
DAG D	Diacylglycerol
DDCARGFP	Phosphorylation mimic CAR overexpressing cell line
ECD	Extra cellular domain
EMTU	Epithelial mesenchymal trophic unit
ESAM	Endothelial Selective Adhesion Molecule
FADD	Fas-associated death domain protein
Fc receptor	Fragment, crystallisable region
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GFP	Green florescent protein
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HBEC	Human bronchial epithelial cells
hCD2	Human cluster of differentiation 2
hTERT	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase
ICAM-1	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1
lg	Immunoglobulin

IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL	Interleukin
INF	Interferon
IP	Immunoprecipitation
JAM	Junctional adhesional molecule
kDa	Kilo dalton
LFA1	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
Mac-1	Macrophage-1 antigen
MAG1	Membrane-associated guanylate kinase 1
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney cells
mRNA	Messenger ribose nucleic acid
MUPP1	Multi-PDZ domain protein 1
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa beta
NK cells	Natural Killer cells
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
nPKCδ	Novel protein kinase C delta
p120	protein 120
p21	Protein 21
PAR	Partitioning defective
PDBu	Phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate
PDZ	Post synaptic density protein/ Drosophila disc large tumour suppressor/ zonula occludens-1
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
PICK1	Protein interacting with protein C kinase
РКС	Protein kinase C
PSD-95	Postsynaptic density 95
RIP1	Receptor interactin protein 1
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT-PCR	Real time polymerase chain reaction

SHP 1 and 2	Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase-1&2
SIRPα	Signal regulatory protein alpha
ТЕрМ	Trans-epithelial migration
TH1	T –helper cell 1
TH2	T- helper cell 2
TJ	Tight Junctions
TNF α	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
TNFR1 & 2	TNF-receptor 1 & 2
TRAF2	TNF-receptor associated factor 2
VLA-4	Very Late Antigen-4
WB	Western blot
Wt	Wild type HBEC cell line
ZO	Zonular Occludins
γδΤ	Gamma delta T cells
μΜ	Micro meter

1 : Introduction

1.1 The Respiratory Epithelium

The respiratory epithelium comprises a layer of cells that line the respiratory system. It is predominantly made up of three epithelial cell types that work in combination to ensure the smooth flow of air in and out of the lungs and ensure that harmful substances do not enter the body. These cells include columnar epithelial cells, goblet cells and basal cells. In the oro and nasopharynx these columnar epithelial cells are replaced by squamous cells as they are designed to withstand the abrasive nature of the environment with an increased turnover of cells. As the layer reaches the alveolar space type I and II pneumocytes predominate to facilitate gas exchange. The epithelial cells form a single monolayer as they are all in contact with the underlying basement membrane but are referred to as 'pseudo-stratified' as in cross section the nuclei are not aligned and thereby the cells appear to be on top of one another. They do not function in isolation but instead interact closely with the underlying mesenchymal tissue, including dendritic cells and fibroblasts to affect the overall function of the airways. This process is key to both homeostasis of the lung airway and repair through stimulation of the primary stem cells within the lung epithelium: basal cells (cartilaginous airways), club cells (cartilaginous airways and bronchioles) and ATII cells (alveoli).

1.2 The Role of the Respiratory Epithelium in Asthma and Inflammation

The respiratory epithelium performs a complex role in the maintenance and function of the respiratory system. With an estimated area of 100m² it provides the largest surface area in contact with the outside world (Holgate, 2007). With

each breath the airway is exposed to a variety of allergens and infectious agents. In view of this, it functions as a barrier, which incorporates physical, chemical and immunological actions (Lambrecht and Hammad, 2012, Davies, 2009, Tam et al., 2011). As such, the lung epithelium is in a central position to control immune homeostasis. Understanding of the immune system in the lungs has historically focused on leucocytes as both effectors and controllers. However an epithelialcentred approach provides an explanation for the lungs response to a diverse degree of stimuli including smoke, viruses and allergens (Hallstrand et al., 2014). This conclusion was first drawn following experiments that aimed to produce an asthma model (Boushey and Holtzman, 1985, Holtzman et al., 2014). The concept has developed as epithelial cells have been shown to have pattern recognition receptors that are designed to recognise foreign and potentially dangerous inhaled materials (Holgate et al., 2000, Lambrecht and Hammad, 2012). Asthma, as a disease entity, provides a paradigm of the growing evidence for the role of the epithelium in the inflammatory process. The term was originally used to describe patients with paroxysmal dyspnoea in 1860 by Henry Salter (Cohen, 1997). Our concept and treatment of asthma developed with an understanding of allergic pathways associated with atopy and the function of white blood cells and in particular eosinophils and more recently T lymphocytes in inflammation. However, despite our improved knowledge of the function of these cells in vitro and their responses, treatments have proved unsuccessful in controlling all aspects of the disease. This reflects its heterogeneous nature and the complex interaction that occurs in vivo between the individual and the environment which incorporates a variety of different cell types and has led to the introduction of the concept of the epithelial mesenchymal trophic unit (EMTU) (Holgate et al., 2000). This model places epithelial and mesenchymal cells in an important bidirectional role in the inflammatory response seen in asthma as these cells both trigger a response to a stimuli and respond to other cells that are activated by the provocation (figure 1.1).



Figure 1-1: The Epithelial-Mesenchymal Trophic Unit.

Demonstrating the interaction between immunological and inflammatory mechanisms and structural elements of the respiratory system, placing epithelial cells in a key position to control the response. Adapted from Holgate 2010 (Holgate, 2010).

Aside from their ability to provide the initial response and stimulus to a perceived threat in the airway, epithelial cells are also key to controlling access either into or out of the airway thereby regulating the reaction that can occur. To perform its barrier role, the epithelium forms a continuous and highly regulated gate through which there can only be controlled movement. Interestingly, in a chronic lung inflammatory state in patients with asthma there is disruption of this barrier. This process has long been shown in asthmatic patients at a broad structural level with the 'desquamation' of epithelial cells in post-mortem bronchoscopy specimens of patients dying as a result of their disease (Hogg, 1993). In life this disruption happens in a more subtle fashion through the interruption of stable links between cells with the loss of distinct junctional proteins (Holgate, 2007). This was demonstrated when cells taken from asthmatic patients and grown *in vitro*, for several passages, in the absence of other inflammatory mediators failed to form effective tight junctions with confocal staining demonstrating the reduction of the tight junction proteins Zonular Occludins-1 (ZO-1) and occludin (Holgate, 2007). Further work has supported this finding (Xiao *et al.*, 2011) and additionally showed that adherens junctions are altered via a reduction in E-cadherin in patients with asthma (Lambrecht and Hammad, 2012). These data highlight the impact that the link between individual epithelial cells, as provided by their junctions, may play in during inflammation. Our understanding of the role of specific junctional proteins, including Coxsackie and Adenoviral Receptor, in inflammation and particularly asthma is reviewed in the following sections.

The model also shifts our understanding of the overall structural impact of the epithelium on airway remodelling in asthma, as the characteristic increase in smooth muscle surrounding the airway wall and thickening of the basal lamina can be seen in the relative absence of airway inflammation (Baraldo *et al.*, 2011). This paradigm is instead dependent on abnormal wound healing driven by failure of the epithelial layer to regenerate appropriately leading to loss of its barrier integrity as a result of abnormal stem cell activation (Volckaert and De Langhe, 2014).

19

1.3 Epithelial Cell Junctions

The epithelium, as described, is composed of a single layer of epithelial cells. These cells are held in contact by a series of junctional complexes originally identified at an ultrastructural level in 1963 (Farquhar and Palade, 1963). They contain three different junctional structures (Figure 1-2). Adherens junctions form the initial cell to cell interaction through homotypic transmembrane adhesions. They are made up of two complexes; nectin-afadin complex and the classical cadherin-catenin complex, of which in the respiratory epithelium E-cadherin is the predominant cadherin present (Hallstrand *et al.*, 2014, Niessen, 2007). These junctions are dynamic in nature to provide the cell contacts as they link to the cells internal actin cytoskeleton and microtubules via p120 and cytoplasmic adaptor proteins α -catenin and β -catenin (Hallstrand *et al.*, 2014).

A second more apical link is formed by tight junctions (TJ's) whose primary function is to control the passage of solutes and immune cells between epithelial cells, either from the airway lumen into the interstitium or vice versa. These junctions are made up of a complex of transmembrane proteins that either homodimerise with proteins in adjacent cells or with alternative proteins on transmigrating cells. These proteins include members of the junctional adhesion molecule family (JAM's), claudins and occludins. They in turn link to ZO at the cell membrane to form a stable tight junction complex.

Finally desmosomes form a third interaction to resist mechanical stress and shearing forces on the epithelium. They consist of non-classical cadherins such as desmocollin and desmoglein which form strongly adhesive links between the filamentous cytoskeleton of epithelial cells and the lamina propria (Garrod and Chidgey, 2008).

20



Basement Membrane

Figure 1-2: Cell to cell adhesion in the airway epithelium.

Showing the three common connections made between epithelial cells. Tights junctions shown are formed from the interaction between transmembrane proteins, Junction Adhesion Molecules (JAM'S), claudins and occludin anchored to further proteins including the Zonular Occludins (ZO) and Partitioning defective (PAR) proteins. They function to control permeability between cells. Adherens junctions mechanically connect adjacent cells and initiate the formation and maturation of cell–cell contacts through homotypic adhesions of E-cadherin, which is stabilized in the membrane by binding to anchor proteins p120 catenin, β -catenin, and α -catenin, which form an interface with the cell's microtubule network and actin cytoskeleton. Desmosomes consist of non-classical cadherins and form adhesive bonds with the filament cytoskeleton of the cells. Adapted from Hallstrand et.al (Hallstrand *et al.*, 2014).

1.4 Tight Junctions

Tight junctions, as described, provide discrete contacts between adjacent cells that enable them to control paracellular permeability of water, solutes and cells as well as serving to define the apical and basolateral membrane compartments of polarised epithelial cells (Cohen *et al.*, 2001, Anderson and Van Itallie, 2009). This mechanism is vital in the normal physiological function of the airway epithelial layer as it is key to providing an interface between the external environment and the underlying tissue (Swindle *et al.*, 2009). Where this is disrupted there is uninhibited movement of anything from small molecules to cells. This process is bi-directional as immune cells can pass out into the lumen.

Tight junctions are formed by the interaction of multiple transmembrane receptors including occludin, claudins, tricellulin and the JAM family, of which Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor (CAR) is a member (figure 1.3) (Schulzke and Fromm, 2009). Tight junction associated adaptor proteins, such as the ZO family, link the membrane to the actin cytoskeleton. Together they work in complex to stabilise both endothelial and epithelial layers and to control passage of substances between cells (Hardyman *et al.*, 2013). They sit at the most apical point of the intracellular junctions and as such mark the boundary between the apical membrane of the cells and the basolateral component (Niessen, 2007). When formed they pull the two adjacent cell membranes very closely together to ensure there is almost no intracellular space through which solutes can pass uncontrolled. In addition to this barrier function, specific tight junctions components can play individual roles such as receptors, signalling molecules or regulators of absorption (Schulzke and Fromm, 2009).

The proteins that make up the tight junction can be modified in multiple ways to alter the function and structure of the junction. This includes steps to control the presence of the protein at the junction through regulation of gene expression, modification of mRNA or protein half-life, endocytosis and/or micropinocytosis and cleavage of tight junction proteins (Schulzke and Fromm, 2009). Alterations can also be made to the activity of the proteins when they are at the junctions via phosphorylation (Gonzalez-Mariscal *et al.*, 2008). The importance of phosphorylation of tight junction proteins was first advanced through its impact on ZO-1 which when phosphorylated was found be associated with a loss of trans-

22

epithelial resistance (Stevenson *et al.*, 1989). Our understanding of the relevance of these phosphorylation events is hampered by the fact that individual tight junction proteins can be phosphorylated at different sites by different kinases at the same time. One such family of kinases is the Protein kinase C (PKC) family which comprises 15 separate enzymes subdivided into three separate groups depending on their method of activation: (1) conventional (α , β 1, β 2 and γ) which are Ca²⁺ and diacylglycerol (DAG) dependent, (2) novel (δ , ε , θ , η and μ) which are DAG dependent and (3) atypical (λ , ξ and τ) which are both Ca²⁺ and DAG independent.

These kinases phosphorylate serine/threonine residues and have shown to be active at tight junctions following a number of diverse stimuli including oxidative stress (Perez et al., 2006), calcium wash out (Citi, 1992), vascular endothelial growth factor (Muto *et al.*, 2000) and cytokines (Tumour necrosis factor (TNF α) and Interferon γ) (Coyne *et al.*, 2002). Interestingly they have been shown to phosphorylate specific tight junction proteins causing a variety of disease states. For example when nPKC δ is blocked, occludin is no longer phosphorylated with a resultant loss of tight junction formation in MDCK cells (Andreeva et al., 2006). Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase (PI3K) is another kinase associated with tight junction protein phosphorylation. It works in sequence with Akt to drive serine/ threonine phosphorylation. Depending on the cell type and stimulus used its activity can lead to both an increase and a decrease in junction stability (Gonzalez-Mariscal et al., 2008). Therefore proteins in the tight junction are not in a passive state but instead can be controlled by the overall epithelial state.





Includes the transmembrane components comprising claudins, occludin, tricellulin and JAM's. Also shown are the intracellular anchoring proteins (ZO1/2, Membrane-associated guanylate kinase 1(MAGI), Multi-PDZ domain protein 1(MUPPI), Cingulin) necessary to provide a link to the actin cytoskeleton adapted from Niessen 2007 (Niessen, 2007).

1.5 Junction Adhesion Molecules

The Junction Adhesion Molecule (JAM) family make up part of the tight junction complex and are members of the larger immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily of adhesion receptors. They are part of the same immunoglobulin family due to their shared extracellular Ig-like domains: a membrane-distal V type Ig-domain and a membrane-proximal C2-type Ig-domain that allow for both homo and heterodimerisation *in trans* (Ebnet *et al.*, 2004). Within the family itself there is a degree of additional grouping based on their amino acid sequence. The JAM

family include a distinct group sometimes referred to as the 'classical' JAM proteins with an approximate 35% amino acid similarity containing JAM-A (Malergue *et al.*, 1998), JAM-B (Cunningham *et al.*, 2000, Palmeri *et al.*, 2000) and JAM-C (Arrate *et al.*, 2001). These three JAM family members are distinct as they contain a class II PDZ-binding motif at the C-terminus of their cytoplasmic tail (Ebnet *et al.*, 2004). Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor (CAR), CAR like membrane protein (CLMP), Endothelial Selective Adhesion Molecule (ESAM) and JAM-4 make up a separate subfamily as they have an alternative class I PDZ-binding domain at the C-terminus of their cytoplasmic tail. This difference leads to alternative intracellular binding proteins for the different family members which in turn results in their different intracellular functions. The different subfamilies also vary by the average length of their cytoplasmic tails (figure 1.4). The variation in the tail length with the resultant presence of different phosphorylation sites suggests that these differences are present in order to enable the protein to cause functional changes to the cells.



Figure 1-4: Members of the junction adhesion family of transmembrane proteins.

A – Showing different members of the JAM family and highlighting the variation in the cytoplasmic tail length. B – The phylogenic tree of for the JAM family (Ebnet *et al.*, 2004).

Importantly although they do subtly differ in their amino acid structure and sequence their extracellular domains are capable of interacting. Individual JAM family proteins can form dimers with each other at the cell membrane. JAM-A for example was originally shown to be orientated in a U-shaped *cis* dimer at the cell membrane of individual endothelial cells which can homodimerise *in trans* with JAM-A found at the cell membrane in adjacent cells (Kostrewa *et al.*, 2001). CAR is another member of the family to have been shown to homodimerise *in trans* at the cell membrane (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005) but interestingly it can also form heterodimers with other members of the JAM family, in particular JAM-L found on transmigrating leucocytes (Verdino *et al.*, 2010, Witherden *et al.*, 2010).

Significantly JAM-L expression is restricted to neutrophils, monocytes, and memory T cells (Luissint et al., 2008). At the cell membrane JAM-L interacts with VLA-4, where VLA-4 controls its dimerisation with CAR. VLA-4 is important in the transmigration of leukocytes through the endothelial layer. This interaction between CAR and JAM-L has an exceptional number of interdigitating salt bridges formed through the interaction of the domain 1 (D1) immunoglobulin components of both the CAR and JAM-L molecules which contributes binding energy but, more importantly, imparts high ligand specificity. CAR and JAM-L are not specific in their ability to form heterodimers as demonstrated in figure 1.5. Their specificity in forming heterodimers, therefore, places the JAM family in an important position to facilitate trans-epithelial migration (TEpM).



Figure 1-5: JAM family interactions.

The multiple interactions of JAMs. JAMs can form specific *cis*- or *trans*interactions with other JAM members (area marked as JAM interactions). All JAM members have been described as capable of forming or potentially forming homophilic *cis* and *trans* interactions (overlapping same colour). Heterophilic *cis*and *trans*- interactions can occur between specific members of the JAM family (interlaced colour) or *trans*-interactions with integrin partners (overlapping colour, area marked as integrin interactions) (Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1(LFA-1), Very Late Antigen-4 (VLA-4) Macrophage-1 antigen (Mac-1). The prerequisite of a JAM-B/JAM-C interaction before JAM-B can engage VLA-4 is represented by arrows showing the sequential steps.(Bradfield *et al.*, 2007)

Members of the JAM family are found in leucocytes, endothelial cells and epithelial cells (Luissint *et al.*, 2014). Given their association with endothelial cells and leucocytes extensive research has been undertaken showing their importance to vascular permeability through barrier control and leucocyte cell trafficking (Garrido-Urbani *et al.*, 2008, Bradfield *et al.*, 2007). Although present

on epithelial cells too their role in trans-epithelial migration (TEpM) has been less well studied.

1.6 Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor

Coxsackie and Adenovirus Receptor (CAR) is a 46 KDa transmembrane protein that in its predominant isoform, found at the cell membrane, is made up of 346 amino acids (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005). It acts as a receptor for Coxsackie and Adenoviruses in addition to playing a role in cell-cell adhesion.

CAR was initially identified as the primary docking protein for Coxsackie B viruses (CV1-CVB6) and members of the adenovirus family (subgroups A, C, D, E and F but not B) (Bergelson *et al.*, 1997, Tomko *et al.*, 1997). It has been extensively studied as adenoviruses have been evaluated as candidate vectors in gene therapy for conditions such as cystic fibrosis (Kremer and Perricaudet, 1995) and in the treatment of a variety of cancers (Bruning and Runnebaum, 2003). The adenovirus CAR binding site is the same used for extracellular D1-D1 homotopic interactions and for heterodimerisation with JAM-L suggesting a reason for the sites preservation and use by viruses(Schreiber *et al.*, 2014).

1.6.1 The Structure of CAR

Its structure comprises an extracellular domain, a transmembrane section and a cytoplasmic component (figure 1.6). As with other members of the JAM family, the extracellular domain is made up of two immunoglobulin components: a V-type Ig domain and a membrane-proximal C2-type Ig domain, referred to as D1 and D2 respectively and contains glycosylation and palmitoylation sites which are thought to be important in its function in Adenovirus infection (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005). The D1 component containing 118 amino acids has been expressed in bacteria and its crystalline structure forms a β -pleated sheet

sandwich fold that places it in the Ig family of membrane bound proteins (van Raaij *et al.*, 2000, Bewley *et al.*, 1999). Using Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy, the D2 component containing 98 amino acids has also been shown to form a β -pleated sheet sandwich in keeping with other members of the Ig superfamily but its sequence and structure does differ from other members with two β -sheets, one consisting of β -strands A, B and G and the other of β -strands C, E and G (Jiang and Caffrey, 2007).

There is also a single 23 amino acid trans-membrane domain which in the full length splice variant links to a 107 amino acid cytoplasmic domain (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005). There are splicing variants of the cytoplasmic tail that can result in an alteration in its structure and function. In human cells the gene responsible for CAR is found on chromosome 21q11.2 (Bowles et al., 1999). There have been several splice variants identified for the murine form of this gene, which can lead to alterations in the cytoplasmic tail (Chen et al., 2003). In Bergelson *et al's* initial description of human CAR, it is reported as a 7 exon gene (Bergelson et al., 1997). The same group identified a mouse version as an 8 exon gene (Bergelson et al., 1998). It has since been established that multiple isoforms of CAR exist with small variations of the 8 exons identified (Excoffon et al., 2010, Shaw et al., 2004, Raschperger et al., 2006, Gye et al., 2011). These isoforms are almost entirely identical but can have subtle physiological effects. For example; Excoffon et al showed that those forms that retain the terminal end of CAR's cytoplasmic tail and therefore have the PDZ binding component but are shortened by 13 amino acids in the 7 exon form compared to the 8 exon have a different membrane localisation. The exon 7 form is instead predominantly basolateral whereas the exon 8 form appears mainly apically (Excoffon et al., 2010) This alteration has been suggested as necessary for Coxsackie and

Adenoviruses infection of epithelial cells as the basolateral localisation of the originally identified exon 7 human form of CAR means that the receptor is hidden to a virus at the apical surface. However, across species the cytoplasmic tail is more extensively conserved than in other parts of the protein. For example, mice share 95% of the same amino acids on their cytoplasmic tail with the human version of CAR. The Zebrafish form of CAR is 44% identical to that found in human cells but this figure rises to 66% for the cytoplasmic tail suggesting that the tail plays an important physiological role thereby ensuring its evolutionary maintenance (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005).



Figure 1-6: Showing the four domains of CAR as a transmembrane protein (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005).

D1 and D2 are extracellular domains, followed by a transmembrane region and long cytoplasmic tail (c).

The intracellular section contains sites at which phosphorylation or palmitoylation can occur which suggests that it may play a physiological role in cell signalling and function (van't Hof and Crystal, 2002, Coyne and Bergelson, 2005). CAR truncation mutants have been used to show that the amino acids from 261 to 315 (which contain the tyrosine/threonine/serine phosphorylation sites in figure 1.7) are required to both enable calyculin-driven phosphorylation of CAR and activate p44/42 in response to homodimerisation (Morton *et al.*, 2013, Farmer *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore two serine/threonine (290/293) phosphorylation sites have been specifically identified and have been shown to influence CAR meditated endocytosis of E-cadherin (Morton *et al.*, 2013). In addition to this, the cytoplasmic tail contains one postulated tyrosine phosphorylation sites although to date this remains unvalidated (figure 1.7). There are also two membrane-proximal cysteines that can be subject to fatty acid acylation and a C-terminal hydrophobic peptide motif that interacts with PDZ-domain proteins (Tomko *et al.*, 1997, van't Hof and Crystal, 2002). This C-terminal hydrophobic peptide is important in CAR's function at the cell membrane as it enables it to bind to multiple other structural proteins including ZO-1, membrane-associated guanylate kinase 1b (MAGI-1b), protein interacting with protein C kinase (PICK1) and postsynaptic density 95 (PSD-95) which implies that it is present in multiple protein complexes (Excoffon *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 1-7: Possible sites for phosphorylation of the CAR cytoplasmic tail. Threonine -290 (TAR) and Serine – 293 (ARSYIG) sites have been shown to be phosphorylated previously (Morton *et al.*, 2013). The tyrosine 261 site (YEK) is a putative site for phosphorylation. Key: CD – cytoplasmic domain, TMD – Transmembrane domain, D1 & D2 – extracellular domains.

1.6.2 The expression of CAR in the body

CAR expression varies between organs. Challenges with the available antibodies has limited detailed tissue staining, although Tomoko *et al* have shown high CAR expression levels in the liver, intestines and lung of rats, along with scattered signalling in the pancreas and heart. Interestingly within the lung the staining was seen in the epithelium of the trachea and bronchi but not alveoli (Tomko *et al.*, 2000). Other work using Ribonucleic acid (RNA) blot analysis in humans suggests the highest expression levels are found in the heart, pancreas, brain, testis and prostate (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005, Bergelson *et al.*, 1998). In these organs in mice, Raschperger *et al.* showed that CAR was only localised to epithelial layers (Raschperger *et al.*, 2006). However, in human skin derived cultured lymphatic endothelial cells, CAR expression is seen and is suggested to play a role in maintaining lymphatic vessel integrity (Vigl *et al.*, 2009). These expression levels change during embryonic development with high levels

particularly present in the central nervous system and heart (Ito *et al.*, 2000, Hotta *et al.*, 2003). The embryonic expression in the developing heart has been shown to be particularly important by Chen *et al* where CAR deletion leads to mouse embryo death as a result of cardiac defects (Chen *et al.*, 2006, Dorner *et al.*, 2005).

In other tissue types CAR expression has been reported to be low or absent, including in healthy adult skeletal muscle (Fechner *et al.*, 2003), primary human fibroblasts (Hidaka *et al.*, 1999) and most peripheral blood cells (Huang *et al.*, 1997), 1997) thereby ensuring they are difficult to transfect using adenoviral vectors.

Expression levels are also altered in response to different conditions as well as being tissue specific. In response to inflammatory conditions in the presence of TNF α and Interferon (INF) γ CAR expression levels are downgraded at the cell surface after 24 hours and to a greater degree at 48 hours in vascular endothelial cells (Vincent *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly this response was not reproduced in either human bronchial epithelial cells or A549 cell line once again highlighting the varying response of CAR in different tissue and cell types.

1.6.3 CAR in tight junctions

The cellular role of CAR in the dynamic control and regulation of epithelial cell junction formation and stability has only been recently investigated (Cohen *et al.*, 2001, Honda *et al.*, 2000). It importantly plays this role at cell-cell junctions through homodimerisation *in trans* with the extracellular D1 domain of other CAR proteins in adjacent cells (figure 1.7). This is supported by the structural analysis of CAR D1 domain. The D1 component of CAR is able to form homodimers in the crystal lattice but also in solution, with a measured dissociation constant of 16 µM

(van Raaij *et al.*, 2000) consistent with those measured for other cell adhesion complexes (van der Merwe and Barclay, 1994, van der Merwe *et al.*, 1994).

Disruption of this extracellular interaction has been extensively explored in relation to adenovirus binding (Santis *et al.*, 1999, Kirby *et al.*, 2000, Walters *et al.*, 2002). Notably this work has shown that the adenovirus type 5 fibre knob domain binds to CAR with much higher affinity than CAR binds to itself (Lortat-Jacob *et al.*, 2001). This process therefore leads to loss of CAR homodimerisation at tight junctions. However, whether this homodimerisation is necessary for the intracellular functions of CAR via its cytoplasmic tail has not been established.

Where CAR is disrupted in its role as a tight junction protein by the addition of its soluble extracellular domain (CAR-ECD) to cell media, the trans-epithelial resistance is reduced and the rate of FITC-dextran passage increased (Cohen et al., 2001). These effects are organ specific, though, with loss of CAR at tight junctions leading to increased permeability in the heart but not in the gut of mice. (Pazirandeh et al., 2011) Aside from its direct role in tight junctions, CAR expression also effects adherens junction regulation. E-Cadherin levels, which play an integral role in respiratory epithelial cells, are reduced at these junctions in the presence of high levels of CAR (Morton et al., 2013). This event has been suggested as cause of the increased level of tumour activity seen with CAR positive tumours (Luissint et al., 2014). The explanation for this is that E-Cadherin associates with the transcription factor β -catenin. This means that when E-Cadherin is replaced at junctions β -catenin is free to translocate to the nucleus resulting in increased cell proliferation. This is supported by evidence from CAR knockdown cancer models where α -catenin is downregulated (Stecker et al., 2009). Its significance in tumourgenesis is, however, not universal as *in vivo* data 35
has proved contradictory. In the lungs a study of 120 lung cancer patients found that both by real time-PCR(RT-PCR) and western blot analysis the expression levels of CAR were higher in tumour cells and more specifically in patients with a squamous cell carcinoma their CAR expression levels equated to the tumour grade (Chen et al., 2013). This was supported by another study of multiple different tumour types that suggested CAR expression was raised in malignancy (Reeh et al., 2013). In other primary tumours and tumour cell lines, CAR expression has instead been seen to inversely correlate with the rate of cell proliferation, suggesting that CAR may act as a tumour suppressor (Fuxe et al., 2003, Okegawa et al., 2000). Induced expression of CAR has been shown to inhibit tumour cell growth in human prostate cancer (Okegawa et al., 2000, Rauen et al., 2002), bladder cancer (Li et al., 1999) and glioma cell lines (Kim et al., 2003), indicating CAR tumour inhibitory properties. Other reports also showed that absent or reduced expression of CAR is associated with a higher tumour grade in human prostate and bladder cancer patients, while healthy tissues express easily detectable CAR (Okegawa et al., 2001, Rauen et al., 2002). These earlier papers concentrated on CAR in the context of determining the success of possible gene therapy delivered by adenoviruses. This difference is reflected in the fact that they predominantly used cell lines rather than tissue samples which may explain the different clinical picture seen in later studies. Interestingly though, a possible explanation for CAR acting as a tumour suppressor is that the palmitoylation motif localised on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR appears to be essential for tumour-inhibitory activity and cell cycle regulation possibly via the downstream activation of p21 (Okegawa et al., 2001). This again highlights the possible importance of the cytoplasmic tail in the function of CAR. As previously discussed the serine/threonine phosphorylation status of the CAR cytoplasmic tail effects the localisation of E-Cadherin to the cell membrane (Morton *et al.*, 2013). Importantly E-Cadherin at the cell membrane has been found to be diminished in patients in the chronic inflammatory condition, asthma, suggesting a possible interaction between tight junctions and adherens junctions in long term inflammatory states (de Boer *et al.*, 2008).

1.6.4 CAR in Inflammation

The role of CAR during inflammation is yet to be defined with conflicting data suggesting that its response is dependent on cell and tissue type. In rat cardiomyocyte cells expression is upregulated in chronic autoimmune inflammatory conditions using an experimental model based on the presence of porcine myosin (Ito *et al.*, 2000). However, in the presence of a combination of cytokines including TNF and INF there was a reduction in CAR expression in human umbilical endothelial cells (Vincent *et al.*, 2004). Interestingly this group did not show the same effect in a respiratory epithelial cell line. Therefore the presence of CAR during inflammation depends on a number of factors including both the source of the stimulus and the type cells being affected.

A mechanism for the role of CAR in this immune reaction has been suggested through more recent work that addressed CAR's interaction with other members of the JAM family (Verdino and Wilson, 2011, Witherden et al., 2010, Zen et al., 2005). As described previously CAR has a similar structure to other proteins in the JAM family and their extracellular components can heterodimerise. Some members of the family including JAM-A is also found on leucocytes as well as endothelial and epithelial cells. JAM-A disruption in leucocytes leads to a reduction in leucocyte trans-endothelial migration due to loss of homodimerisation with JAM-A found on epithelial cells (Martin-Padura et al., 1998). The more recent work by Verdino et. al. and Witherden et. al. showed that

CAR on the skin epithelial cell membrane binds to JAM-L on $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Witherden *et al.*, 2010, Verdino *et al.*, 2010) and Zen *et al.* have shown that the same binding occurs between CAR on gut epithelial cells with JAM-L on neutrophils (Zen *et al.*, 2005). This is important as these neutrophils and T cells play a key role in host immunity as they are found in the gut and skin, where they protect against environmental insults such infection, trauma and malignancy. Where this interaction between CAR and JAM-L is disrupted skin healing is slowed (Witherden *et al.*, 2010). Therefore JAM-L, with its ligand CAR, can been seen as a co-stimulatory receptor for $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Verdino and Wilson, 2011) which places CAR in the position to modulate the immune response.

Although as yet not fully understood, this complex interaction between epithelial cells and leucocytes can lead to disease and also therefore open the possibility for pathogenic modification.

1.7 Leucocytes and Trans-epithelial Migration (TEpM)

The fundamental function of the inflammatory process in response to infection or an allergen is the elimination and removal of the offending agent. For this to occur, the immune system needs to ensure its effector cells are able to reach the correct site. In the case of the lungs this is a multi-step process that requires the leucocytes to leave the vascular system by crossing the endothelial barrier, then move through the tissue in an appropriately targeted fashion, and finally cross through the epithelial barrier into the airway (Liu *et al.*, 2004b, Garrido-Urbani *et al.*, 2008, Klesney-Tait *et al.*, 2013). As outlined in the previous section, CAR has been shown to play role in this process through its binding to proteins on transmigrating leucocytes. There is evidence that CAR is firstly required in the movement of immune cells across the endothelium and into the interstitium. At the cell membrane JAM-L is known to immunoprecipitate with VLA-4 and this interaction is required for its dimerisation with CAR (Luissint et al., 2008). VLA-4 is also known to be important in the transmigration of leukocytes through the endothelial layer via its interaction with VCAM-1 thereby incorporating these molecules in a larger complex required for the transmigration process. This study does not focus on the process of transendothelial migration and the role of CAR in this but it does suggest that at the broader significance of any treatment directed at the CAR protein. By inhibiting CAR function at tight junctions immune cells would firstly by prevented from leaving the interstitium into the airway lumen but they would also be prevented from leaving the vasculature thereby preventing the a prolonged and protracted inflammatory response.

The process of TEpM requires a specific sequence of events to occur that is distinct although similar to trans-endothelial transmigration. The process is firstly different as the leucocytes approach the epithelial barrier from the basal surface which exposes them to a different selection of adhesion molecules than on the apical endothelial surface. Secondly, the leucocytes themselves have been given an extended period of priming by their passage through the endothelial barrier and the surrounding tissue, during which they will be exposed to both chemokines and cytokines thereby altering their state of activation. Finally the actual distance they need to travel when crossing the epithelial barrier is significantly larger than the endothelium. There is a minimum 20µm additional distance to traverse with the resultant need for greater interaction between the leucocyte and epithelial cell.

The first step in TEpM requires the adhesion of leucocytes to the basal membrane of the epithelial cell. In neutrophils this adhesion step is critically controlled by $\beta 2$ integrins and in particular CD11b/CD18 on the neutrophil (Zemans et al., 2009, Parkos et al., 1991). This adhesion step has most extensively been studied in intestinal epithelial models but has also been shown to occur in the respiratory epithelium (Celi et al., 1999, Jagels et al., 1999). This effect has been confirmed through antibody blocking experiments whereby competitive blocking of CD11B/CD18 leads to loss of neutrophil transmigration (Parkos et al., 1991). Furthermore the binding action is stimulated by the presence of TNF α highlighting the importance of the interplay between cytokines and junctional proteins in leucocyte transmigration (Miyata et al., 1999). Specifically in the lungs the β 1 integrin (CD29) also appears to act as an adhesion molecule as the presence of CD29 blocking antibodies in lipopolysaccharide (LPS) induced inflammatory conditions led to a reduction in the accumulation in neutrophils in the mouse airway (Ridger et al., 2001). The corresponding binding component on the epithelial cell does differ from that on endothelial cells. Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1 (ICAM-1) has been extensively studied as a possible binding target. It is well known to be required for trans-endothelial migration (Zemans et al., 2009) and has been shown to be upregulated during inflammation in a variety of epithelial cells including alveolar. bronchial and tracheal (Burns et al., 1994, Look et al., 1992, Tosi et al., 1992). However, ICAM-1 is only found on the apical surface of epithelial cells and is therefore only in a position to act as a binding partner following TEpM when the cells are anchored to the epithelial surface, thereby explaining the failure of ICAM-1 antibody to block a rise in leucocyte counts following a stimulus (Zemans et al., 2009). Members of the JAM family provide an alternative ligand on epithelial cells. Both JAM-A and JAM-C are ligands to β2 integrins but only JAM-C has been shown to be required for TEpM through its interaction with CD11b/CD18 (Zen *et al.*, 2004).

Once the leucocyte is firmly adhered to the surface of the epithelial cell it must then pass across the epithelial barrier. Unlike in the endothelium this process cannot occur in a trans-cellular fashion but instead is purely via a para-cellular route (Zemans et al., 2009). In the lungs this happens preferentially at tri-cellular junctions between two type I alveolar cells and one type II alveolar cell as the adhesional complex is already disrupted at these sites (Burns et al., 2003). CD47 plays a key role in this paracellular migration as pre-incubation with blocking antibodies leads to a build-up of leucocytes at the apical surface as although they are able to adhere to the cells they do not move further (Parkos et al., 1996). CD47 appears to control this function through both its activation of tyrosine kinases and its interaction with Signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) This in turn activates the phosphatases Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase-1 & 2 (SHP-1&2) which are postulated to alter the epithelial cell architecture (Liu et al., 2001, Liu et al., 2004a). As outlined previously CAR at the epithelial cell membrane can also dimerise with JAM-L on leucocytes, and a loss or inhibition of this results in a loss of TEpM (Zen et al., 2005, Verdino and Wilson, 2011, Witherden *et al.*, 2010).

Finally once the leucocyte has crossed the epithelium it can adhere to the epithelial surface despite physical factors such as coughing or pulmonary oedema. In so doing the leucocytes are able to remain in place to deal with the original inflammatory stimulus. This occurs through multiple binding partners including ICAM-1 with CD11B/CD18 and the Fc receptors on the leucocyte

binding to antibodies which are in turn bound to the ligands on the epithelial cell surface (Huang *et al.*, 1996, Halstensen *et al.*, 1990).



Figure 1-8: Leucocyte migration across an epithelial barrier into the lumen. TEpM occurs in 4 steps: 1) Leucocytes adhere to the basolateral side of the epithelium. 2) Trans-epithelial migration occurs along the basolateral membrane through interaction with adhesion molecules such as JAMs and CD47. 3) Leucocytes reach the apical side of the epithelium and are retained at the surface of epithelial cells by ICAM-1–Mac-1 and Ig–FcR (Fc receptor) interactions. 4) Finally neutrophils can get access to pathogens and to mediate an effective immune response. (Garrido-Urbani *et al.*, 2008, Zemans *et al.*, 2009).

A summary of the TEpM process is shown in figure 1.8 highlighting the three steps of adhesion, migration and post-migrational adhesion that happen. As described this is a tightly controlled process that ensures the epithelial barrier is maintained to prevent the movement of unwanted substances during the leucocytes passage. This includes the release of adenosine by transmigrating leucocytes to aid the reformation of tight junctions (Zemans *et al.*, 2009, Lawrence *et al.*, 2002). In pathogenic states, where there is a significant movement of cells, TEpM and the influx of leucocytes can lead to damage to the epithelial barrier. This can occur in several ways including direct physical damage

due to mechanical force resulting in epithelial wounds as well through the sustained release of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines by the leucocytes.

1.8 Cytokine driven cell signalling

The impact of cytokines on cell function is wide-ranging and reflects their ability to alter multiple cellular processes. One way of particular relevance by which they control the inflammatory response is through their effect on tight junctions. Interferon (INF) y was the first cytokine shown to drive inflammation through its impact on tight junctions by causing an increase in tight junction permeability (Madara and Stafford, 1989). Since then multiple other cytokines have been implicated in both junctional disruption and stability including TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-13 and IL10 (AI-Sadi et al., 2009). In particular in the intestine it has been shown that both in-vitro and *in vivo* cytokine derived barrier disruption of the epithelium leads to inflammation (Al-Sadi et al., 2009). Importantly this cytokine driven junction disruption can be blocked in vivo with the resultant loss of inflammation demonstrating a direct causal link for junctional disruption leading to inflammation (Schwarz et al., 2007). These findings though are not specific to the intestinal epithelium. For example in the lungs of asthmatic patients IL4 and IL-13 have also been indicated in causing epithelial disruption suggesting they play a role in propagating the chronic inflammation seen (Ahdieh et al., 2001). TNF α is another cytokine that has been shown to affect the tight junctions of a wide variety of cell types including the epithelial cells of the kidney, gut and lung as well as endothelial cells from the lung (Al-Sadi et al., 2009, Mullin et al., 1992, Marano et al., 1998, McKenzie and Ridley, 2007). Its effect on the junctions includes stimulating the internalisation of junctional proteins, JAM-A, occludin and claudins (McKenzie and Ridley, 2007, Ivanov *et al.*, 2005) but TNF α exemplifies the multiple pathways cytokines can activate to drive inflammation and therefore alternative pathways may also play a role in its impact on permeability.

1.8.1 Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α)

TNF is of specific interest given its established pleotropic role in the inflammatory response which can be both appropriate to ensure protection against infection (Waters *et al.*, 2013) and also lead to a variety of unwanted effects at the epithelium in diseases such as in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, asthma and inflammatory bowel disease (Baert and Rutgeerts, 1999, Berry *et al.*, 2007, Holgate, 2010, Murdaca *et al.*, 2009). This is of particular relevance in the respiratory epithelium as it has been shown in those patients with severe steroid resistant asthma that their airway hyper-responsiveness can be controlled through TNF α inhibition with etanercept (Holgate, 2010, Morjaria *et al.*, 2008, Howarth *et al.*, 2005, Berry *et al.*, 2006). Although in a larger study the efficacy of anti-TNF α treatment was limited by its adverse effects profile (increased rates of infection and cancer), analysis did show that airway flow rates and inflammation did respond in a dose dependent fashion further supporting a role for TNF in inflammatory lung disease (Wenzel *et al.*, 2009).

TNF α belongs to the large TNF superfamily which includes at least 19 different ligands. It is a pleotropic cytokine and as such acts upon almost all differentiated cells to trigger a wide range of biological responses including cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis along with lymphocyte and leucocyte activation and migration, as well as more systemic effects such as fevers and the acute phase response (Waters *et al.*, 2013). TNF α is mainly produced by macrophages, monocytes and to a lesser extent B-cells, Natural Killer (NK) - cells, Kupffer and glial cells. It is either found as a membrane bound 34 KDa type II transmembrane

protein or following cleavage by the metalloproteinase enzyme, TNF α converting enzyme, to a 17 KDa soluble protein. Both these two forms of TNF α bind as a trimer to two distinct receptors, TNF receptor 1 and 2 (TNFR1 and TNFR2). These receptors have been shown to play a role in both infection and inflammation. Firstly they are required for successful S. aureus infection through their binding with protein A released by the bacteria (Gomez *et al.*, 2004, Gomez et al., 2006). TNFR1 in particular has also been shown to play a role in the loss of intestinal epithelial barrier function that occurs with total parenteral nutrition through its upregulation (Feng and Teitelbaum, 2013). When TNF α binds to its receptors they undergo trimerisation to activate multiple different signalling proteins including TNF-receptor associated factor 2 (TRAF2), receptor interactin protein 1 (RIP1) and fas-associated death domain protein (FADD). TRAF2 activates the MAPK pathway, while RIP1 activates the nuclear factor kappa beta $(NF-\kappa B)$, which in turn translocates to the nucleus, binds DNA and induces or represses gene expression (Baud and Karin, 2001, Waters et al., 2013). Another process induced by TNF α is apoptosis and this is mainly mediated through FADD. NF- κ B can inhibit apoptosis through induction of cellular inhibitors of apoptosis (cIAPs) (Baud and Karin, 2001). In Caco-2 epithelial cells TNF α induces activation of NF-KB pathways which lead to cytoplasmic-to-nuclear translocation of NF- κ B, increased NF- κ B binding to the DNA binding site, downregulation of ZO-1 protein expression, disturbance in junctional localisation of ZO-1 protein and functional opening of the TJ carrier (Ma et al., 2004).

Significantly TNF α has been shown to play a role in the stability and function of tight junctions in both endothelial and epithelial cells through its ability to control the function the proteins present in tight junction (Baert and Rutgeerts, 1999,

Fischer et al., 2013, Feng and Teitelbaum, 2013). Interestingly the presence of TNF α has also been shown to stimulate neutrophil infiltration of both endothelial and epithelial layers (Woodfin et al., 2009, Finsterbusch et al., 2014). Studies have furthermore indicated that the presence of TNF leads to the redistribution of JAM proteins in endothelial cells so that they are present at the apical surface of endothelial cells in order that they are in a position to facilitate leucocyte transmigration (Ozaki et al., 1999, Ostermann et al., 2002). Therefore TNF is altering tight junction composition in such a way as to ensure effective leucocyte movement. Pertinently for this study a TNF mediated increase in barrier permeability has been shown to be associated with a loss of epithelial junctional proteins including E-Cadherin and P-120 (Hardyman et al., 2013). This was also correlated with *in vivo* biopsy results that showed an equivalent loss of these junctional proteins and an increased number of neutrophils in the airways of asthmatic patients compared to healthy human subjects suggesting that it can play a role in epithelial junction disruption in disease and that this could lead to leucocyte TEpM in the lung (Hardyman et al., 2013).

Therefore TNF has been shown to affect both tight junction protein structure and function as well as drive leucocyte TEpM. Given the role CAR plays in tight junctions and leucocyte activity there is consequently the suggestion that the two are in a position to interact to control the inflammatory response through control of TEpM.

1.9 Aims and hypothesis of this study

CAR is a member of the tight junction complex and is known to act as a binding partner to facilitate the TEpM of leucocytes. However, it is currently unknown as to whether CAR plays active or passive role in this process and if so how this might occur. We hypothesise that epithelially-expressed CAR is responsive to inflammatory cytokines, potentially through phosphorylation of CAR, and this controls the rate of passage of leucocytes across the lung epithelium.

In order to test this hypothesis, the aims of this study are to:

- 1. Determine whether sites on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR are phosphorylated in response to cytokine stimulus.
- Identify possible signalling pathways that may control any phosphorylation effect.
- 3. Determine whether the phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR alters its interaction with leucocytes facilitating their transmigration.

2 Methods and Materials

2.1 Cell Lines

Human bronchial epithelial cells (HBEC) were originally from a 65 year old female with no evidence of cancer. They were immortalised by over expression of the cell cycle protein cdk4 which abrogates the p16/Rb cell cycle check point pathway and the catalytic subunit of the telomerase enzyme (human telomerase reverse transcriptase, hTERT) to bypass replicative senescence (Sato *et al.*, 2006). They were kindly donated to us by Dr Jerry Shay from the University of Texas, Southwestern Medical Centre.

The human acute monocytic leukaemia cell line (THP-1) cells were a gift from Prof Gareth Jones at King's College London. They were originally purchased from American Type culture Collection (Rockville, MD). They are derived from a one year old male with leukaemia but have no identified chromosomal abnormality and can if required be stimulated to form mature macrophages.

2.2 Cell culture

HBEC (Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells) were maintained in Keratinocyte-SFM (K-SFM) Medium with L-Glutamine (Invitrogen) supplemented with Human recombinant Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF 1-53), Bovine Pituitary Extract (BPE) penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen)). The media was supplied in 500ml bottles to which the supplied aliquots of EGF 1-53 and BPE were added along with 5mls of the penicillin solution.

Flasks and plates were coated with a sufficient volume to cover the whole surface of the plastic (for example 3mls for a T25 flask) with 10% type I bovine collagen (BD biosciences) for 1 hour prior to sub-culturing. Following 1 hour the collagen coating was removed to be reused and the surface rinsed with Phosphate-Buffered Saline (PBS) to remove any excess.

Cells were passaged by washing with warm PBS before being incubated with Trypsin/EDTA 5mM (Invitrogen) at 37°C until they detached (approximately 5 minutes depending on the confluency on the flask). Cells were re-suspended in warmed fresh growth media before centrifugation at 200G for 5 minutes. Cells were grown in 25cm² tissue culture flasks with a filter cap (Greiner Bio-One CELLSTAR®) at 37°C in a humidified incubator with an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. They were split at 75-80% confluence.

THP-1 cells were maintained in RPMI-1640 medium (GIBCO) supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat inactivated foetal bovine serum(FBS) and 0.05mM of β -mercaptoethanol. The cells were kept in suspension culture in complete growth media in 75cm² or 175cm² tissue culture flasks with a filter cap (Greiner Bio-One CELLSTAR®) at 37°C in a humidified incubator with an atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. Cells were kept at 40-50% confluence and split at 80-90%.

2.3 Antibodies

Antibody Name	Species	Source	Use	Optimal	Concentra	
				dilution	tion	
Anti-CAR H300	Rabbit	Santa Cruz	WB/	1:100	200ug/ml	
			IHC			
Anti-CAR (clone	Mouse	Milipore	WB/	1:500	1mg/ml	
RmcB)			IHC			

 Table 1. Table of antibodies used during the project. WB: Western Blot, IHC:

 immunohistochemistry. IP: Immunoprecipitation.

p-thr290/ser293CAR	Rabbit	Perbioscience	WB	1:250	
polyclonal antibody		(Thermofisher)	IHC	1:50	
p-tyr263CAR	Rabbit	Perbioscience	WB	1:250	
polyclonal antibody		(Thermofisher)			
Anti-E-Cadherin	Mouse	Abcam	IHC	1:100	Data not
[HECD-1]					provided
					by supplier
Anti-E-Cadherin	Mouse	Abcam	IHC	1:100	1mg/ml
(MB2)					
TNFR1 antibody	Mouse	R&D	IHC	1:200	1µg/ml
(MAB225)			Bloc	10µg/ml	
			king		
			King		
р38 МАРК	Rabbit	Cell Signalling	WB	1:1000	Data not
					provided
					by supplier
Р-р38 МАРК	Rabbit	Cell Signalling	WB	1:1000	Data not
(Thr180/Tyr 182)					provided
					by supplier
	Dabbit			1:1000	Data nat
ρ44/4ΖΙΝΙΑΡΚ	Radolt		WB	1.1000	Data not
(ERK1/2)					provided
					by supplier
P-p44/42MAPK	Rabbit	Cell signalling	WB	1:1000	Data not
		1	1		

(ERK1/2)(Thr202/Tyr					provided
204)					by supplier
AKT (#9272)	Rabbit	Cell signalling	WB	1:1000	Data not
					provided
					by supplier
P-AKT (Ser473)	Rabbit	Cell signalling	WB	1:1000	Data not
					provided
					by supplier
GAPDH [6C5]	Mouse	GeneTex	WB	1:25000	12.8mg/ml
HSC-70	Mouse	Santa Cruz	WB	1:3000	200µg/ml
NF-Kb p65 (D14E12)	Rabbit	Cell Signalling	IHC	1:400	20ng/ml
Phospho-PKCδ/θ	Rabbit	Cell Signalling	WB	1:1000	10ng/ml
(SER643/676)					
PKC δ (SC-937)	Rabbit	Santa Cruz	IHC	1:200	5ng/ml
Anti-CLMP	Rabbit	Atlas	WB	1:200	0.1mg/ml
Anti-AMICA1 (JAM-	Rabbit	Sigma	WB	1:500	0.2mg/ml
L)					
Anti-GFP	Rabbit	MBL	IP	3µL/sa	
				mple	
anti-phospho-serine	Rabbit	Cell signalling	WB	1:1000	0.25mg/ml
anti-phospho-	Rabbit	Cell signalling	WB	1:1000	0.25mg/ml

threonine					
anti-phospho-	Mouse	Cell signalling	WB	1:1000	0.25mg/ml
tyrosine (p-100Tyr)					
Alexa Fluor [®] 568	Mouse	Invitrogen	IHC	1:400	1.4mg/ml
goat anti-mouse IgG					
Alexa Fluor [®] 488	Mouse	Invitrogen	IHC	1:400	1.4mg/ml
goat anti-mouse IgG					
Alexa Fluor [®] 568	Rabbit	Invitrogen	IHC	1:400	1.4mg/ml
goat anti-rabbit IgG					
Goat anti-mouse	Mouse	Santa Cruz	WB	1:2000	400µg/ml
lgG-HRP					
Goat anti-rabbit IgG-	Rabbit	Santa Cruz	WB	1:2000	400µg/ml
HRP					
Alexa Fluor [®] 633		Invitrogen	IHC	1:100	Data not
phalloidin					provided
					by supplier
		1			1

2.4 Cytokines

TNF α was produced in yeast and supplied by Sigma (10ng/ml). Interferon γ was produced in E.coli and supplied by Sigma (used at 5ng/ml). Recombinant Human IL-13 (3.5ng/ml), IL-5 (2.5ng/ml), IL-1 β (2.5ng/ml), IL-17 (3.125ng/ml) were all produced in E.coli and supplied by R&D systems.

2.5 Antibody production and ELISA assays

The polyclonal antibodies to the specific phosphorylation sites on the CAR cytoplasmic tail were produced by Perbioscience on behalf of Thermofisher. Two rabbits were inoculated against the peptide sequence Ac-RTS(pT)AR(pS)YIGSNH-C in order to generate an antibody against the serine/threonine site on the tail. Two further rabbits were inoculated against with the peptide sequence EEK(pY)EKEV-C in order to create the tyrosine site antibody.

The rabbits were then bled at days 28, 56 and 72 following inoculation. ELISA assays were then performed to determine whether antibodies were generated against the peptide sequence identified as indicating phosphorylation at each site. This technique was used as it would show whether an antibody had been generated capable of specific binding to the protein sequence of interest as only this would remain fixed to the protein during the washing steps.

The ELISA assays were performed with a capture antibody coated onto wells of a microplate. The peptide sequence for the phosphorylation sites were then added to the wells and allowed to bind to the capture antibody for 2 hours at room temperature. These wells were then aspirated and washed 4 times with a TBS wash buffer to remove any unbound protein. Either the rabbit sera from the inoculated animals or negative control rabbit sera was then added to each well and incubated at room temperature for one hour in order to allow any antibody to the specific phosphorylation site to bind. The sera were then aspirated away and the wells again washed three times with a TBS buffer to clear any unbound material away. Diluted HRP conjugate was then added to each well and the plate covered and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The wells were then

again thoroughly aspirated to remove the solution from each well and the liquid discarded, followed by a further 4 washes. A chromogenic substrate could then be added to each well and the plate was allowed to develop in the dark for 30 minutes before a 0.16 M sulphuric acid stop solution was added to each well. The plate was then evaluated using an optical plate reader within 30 minutes to evaluate the titre values for each bleed in comparison to the control samples.

The tables below show the crude data of the different bleed days for the 4 animals.

Animal Number	Date	Day	Titer	Titer Type	Description
PA5829	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5829	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Control
PA5829	10/10/2012	28	12800	CrudeSera	Control
PA5829	10/10/2012	28	51200	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5829	11/07/2012	56	51200	CrudeSera	Control
PA5829	11/07/2012	56	102400	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5829	11/23/12	72	1600	CrudeSera	Control
PA5829	11/23/12	72	51200	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5830	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5830	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Control
PA5830	10/10/2012	28	6400	CrudeSera	Control
PA5830	10/10/2012	28	51200	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5830	11/07/2012	56	12800	CrudeSera	Control
PA5830	11/07/2012	56	204800	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5830	11/23/12	72	3200	CrudeSera	Control
PA5830	11/23/12	72	102400	CrudeSera	Treatment

 Table 2: CAR p-ser293/thr290 antibody data

Animal Number	Date	Day	Titer	Titer Type	Description
PA5831	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5831	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Control
PA5831	10/10/2012	28	12800	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5831	10/10/2012	28	25600	CrudeSera	Control
PA5831	11/07/2012	56	51200	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5831	11/07/2012	56	51200	CrudeSera	Control
PA5831	11/23/12	72	6400	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5831	11/23/12	72	6400	CrudeSera	Control
PA5832	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5832	09/12/2012	0	50	CrudeSera	Control
PA5832	10/10/2012	28	25600	CrudeSera	Control
PA5832	10/10/2012	28	25600	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5832	11/07/2012	56	102400	CrudeSera	Control
PA5832	11/07/2012	56	102400	CrudeSera	Treatment
PA5832	11/23/12	72	12800	CrudeSera	Control
PA5832	11/23/12	72	25600	CrudeSera	Treatment

Table 3: CAR p-tyr269 antibody data

2.6 PKCδ silencing

In order to determine the role played by PKC δ in the phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR its synthesis was inhibited using a small interfering RNA. This siRNA binds to the messenger RNA responsible for the production of PKC δ causing its degradation and therefore limiting the protein synthesis.

To do this 10 μ L of 5 μ M PKC δ siRNA targeting the GGGACACUAUAUUCCAGAAtt sequence (Ambion s11099) was added to 90 μ L Opti-MEM® and 5 μ L of DharmaFECT reagent was added to 95 μ L of Opti-

MEM® and left for 5 minutes at room temperature. The DharmaFECT was used as a lipid based reagent that aided the siRNA's passage across the cell membrane and into the cell.

The two were then combined together and left for 20 minutes at room temperature. Then a further 800 µL of Opti-MEM® was added to the mixture and replaced the media covering HBEC which had been grown to a 50% confluence in 6 well plates and then incubated at 37 °C in 5% CO2. The media covering the control cells was replaced with Opti-MEM®. The Opti-MEM® +/- siRNA was replaced with HBEC media after 6 hours and the cells were grown for a further 48 hours.

2.7 Immunoblotting

These experiments were performed to determine the activity of specific proteins in response to different stimuli. This was predominantly focused on determining whether the cytoplasmic tail was being phosphorylated in the presence of certain cytokines. To do so cells were stimulated and then lysed with the aim of preserving the phosphorylation state of any protein.

HBEC were seeded in 6 well plates and grown to confluency in normal growth media. One hour pre-treatment media was replaced with 2mls of warm (37 °C) serum free media (Opti-MEM®) before the addition of treatments as indicated in the results section. Samples were then lysed in 300ul hot sample buffer (at 95°C) containing β -mercaptoethanol to break disulphide bonds and open protein structures. The sample buffer was composed of Tris Cl, (pH 6.8, 60mM) to act as a buffer, Glycerol, (25%) to increase the density of the solution to ensure it settled into each well for SDS-PAGE, SDS (25%) to disrupt covalent bonds thereby inactivating enzymes as well as providing a negative charge, along with

bromophenol blue to aid visualisation. Lysates were immediately scrapped from their plates and heated at 95°C for 10 minutes before being subjected to SDS-PAGE.

The separation of different proteins by molecular weight and charge was performed via electrophoresis using the Laemmli SDS-PAGE method with a 10% polyacrylamide gel for all CAR protein experiments and 4% stacking gel. Between 10 and 20 µl of the samples were added to each well depending on the volume of cassette used for each experiment. Samples were initially run through the stacking gel at 100V for 30 minutes before increasing to 160V to run through the separating gel (approximately 90 minutes). The running buffer used was purchased from Thermofisher Scientific (Novex® Tris-Glycine SDS Running Buffer (10X)) and diluted 10 times in distilled water.

At the end of the run the gels were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. In brief, the gel/membrane was sandwiched between two 1x Transfer Buffer presoaked Whatman filter papers and two 1x Transfer Buffer pre-soaked blotting pads. The gel/membrane blot module was run for 90minutes at 30 volts in 1x Transfer Buffer (Novex® Tris-Glycine Transfer Buffer). The outer buffer chamber was filled with deionised water to dissipate heat produced during the run.

Upon completion of the run, the membranes were blocked for 30 minutes at room temperature in 5% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) in Tris-Buffered Saline Tween-20 (TBS-T) (Sigma). Membranes were incubated with the appropriate concentration of primary antibodies (section 2.3) in 5mls of 5% BSA TBS-T overnight at 4oC on a roller.

The following day the immunoblots were washed 3 times for 5 minutes in TBS-T and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with the appropriate concentrations

of either anti-mouse or anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase-conjugated (HRP) (Santa-Cruz Biotechnologies) in 10mls of 5% BSA TBS-T on a rocker at room temperature. It is the HRP that provides the means of detection. After incubation the immunoblots were washed 3 times in TBS-T for 15 minutes per time and placed on tissue paper to remove any excess buffer.

Detection was carried out using ECL Western Blotting Detection Kit (Amersham), this relies upon the HRP enzyme to oxidise luminal. The detection kit contains two solutions, labelled 1 and 2, which were mixed in equal quantities and added to the nitrocellulose membranes for one minute before bloating off. Then, in the dark room using a Bio-Rad developer after a set period depending on the amount of protein detected the film was developed and the bands were visualised.

For re-probing, blots were stripped using Re-blot 10x stripping buffer (Chemicon). Bound antibodies from the nitrocellulose membranes can be removed without having an effect on the immobilised proteins. Blots were treated with 1x stripping buffer diluted in distilled water. 20ml of solution was added to the blot and incubated for 15 minutes by gently agitating at room temperature. Subsequently, the blots were twice washed with 5% milk TBS-T for 15 minutes each time at room temperature. Blots were then re-probed with primary antibodies at 4^oC overnight for total protein or other proteins.

2.8 Immunoprecipitation

The aim of immunoprecipitation is to determine whether a specific protein is present within a complex. In this case the protein of interest was phosphorylated CAR with the addition of GFP which was captured from the complex by binding to a GFP SPECIFIC antibody which was in turn stabilised through its binding to A/G agarose beads. The CAR protein could then be eluted from beads and analysed by SDS-PAGE, followed by Western blot detection using commercial anti-phospho antibodies. This process was used in the initial trial experiments before CAR phosphorylation specific antibodies were developed.

HBEC and CARGFP-HBEC were cultured in normal growth media for 24 hours before the media was replaced with a serum free media (Opti-MEM®) for one hour. Treatments were added as indicated in the results figures and then were washed with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with the samples on ice. Samples were then lysed in 200 µl of IP lysis buffer (pH7.4 50mM Tris, 150mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA, 1% Triton, 1% NP40, PI cocktail). The cell lysates were then scraped into 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes and left on ice for 10 minutes. Cell nuclei and debris were removed by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes. The transferred tubes for supernatants were then to new and used immunoprecipitation or stored at -80°C.

Lysates were incubated with 50µl of A/G agarose beads overnight at 5°C on a rotating wheel. The agarose beads were pre-prepared by rinsing 50 µl of beads with PBS before adding 3µg GFP antibodies (table 1) and leaving on the rotating wheel overnight. The GFP antibody was used as the CAR constructs all contained a GFP tag ensuring that the only protein that bound to the beads would need to contain GFP. To act as a negative control an empty GFP tag was transiently transfected into wild type HBEC cells using FuGENE as a non-liposomal transfection reagent to deliver the GFP DNA to the cells.

The following day the samples were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes and 50 μ l of unbound sample was saved. The remaining samples were then washed with 50 μ l of IP lysis buffer 3 times to clear any unbound sample. 30 μ l of hot sample buffer (as described in section 2.7) with 5 μ l of β -mercaptoethanol

was then added to the samples to remove the remaining bound protein from the agarose beads. The samples were then placed at 95 °C for 10mins and separated using SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted for anti-phospho-serine, anti-phospho-threonine or anti-phospho-tyrosine as described in section 2.7.

2.9 Immunostaining and confocal microscopy

Immunostaining aims to identify a specific cell antigen of interest. This is done with a similar principle as used for the previous immunoblotting experiments by using the antibody binding to specific antigens. Using immunostaining and confocal microscopy additionally requires an antibody to be linked to a fluorophore. The first, primary antibody, binds to the antigen of interest and then a secondary antibody with a fluorophore binds to this. The fluorophore can then be excited by a certain wavelength of light which then emit a different wavelength that is detected. Figure 2.1 shows the principle behind the confocal microscope where the laser provides the energy to excite the florescent molecule using the dichromatic mirror to filter out any unwanted wavelengths of light. The quality and resolution of the image is then improved by the pin hole which blocks any extraneous light that does not come from the point of focus. The detector can then build up a three dimensional image by adding separate images together taken from individual slices through the sample.



Figure 2-1 Graphic showing the principles of a confocal microscope.

Cells were cultured in 12 well plates on glass coverslips. They were then treated as described in the results section. Following treatment they were washed by briefly immersing them in PBS and fixed with 4% PFA in PBS for 10min and permeabilised with 0.2% TritonX-100 for 10min. Samples were blocked with a 5% BSA solution for 30 minutes and were then incubated with primary antibodies for 2 hours. They were then washed by again immersing in PBS followed by dH2O and the appropriate secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexafluor-568 or cy5 and Phalloidin conjugated to Alexafluor 568 or 633 where added in 5% BSA for 1 hour before once again washing in PBS followed by dH2O. Cells were mounted onto slides using Immunofluore (ICN) in order to protect the fluorescence of the secondary antibody. Confocal microscope using a 63x oil objective or a Nikon A1R inverted confocal microscope using a 60x oil objective and laser excitation wavelengths of 405nm (for hoechst nuclear staining) 488nm (for GFP or Alexafluor-488), 543nm (for Alexafluor-568) and 633nm (for Alexafluor-633 and cy5). Images were exported as tif files and prepared for figures using Photoshop.

2.10 TNFR1 inhibition

30,000 HBEC were seeded in collagen coated 6 well plates and grown to confluency in 2 millilitres of normal growth media. The wells had been coated in 10% type I bovine collagen for a minimum for one hour before the collagen was removed to be reused and the wells rinsed with PBS. The TNFR1 or control antibodies were added at a concentration of 10µg/ml for one hour prior to further treatment. HBEC cells were then further subjected to either the addition of 10ng/ml of TNF α or 100,000 THP-1 cells. The TNF α treated cells were then lysed after one hour as described in section 2.7. Where THP-1 cells were added the KSFM media was replaced with RPMI media. They were left for 4 hours before the media was removed and the cells lysed as described in section 2.7.

2.11 Permeability Assay

HBEC cells (either CARGFP or Wt populations) were seeded in 6.5mm Transwell chambers (Corning) with 8.0 μ m pores at 100,000 cells per well in 0.5 ml media in 12 well, collagen coated wells, with 1ml media in external part of the well (Figure 2.2). Wells were reviewed after 24hrs to ensure an even covering of cells with a stable complete monolayer. This step was fundamental to ensure an even monolayer of cells. Layers with obvious gaps between cells or where there was significant clumping of cells were disregarded as providing unrepresentative results. Equal numbers of CARGFP and Wt cell wells were required to ensure comparative data. 5μ M TNF α was added to the specific treatment wells, followed by 10 μ l of fitc-dextran (20 KDa) solution added to the upper chamber of all wells.

100 µl of the media was then collected from the lower chamber at 30 minutes and one hour after addition of fitc-dextran. Between collection points the samples were returned to the incubator to be maintained in their optimum conditions. The collected fluid samples were then compared for relative FITC-dextran concentration on a Fluostar Omega fluorescence plate reader (BMG). The system compared light absorption from each sample to provide a comparative reading of light transmission between the samples.



Figure 2-2: Permeability model showing cells grown on a collagen coated plate for a FITC/dextran permeability assay.

2.12 Transmigration Assay

HBEC cells were seeded in 6.5mm Transwell chambers (Corning) with 8.0µm pores at 30,000 cells per chamber and allowed to form monolayers. After 48 hours media in the upper and lower chambers was changed to RPMI containing 10% FBS before the addition of 100,000 THP-1 cells stained with Cell Tracker[™] Orange Dye (Molecular probes) to the top well of the chambers. After 48 hours, the number of THP-1 cells in the lower chamber was counted using a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). For Ad5 fibre-knob competition assays recombinant Ad5FK (100µg of an 11mg/ml stock concentration) or BSA

control (100µg of 11mg/ml stock concentration) was added to HBEC cells 3 hours after seeding and remained in the media throughout the experiment.

2.13 THP-1 cell adhesion assay

HBEC cells were seeded onto 13mm coverslips and allowed to form monolayers. After 48 hours 100,000 THP-1 cells stained for 30 minutes with Cell Tracker[™] Orange (Molecular Probes) were added to the monolayers in RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS. THP-1 cells were allowed to adhere to HBEC monolayers for 16 hours before fixation and immunostaining with Phalloidin-633. A total of 5 5x5 tile-scans per sample were obtained using a 40x air objective on a Nikon A1R confocal microscope. The tiles were assembled together using Nikon NIS Elements software and further analysed using Cell Profiler (BD) to count the number of adhered THP-1 cells per image.

2.14 Organotypic culture

Organotypic cultures were performed as an alternative strategy to mimic physiological conditions whilst maintaining the use of immortalised cells with CAR alterations. Stromal cells are of fundamental importance in overall epithelial function and a more relevant assay therefore incorporates stromal components such as fibroblasts, and also reproduces the 3D characteristics of the relevant organ.

The cultures were established as shown in figure 2.3. Firstly a fibroblast containing gel was made using a bovine collagen type 1 (Millipore)/ matrigel (VWR international) mix (1:1 ratio) with 10x DMEM (Sigma), foetal calf serum, fibroblast cells (5×10^5 cells per gel) and 7.5% sodium bicarbonate (at a ratio of 7:1:1:1). This is all performed on ice to prevent the matrigel from forming a gel before the mixture was complete. Sodium hydroxide was additionally added in a

drop wise fashion to neutralise the solution (the solution changes from yellow to pink). The gel mix was then placed in a 24 well plate and left to set at 37 $^{\circ}$ C for 1hour before 1ml of DMEM was added to the top and they were left over night. The following day HBEC cells (5 x 10⁵) were added to the top and they were left to settle overnight. The nylon sheets shown in figure 2.3 were soaked in the same gel mixture as the original gel mixture aside from the lack of matrigel and fibroblasts. The sheets were then fixed using 1% glutaraldehyde. The nylon sheets and gels were placed on the steel grids as shown in figure 2.1. The media was replaced on alternate days for 10-14 days to ensure stable epithelial layer development. The gel/epithelial layer mixture was then submerged in 4% paraformaldehyde to fix them. Paraffin embedded sections were then prepared of the gels by the histology department at St Thomas' Hospital and slides stained and viewed via confocal microscopy as described in section 2.9.



Figure 2-3: Organotypic culture showing HBEC cells grown at an air liquid interface on a matrigel/collagen/ fibroblast layer

No data from these experiments has been included in the thesis from these experiments. This is due to the technical and financial constraints these experiments entailed. The technique is a slow process requiring at least one month for the culture and fixation of the experiment. During this process the samples are prone to infection as they cannot be grown in standard antibiotic media as used with most cell culture. The samples processed were also fragile and failed to establish stable three dimensional structures which reduced their relevance to a study of tight junction proteins. Mouse models were also developed in synchrony with these experiments and given their success were focused on.

2.15 Mouse models

2.15.1 Acute inflammatory mouse lung model

C57BL/6 (B6) mice (Harlan) were used at 4-8 weeks. All experiments were approved by our Institutional Animal Welfare Committee under UK Home Office Regulations. For mucosal sensitization 1µg recombinant murine TNF α (Immunotools) was given intranasally in 50µl PBS/mouse under light inhaled anaesthesia (isoflurane). After 24 hours animals were killed and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) performed using 1ml PBS.

Flow cytometry was used to identify the separate immune cell types present in the BAL fluid. This technique is useful as it allows large numbers of cells to be separated by type rapidly. This is based on the principle that cells passing through a laser beam will scatter light, which is detected as forward scatter (FS) and side scatter (SS). The combination of scattered and fluorescent light is detected and analysed. If the cells are pre-treated with antibodies that are known to bind to certain cell types the degree of forward and side scatter of light can be predicted and gated when stimulated by specific wave lengths of light.

Inflammatory cells in the BAL samples were identified as described (van Rijt *et al.*, 2004). This used auto fluorescence of macrophages, and simultaneous onestep staining with antibodies for T cells (CD3-Cy-Chrome), B cells (B220-Cy-Chrome), eosinophils (CCR3-PE), and dendritic cells (DCs) (MHCII-FITC, CD11c-APC) with the addition of anti-Gr-1 to identify neutrophils (Gr-1⁺CD11c⁻ CCR3⁻CD4⁻CD8⁻B220⁻). Antibody staining (0.1µg/sample, all eBioscience) was performed in PBS 1% FBS with each BAL sample after washing and was analysed on a FACScalibur (BD Bioscience). Total cell numbers were calculated by analysis of fixed sample volumes, validated with fluorescent beads. Figure 2.4 shows an example of the gating strategy used to identify the separate cell types.

I-Ab + Gr-1-FITC CCR3-PE CD11c-PE/Cy7 CD3+B220-APC

UNGATED BAL CELLS:



GRANULOCYTE GATE:



Figure 2-4: FACS gating strategy for BAL cell data.

2.15.2 Chronic inflammatory mouse lung model

Paraffin embedded slides of the mouse ovalbumin lung model sections were kindly supplied by Dr Gisli Jenkins, University of Nottingham. These slides were generated from BALB/c 6-wk-old mice, sensitized by i.p. injection of 10 µg OVA diluted 1:1 with adjuvant, followed by a second sensitization on day 12. At day 19, mice were challenged daily by oropharyngeal administration of either 400 µg/ml OVA in 50µl saline or 50 µl saline alone for 6 d, followed by additional challenges on days 26, 28, 30, and 33. The mice were sacrificed on day 34. For formalin-fixed tissue, the left lobe was inflated with formalin and fixed in formalin overnight and then embedded in paraffin wax. The slides were initially heated at 75 °C to warm the paraffin. The slides were then rehydrated via a step wise process of 2x immersion in xylene (supplied by Fisher scientific) for 10 minutes followed by 2 x immersion in 100% ethanol, 1x immersion in 90% ethanol, 1x immersion in 70% ethanol, 1 immersion in 50% ethanol all for 5 minutes each. Antigen retrieval was then performed in a citrate buffer at a pH of 6 in a pressure cooker for 15minutes. Slides were then washed in TBS and TBS tween and antibody staining was undertaken with the method as described in section 2.9.

3 Characterising the effects of cytokines on CAR phosphorylation and function

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Cytokines and Tight Junction Proteins

Cytokines are a broad group of small proteins that are known to both alter the constituents and function of cell junctions (Al-Sadi et al., 2009) and activate protein kinases responsible for serine, threonine and tyrosine phosphorylation (Thomas and Brugge, 1997). Interferon γ was the original cytokine implicated in tight junction control and function (Madara and Stafford, 1989) and is a proinflammatory cytokine principally secreted by lymphocytes in order to activate macrophages and drive a THP-1 immune response (Schroder et al., 2004). As part of this pro-inflammatory response it has also been shown to increase transepithelial permeability through disruption of tight junctions by increasing for example the micropinocytosis of occludin, JAM-A and claudin-1 (Madara and Stafford, 1989, Bruewer et al., 2005, Utech et al., 2005, Boivin et al., 2009, McKay *et al.*, 2007, Ivanov *et al.*, 2005). TNF α has also been shown to effect the function of tight junction proteins. TNF α exposure has been associated with disruption of tight junctions measured by a loss of trans-epithelial resistance (TER) (Mullin et al., 1992, Ma et al., 2004, Fish et al., 1999). Interestingly TNF α has also been associated with a reduction of tight junction complexity and activation of both protein kinases A and C as well those tyrosine kinases inhibited by genistein (Schmitz et al., 1999, Coyne et al., 2002). By affecting these kinases there are implications for any phosphorylation events occurring at associated tight junction proteins, as for example occludin, E-cadherin and β -catenin have all been shown to have their place in cell junctions affected by their phosphorylation status (McCole, 2013). Significantly, VE-cadherin specifically has been shown to undergo tyrosine phosphorylation in response to the presence of TNF α (Angelini *et al.*, 2006). Similarly IL-1 β has also been implicated in the permeability of epithelial layers by increasing Na⁺ and Cl⁻ passage through respiratory epithelium which is a process controlled by tight junction proteins (Coyne *et al.*, 2002). IL-13 is another cytokine associated with tight junction disruption (Sanders *et al.*, 1995) and although this has not been demonstrated in the respiratory epithelium interestingly it has been linked to activation of P1-3K (Prasad *et al.*, 2005) which has also been shown to be activated by TNF α as previously stated (Kilpatrick *et al.*, 2002). IL-17 is an additional cytokine linked with loss of tight junction integrity via the associated activation of ERK (Kinugasa *et al.*, 2000).

A wide range of cytokines have also been studied and shown to have a deleterious effect in relation to tight junction function including IL2, 4, 6, 10 and 15. However, IL-3, 5, 7, 8, 9 12, 14, 16 have not been found to have an effect on tight junction stability suggesting that disruption of cell junction integrity is not a general function of pro-inflammatory cytokines (AI-Sadi *et al.*, 2009).

Given our previous findings that the cytoplasmic tail of CAR can be phosphorylated (Morton *et al.*, 2013), and work by others showing that cytokines can cause functional changes in tight junction proteins by their phosphorylation (Angelini *et al.*, 2006), along with the important role of CAR in immune cell migration (Verdino *et al.*, 2010, Witherden *et al.*, 2010, Zen *et al.*, 2005), we sought to investigate whether CAR might be phosphorylated in response to cytokine driven inflammatory conditions.
3.1.2 Objectives

The aim of experiments described in this chapter is to characterise the effect of cytokine stimulation on the putative phosphorylation sites on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR. Data demonstrates that the presence of inflammatory cytokines lead to phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR and the sites where this occurs. Moreover, further analysis shows TNF α to be the cytokine most strongly stimulating phosphorylation of CAR and this occurs through defined signalling pathways. Finally these data suggest that CAR recruitment, homodimerisation and maintenance at cell-cell adhesions is necessary for this TNF α -phosphorylation response to occur.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Phosphorylation of CAR in response to cytokines

Our group has previously identified via *in silico* analysis two possible sites for PKC phosphorylation within the cytoplasmic tail of CAR; threonine at the amino acid 290 and serine at amino acid 293 (see Figure 1.7 in the introduction). To investigate these sites further, the group have previously established HBEC cells that either overexpress CAR (CAR-GFP) or alternative CAR cytoplasmic tail mutants that would either mimic phosphorylation by replacing the serine and threonine amino acids with aspartic acid (DDCAR-GFP) or would be incapable of being phosphorylated by replacing them with alanine (AACAR-GFP) (Morton *et al.*, 2013). Using these cell lines we have previously shown that CAR is serine/threonine phosphorylated (Morton *et al.*, 2013). This phosphorylation response altered the junctional protein components by controlling E-cadherin dynamics at the cell membrane thereby establishing a functional role for phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR.

Our group has additionally identified a potential Src kinase phosphorylation motif on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR; Tyrosine 269. HBEC cell lines were generated using CAR-GFP mutants that either block phosphorylation of this site by replacing the tyrosine residue with the similar, but non-phosphorylateable phenylalanine (Y2F CAR-GFP), or mimic phosphorylation by replacing the tyrosine with glutamic acid (Y2E CAR-GFP) at this site. Figure 3.1 highlights the difficulty inherent with this process as the tyrosine phospho-mimic substitution; glutamic acid is significantly structurally different to phosphotyrosine.

73



Figure 3-1 Alternative amino acids for tyrosine substitution. A) Comparison of tyrosine with the alternative phospho-dead amino acids. B) Comparison of the phospho-mimic amino acid alternative glutamate with phosphoserine, phosphothreonine and phosphotyrosine.

To examine the role of CAR in inflammatory processes we first analysed the effect of pro-inflammatory cytokines on the phosphorylation status of CAR using CAR-GFP HBECs. TNF α and interferon γ were chosen for an initial trial of CAR's response to inflammatory conditions as they have long been established as playing a key role in the function of tight junctions in the epithelial response to inflammation both individually and in combination (AI-Sadi *et al.*, 2009, Madara and Stafford, 1989, Mullin *et al.*, 1992, Fish *et al.*, 1999). The cells were alternatively treated with protein phosphatase inhibitors for serine/threonine sites (calyculin A) and tyrosine sites (pervanadate) as positive controls to the possible phosphorylation sites identified on the CAR cytoplasmic tail. Wild type (Wt) HBEC were also transiently transfected with an empty GFP tag (eGFP) to act as a negative control. These samples were then immunoprecipitated using an anti-GFP antibody and subjected to SDS-PAGE and western blot using pan phosphoserine, phospho-threonine or phospho-tyrosine antibodies (Figure 3.2). This

revealed that CAR serine and threonine phosphorylation was induced after TNF α but not interferon γ treatment. Neither cytokine treatment induced a detectable phospho-tyrosine signal despite a strong pervanadate induced signal (figure 3.2).



Figure 3-2 The cytoplasmic tail of CAR is phosphorylated at both the threonine and serine sites by TNF α but not at the tyrosine site or by Interferon γ . Western blot of immunoprecipitated CAR-GFP from HBEC lysates treated as indicated with either 30 μ M Pervanadate, 0.5 mM Calyculin A, 10ng/ml TNF α or 5ng/ml Interferon γ as indicated. Western blots were probed with pan phospho-tyrosine, -serine or –threonine antibodies (Sampling repeated 4 times per test condition). The bands at 70 kDa are appropriate for a phosphorylation response by CAR. A response is seen to calyculin, TNF α and TNF α /INF γ with P-threonine, Vanadate, calyculin and TNF α with P-serine but only vanadate with P-tyrosine.

3.2.2 Development of serine/threonine phosphorylation specific CAR antibodies

Using pan-serine and threonine antibodies allowed identification of TNF a mediated CAR ser/thr phosphorylation via immunoprecipitation. However, this method does not allow us to specifically target the identified sites on the CAR cytoplasmic tail. We therefore developed polyclonal antibodies that were raised against the target sequence on the cytoplasmic tail containing the serine and threonine sites (peptide sequence Ac-RTS(pT)AR(pS)YIGSNH-C). Given the proximity between the 290 serine site and the 293 threonine site it was not possible to develop antibodies to recognise each one individually. The peptide was designed therefore to encompass both. The use of a polyclonal antibody as opposed to a monoclonal antibody did reduce cost and significantly allowed for greater tolerance of minor changes in the antigen. However, it does lead to limitations with an increased chance of non-specific signals and if further antibody was required would risk problems from inter batch variability.

Two separate rabbits were inoculated with the peptide and then bled on days 28, 56 and 72. The sera from these bleed days was used to probe for CAR phosphorylation of the serine and threonine sites in western blots of CARGFP-HBEC cells. These cells were either untreated, treated with a serine and threonine phosphatase inhibitor (Calyculin A) as a positive control or pervanadate as a negative control. The strongest western blot response using the sera occurred from the day 72 bleed in rabbit PA5829 and day 28 for rabbit PA5830 as they had the most sensitive and specific response to CAR phosphorylation (figure 3.3a). The CAR phosphorylation effect in these cell lysates was confirmed using a commercial GFP antibody (figure 3.3b) which has previously been used

to indicate CAR phosphorylation with the presence of a double band in response to calyculin (Morton *et al.*, 2013). Figure 3.3c shows ELISA data performed by PERBIOSCIENCE (THERMOFISHER) antibodies using the phosphorylation antigen. Data shown demonstrate a strong titre response to the sera taken on day 72 for rabbit PA5829 and on day 28 from rabbit PA5830.

Serum from rabbit PA5829 was further purified following a terminal bleed to produce the final CAR p-ser293/thr290 antibody. This antibody was used to probe for CAR phosphorylation in western blot of CAR-GFP HBEC lysates. These cells were again either untreated or treated with the phosphatase inhibitors Calyculin A (pan-serine/threonine phosphatase inhibitor) or vanadate (pantyrosine phosphatase inhibitor). Western blots using this purified polyclonal antibody showed the expected band at approximately 70 KDa corresponding to phosphorylated CAR-GFP, but also bands at 55KDa (figure 3.4a). Figure 3.4b shows the same lysates probed using a commercial antibody to CAR (CAR H300 antibody, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). No additional band was seen at 55KDa indicating that the antibody was not detecting a specific cleaved portion of CAR. The experiment was repeated with WT HBEC, which express CAR at very low levels, and AACAR-GFP HBEC, which overexpress mutated CAR that had been modified to prevent phosphorylation at the serine/threonine site (figure 3.4c). In this case only the CAR-GFP cells have the expected band at approximately70 KDa in response to calyculin, indicating the phosphorylated protein. The 55KDa band, however, is present in all 3 cell lines suggesting that this is not specific to CAR. Given the extensive similarity with CAR like membrane protein (CLMP) and the fact that this protein has a predicted molecular weight of 55KDa the samples were also probed using a commercially available antibody against CLMP to determine whether the antibody was detecting this protein instead. The antibody does pick up the presence of a band at 54KDa, which would indicate the presence of CLMP in these cell lysates. Yet the additional strong band with the phospho-specific antibody is several KDa higher and therefore it does not likely represent binding to CLMP (figure 3.4d).

The CAR p-ser/thr antibody was then used to analyse CAR phosphorylation by confocal microscopy. Phosphorylated CAR was identified specifically, as expected, at the cell-cell contacts of CARGFP HBEC and not in either WT or AACARGFP (phosphodead) HBEC (Figure 3.4e).



Figure 3-3 Phospho-Serine/threonine antibody development.

A) Western of HBEC lysates using the initial antibody developed from the donor rabbits on the specified bleed days. The bands seen at 72 kDa represent the serine/threonine site when it is phosphorylated on CAR-GFP cells (N=3). B) Western of the same lysates probed using the commercial antibody to GFP showing the double band associated with CAR phosphorylation (n=3). C) ELISA data for antibody titers from rabbits PA5829 and PA5830 on the specified bleed days to correspond to strongest and cleanest western data shown in image 3.3a.



Figure 3-4 Serine/threonine CAR phosphorylation antibody purification.

A) Western of CAR-GFP lysates treated as indicated with 30 μ M Pervanadate or 0.5 mM Calyculin A probed with purified CAR P-ser/thr antibody with the appropriate band seen at approximately 72 kDa as well additional bands at

55kDa. (n=3) B) Western of the same CAR-GFP lysates probed with the H300 CAR Santa Cruz antibody with no additional 55kDa band (n=2). C) Western of Wt HBEC, CAR-GFP HBEC and AACAR-GFP HBEC lysates treated as previously with band seen in CAR-GFP cell line following treatment with serine/threonine phosphatase inhibitor at 72kDa but not in the other cell lines. All three cell lines show an equivalent band at 55kDa (n=3). D) Western of CAR-GFP lysates probed for CAR Like Membrane Protein. Band seen at approximately 54kDa therefore below the non-specific band seen with the serine/threonine phospho-specific antibody (n=1). E) Confocal images using the serine/threonine phospho-specific antibody on CAR-GFP and AACAR-GFP cells treated with PDBu to drive phosphorylation. Presence of both CARGFP and phosphorylated CARGFP indicated by the yellow staining (n=3).

3.2.3 CAR phosphorylation at the serine/threonine phosphorylation site in response to TNF α

The development of a serine/threonine CAR phosphorylation site specific antibody allowed for further investigation of the sites response to cytokine stimulation. Initial data showed that CAR was ser/thr phosphorylated in response to TNF α stimulation in CAR-GFP HBEC cells. To confirm that TNF α induces phosphorylation of CAR at thr290/ser293 specifically. CAR-GFP was immunoprecipitated from untreated or TNF α treated HBEC cell lysates (figure 3.5a). TNF induced rapid phosphorylation of CAR at thr290/ser293 within 15 minutes, which diminished by 1 hour after treatment. Western blot of CAR-GFP HBEC lysates revealed similar induction of CAR phosphorylation at thr290/ser293 however with different kinetics (figure 3.5b). This may be due to differences in cell culture methods prior to treatment of the HBEC. CAR-GFP HBEC were treated and lysed when semi-confluent for immunoprecipitation (24 hours post-seeding) and when fully confluent (72hours post-seeding) for western blots shown in figure 3.5b. This effect was seen with multiple repeats of both short and longer-term cell culture. Quantification of western blots from multiple experiments confirmed the finding that there was a delay in the phosphorylation with increasing cell density and time in culture (figures 3.5c and 3.5d). This variation possibly reflects the difficulty for TNF α in accessing the TNF receptor with increasing cell density and increasing maturity of cell junctions following a longer culture period. This phosphorylation effect on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR in response to TNF α occurred at the cell membrane suggesting that CAR may be phosphorylated only when localised to cell junctions and may also need to be homodimerised for phosphorylation to occur (figure 3.6).

82

The over expressing CAR-GFP cell line showed increased CAR phosphorylation at the cell membrane following TNF α treatment (figure 3.5a) whereas the control AACAR-GFP cell line which are unable to be phosphorylated at the serine/threonine site showed no phosphorylation (figure 3.5a). Phosphorylated CAR has been found in internalising vesicles during cell junction disassociation caused by calcium washout (Morton *et al.*, 2013). These p-se290r/thr293 CAR positive vesicles were not seen following TNF treatment (figure 3.6), which could either be due rapid de-phosphorylation following internalisation or that the junctions themselves had not yet started to disassociate, as the previous study showed that cells with stable junctions did not have p-ser290/thr293 CAR positive vesicles present. Although this is only one time point this also suggests that the internal pool of CAR found in cells is not phosphorylated and instead needs to be trafficked to the cell membrane before this can occur.



Figure 3-5 CAR phosphorylation following the addition of TNF α at the serine/threonine sites. A) Western of immunoprecipitated CAR-GFP from HBEC lysates treated as indicated with either 30 µM Pervanadate, 0.5 mM Calyculin A or 10ng/ml TNF α . Cells were grown for approximately 30 hours prior to treatment. Western blots were probed with the CAR specific serine/threonine phospho-specific antibody showing the strongest band at 15 minutes in response to TNF α . (N=3) B) Western blot of HBEC lysates treated as indicated with 10ng/ml TNF α . Cells grown for 72 hours before treatment with the strongest band at 2 hours in response to TNF α (N=3). C&D) Relative intensity of P-CAR bands from westerns with a short growth period of (30 hours-C) and a long growth period (72 hours -D) - Error bars are SEM. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01 ***=p<0.005 compared to untreated sample. N=3.



Figure 3-6: Imaging of CAR phosphorylation following the addition of TNF α at the serine/threonine sites. Confocal images of CAR-GFP and AACARGFP cells following treatment with 10ng/ml TNF α for 15 minutes using either GFP or the serine/threonine phospho-specific antibody (representation of 3 experiments) (Scale bar 10µm).

3.2.4 Development of tyrosine phosphorylation specific CAR antibodies and response to TNF α

An antibody (p-tyr269 CAR ab) was also raised against the tyrosine phosphorylation site at position 269 on the CAR cytoplasmic tail using the peptide sequence EEK(pY)EKEV-C. This was a rabbit derived polyclonal antibody developed in collaboration with Perbioscience (Thermofisher). This targeted the KKRREEK<u>Y</u>EK sequence identified on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR as a possible site for tyrosine phosphorylation (figure 1.7).

Sera taken from initial bleeds from the two inoculated rabbits showed no detection of a specific tyrosine phosphorylation band in response to the positive control vanadate (a tyrosine phosphatase inhibitor) (figure 3.7a). Western blotting of the same samples with a commercial pan-phosphotyrosine antibody showed robust tyrosine phosphorylation indicating the positive control had caused tyrosine phosphorylation. This poor response is consistent with the ELISA data supplied by Perbioscience (Thermofisher) which demonstrates that there was less of an antibody response in comparison to the p- thr290/ser293 CAR ab (figure 3.7b).

Given that the rabbits had failed to mount an adequate antibody response to the first inoculation rabbit PA5832 underwent a second prolonged stimulation with the peptide. To test the antibodies function CAR-GFP was immunoprecipitated from vanadate and TNF treated HBEC lysates and western blotted using the p-tyr CAR ab (figure 3.7c). Following the extended inoculation the resulting antibody did detect a band at the appropriate molecular weight for phosphorylated CAR in response to the positive control for tyrosine phosphorylation, vanadate. There was, however, no tyrosine response to TNF α stimulation (figure 3.7c) implying that its effects were specific to the serine/threonine site. The mutant tyrosine site

86

cell lines were also used in this experiment. The Y2ECAR-GFP cells were those that had the CAR cytoplasmic tail altered to ensure that they appeared permanently phosphorylated at the tyrosine site, whereas on the Y2FCAR-GFP cells it was altered to prevent phosphorylation of the tyrosine site. As outlined in the chapter introduction mutations of tyrosine phosphorylation sites do not necessarily produce the intended changes. With these cells the results suggest that this is the case as the phosphormimic cells (Y2ECAR-GFP) in fact behave as if they are not able to be phosphorylated at the tyrosine site (figure 3.7c).



Figure 3-7 Phospho-tyrosine CAR antibody development and response to cytokine stimulation.

A) Initial western response using the bleed day with the strongest ELISA response (n=1). B) ELISA values from the two rabbits. C) Western blot of immunoprecipitated CAR-GFP from HBEC lysates treated as indicated with either 30 μ M Pervanadate or 10ng/ml TNF α . Cells were grown for approximately 30 hours prior to treatment. Western blots were probed with the purified CAR specific phospho-tyrosine antibody from rabbit PA5832 following a prolonged inoculation period. A response is seen in the third bound lane in response to vanadate in the CAR-GFP cell line but not with TNF α (n=3).

(A)

3.2.5 CAR response to cytokines

TNF α has a broad inflammatory effect on the bronchial epithelium, which includes disruption of junctions and stimulation of alternative cytokine secretion (Hardyman *et al.*, 2013, Mazzon and Cuzzocrea, 2007, Turner, 2009, Al-Sadi *et al.*, 2009, Al-Sadi *et al.*, 2008). However, the inflammatory process is not driven by TNF alone. Instead a multitude of complex interactions occur between a variety of cytokines and cells. As discussed in the chapter introduction multiple alternative cytokines play a role in tight junction protein function. Alternative cytokines were therefore trialed to determine whether TNF α was unique in causing CAR phosphorylation.

Treatment with IL-5 promoted phosphorylation of the serine/threonine site on CAR (figure 3.8 a & b). This was not as strong as that seen with TNF but was consistent and reproducible. IL-5, like TNF α , is a chemoattractant and stimulant for eosinophils in ulcerative colitis (Lampinen *et al.*, 2001). Importantly IL-5 is also known to be upregulated in patients with asthma, in particular in those with more severe disease (Peters *et al.*, 2014). These patients are also those known to have an altered epithelial-mesenchymal trophic unit. However, there have not been previous reports showing a direct effect on epithelial cells and therefore this observed effect on CAR is novel for both its phosphorylation of this protein and its impact on epithelial cells. PKC δ is known to phosphorylate CAR and interestingly we also observed phosphorylation of PKC δ downstream of IL-5 (fig3.8a).

Additionally the cytokines IL-13, IL-1 β , IL-17 and IL-8 were tested to determine whether they also induced phosphorylation of CAR (figures 3.8 c, d, e and f respectively). These cytokines have all been shown drive an inflammatory response, with evidence of IL-1 β , IL-13 and IL-17 in particular causing epithelial barrier dysfunction through tight junction impairment (AI-Sadi *et al.*, 2008, Turner,

89

2009, Schulzke *et al.*, 2009). However, none of these cytokines promoted the phosphorylation of the serine/threonine phospho-sites on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR (Figure 3.8c-f).



Figure 3-8 CAR response to alternative cytokines.

A) IL-5 stimulates ser/thr CAR phosphorylation in a similar time dependent and PKC δ fashion as TNF α . (n=3) B) The graph shows the relative signal intensity in response to IL-5 (25ng/ml) in 3 independent experiments. Error bars are SEM. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01 ***=p<0.005 compared to untreated samples. C) No response seen to IL-13 (25ng/ml) presence (n=2). D) No response seen to IL1 β (25ng/ml) presence (n=2). E) No response seen to IL-17 (25ng/ml) presence (n=2). E) No response seen to IL5 (25ng/ml) (n=2).

3.2.6 PKC δ is responsible for CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α stimulation

The role of PKC δ in the phosphorylation of the serine/threonine site has already been established (Morton et al., 2013). This demonstrated that the absence of PKC δ resulted in loss of serine/threonine phosphorylation of the CAR cytoplasmic tail in response to Phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (PDBu; an activator of cPKC's) or calyculin A . PKC δ is also activated in response to TNF activation of TNFR1 in neutrophils (Kilpatrick et al., 2006, Kilpatrick et al., 2002). Given the established role for PKC δ in CAR phosphorylation, the activation of PKC δ was studied in response to TNF α treatment (figure 3.9a). PKC δ phosphorylation showed a time dependent response to TNF α with kinetics that mirrored the phosphorylation of CAR. To determine whether PKC δ has a direct effect on CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF, siRNA to PKC δ was used to transiently reduce PKCδ expression in HBEC. PKCδ knockdown resulted in reduced CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α stimulation compared with TNF α alone controls (Fig3.9B). This finding was confirmed using confocal microscopy, as a pser/thr CAR response at cell junctions to TNF α treatment was seen at sixty minutes, and this was lost when PKC δ was depleted (figure 3.10c). Taken together, these data support a role for PKC δ in controlling phosphorylation of the CAR cytoplasmic tail in response to TNF α .





Figure 3-9 PKC δ phosphorylates CAR downstream of TNF $\alpha.$

A) Western blot analysis of phospho-CAR and phospho-PKC δ after treatment with 10ng/ml TNF α for the indicated times. Western blots were also probed for GAPDH as a loading control. (N=3) B) Western blot analysis of phospho-CAR in CAR-GFP HBEC expressing PKC δ siRNA or a non-targeted control (NT). Cells were treated with 10ng/ml TNF α for 60min where indicated. Western blots were probed for phospho-CAR, PKC δ and GAPDH as a loading control. (N=3)

(A)



Figure 3-10 PKC δ phosphorylates CAR downstream of TNF α (imaging). Representative confocal imaging of 3 separate experiments with CAR-GFP (green) and PKC δ (red) expressing PKC δ siRNA either untreated or treated with TNF α in comparison to CAR-GFP (scale bar 10µm).

3.2.7 PI3K inhibition leads to loss of PKCδ phosphorylation and therefore

CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α

PI-3 kinase has previously been shown to be required for TNF α mediated PKCδ activity in neutrophils (Kilpatrick *et al.*, 2002). The activation of PI3K by alternative cytokines has also been shown to affect tight junction function in epithelial cells, in particular INF γ (Boivin *et al.*, 2009, AI-Sadi *et al.*, 2009). We therefore hypothesised that PI3K may be required for PKCδ mediated CAR phosphorylation downstream of TNF α .

To test this hypothesis, HBEC cells were treated with the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 (figure 3.11a). This experiment was performed over a time course of TNF treatments with the cells incubated for an extended period and therefore expected to have a prolonged stimulation period before causing phosphorylation. Following the addition of LY294002 there was a loss of both CAR and PKC δ phosphorylation in response to TNF α (figure 3.11). The relative effect of this reduction in three separate experiments is most pronounced between two to four hours reflecting the longer time course for activation seen in HBEC cells grown for an extended period (figure 3.11b). These data indicate that PI3K supports the phosphorylation of the serine/threonine site on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR and also that this effect occurs upstream of PKC δ as its inhibition also leads to reduction of PKC δ activation.



Figure 3-11 PI3K inhibition causes loss of both PKC δ phosphorylation and CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α .

A) Western blot analysis of phospho-CAR and phospho-PKC δ after pre-treatment with 10µM/L LY294002 for 2 hours where indicated and further treatment with 10ng/ml TNF α for the times shown. Western blots were also probed for GAPDH as a loading control. B) Relative intensity of P-CAR bands from westerns - Error bars are SEM. *=p<0.05. N=3.

(A)

(B)

3.2.8 NFkB activation downstream of TNF is unaffected by CAR

Alternative cell signaling pathways known to be stimulated by TNF α were also investigated. Binding of TNF α to its cell receptor TNFR1 on epithelial cells results in the recruitment of a complex of proteins to the cell membrane to drive intracellular signaling, including TRADD and RIP1, which in turn cause signal transduction via NF κ B (Kilpatrick *et al.*, 2006, Micheau and Tschopp, 2003). NF κ B is rapidly transported from the cytoplasm to the nucleus to trigger gene transduction. Therefore to determine whether this process was altered by the presence of phosphorylated CAR, CAR-GFP HBEC and WT HBEC were treated with TNF α and fixed at two different time points. These cells were then fixed and stained for NF κ B to identify its sub-cellular location. In both cell types, NF κ B moved to the nucleus by thirty minutes with no alteration seen regardless of whether CAR was overexpressed in the cells (figure 3.12), indicating that activation of this pathway is unaffected by the presence of overexpressed CAR.



Figure 3-12 NF κ B signaling is unaffected in the presence of CAR. Confocal imaging of NF κ B (Alexa 568 secondary antibody; red) in Wt HBEC and CARGFP HBEC treated with 10ng/ml TNF for the times indicated before fixation. NF κ B shows nuclear staining when activated in response to TNF α (Representative imaging of 3 separate experiments).

3.2.9 MAPK signalling in response to TNF is unaffected by CAR overexpression

TNF α is also known to activate the MAP kinases following recruitment of the TRADD based protein complex to the cell membrane. Multiple MAPK pathways exist following TNF treatment including p38 MAPK and Extracellular Signal-Related Kinases (ERK) and their responses are seen to be cell specific (Kant *et al.*, 2011).

To assess responses in this pathway, western blotting analysis of both ERK and p38 phosphorylation in response to TNF α was performed in both CAR-GFP HBEC and WT HBEC (figures 3.13 a, b). No stimulation of ERK by TNF α was detected in these cells and this was unchanged by overexpression of CAR (figure 3.13a). The timing points for ERK phosphorylation were used to correspond to the equivalent CAR phosphorylation events. The ERK response itself can be varied by cell type and this may have underestimated the ERK response as this can occur very rapidly. It has been shown to have a more gradual response in mammalian cells (Aoki et al., 2011) and the aim of the experiment was to ensure that the additional presence of phosphorylated CAR was not altering this signalling pathway. The presence of TNF α , however, did lead to p38 phosphorylation, but this was not significantly different in HBEC overexpressing CAR (figure 3.13 b). The response by these MAP kinases to TNF α is not a novel finding but reinforces the NFkB results and further supports that CAR overexpression does not cause general alterations in multiple signalling pathways.





Figure 3-13: MAPK signaling unaffected in the presence of phosphorylated CAR.

A) P-ERK activation in CAR-GFP HBEC and Wt HBEC in the presence of 10ng/ml TNF α and phosphatase inhibitors calyculin A and vanadate. Two bands seen at 42 and 44 kDa. (N=5) B) P-p38 activation in CAR-GFP HBEC and Wt HBEC in the presence of 10ng/ml TNF α and phosphatase inhibitors. (N=5)

3.2.10 The disruption of CAR with adenovirus 5 fibre knob leads to the loss

of CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α

The initial work shown indicates that CAR can be phosphorylated at the serine/threonine sites on its cytoplasmic tail. However, whether this occurs at cell junctions or within intracellular vesicles was not determined. In stable cell monolayers, CAR forms homodimers with other CAR molecules from adjacent cells in tight junctions. The adenovirus 5 fibre knob (Ad5FK) binds competitively to the extracellular domain of CAR (Santis *et al.*, 1999, Kirby *et al.*, 2000). This binding has a significantly greater affinity than the CAR extracellular domain has with itself and thus the presence of Ad5FK causes disruption of CAR homodimerisation at cell junctions.

Western blot analysis was performed on lysates of stable CAR-GFP HBEC monolayers treated with Ad5FK prior to the addition of TNF α . The addition of Ad5FK with the resulting loss of CAR homodimerisation at cell-cell tight junctions was associated with the inability of TNF α to cause p-ser290/thr293 of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR (figure 3.14). This implies that CAR homodimerised across adjacent cell-cell contacts in order for it to be phosphorylated.



Figure 3-14: Fibre knob associated disruption of CAR homerdimerisation leads to loss of TNF α driven CAR phosphorylation. Western blot analysis of CARGFP HBEC treated with 10ng/ml TNF α and 100µg/ml Ad5FK or BSA 100µg/ml control as indicated, probed for phospho-CAR and HSC-70 as a loading control.

3.3 Discussion

This chapter set out to establish whether the presence of cytokines associated with tight junction disruption and respiratory inflammation are involved in the phosphorylation of CAR.

3.3.1 CAR phosphorylation in response to cytokines

CAR has been shown to be involved in the immune response by acting as a binding partner for proteins on neutrophils and other immune cells during their passage through epithelial layers (Verdino et al., 2010, Witherden et al., 2010). The findings presented here, that TNF stimulates CAR phosphorylation, provides a novel mechanistic insight into control of CAR in the inflammatory cascade. TNF α has been shown to interact with alternative tight junction proteins resulting in their disruption as well as activating protein kinases that are responsible for phosphorylation events during the immune response, therefore suggesting that CAR phosphorylation has a physiologically relevant function (AI-Sadi et al., 2009, Schmitz *et al.*, 1999, Coyne *et al.*, 2002). This is supported by the finding that the p-ser290/thr293 phosphorylation is a rapid time dependent response that was lost within a few minutes to hours, depending on the density of the cells being treated. This rapid phosphorylation response suggests that CAR plays a more active role in leucocyte transmigration than previously thought as it happens in a similar timeframe as leukocyte movement occurs in response to an inflammatory stimuli (Sarris et al., 2012).

A further tyrosine at the 269 position was studied to determine whether this may be an additional phosphorylation site. Interestingly the data showed that this site was not phosphorylated in the presence of TNF α . This is a noteworthy finding given the previous study by Angelini *et al (2006)* in which pulmonary vascular 103 endothelial cells were shown to exhibit high active Src family kinases following the addition of TNF α . This in turn caused phosphorylation of alternative junctional proteins including vascular endothelial cadherin and P120 catenin (Angelini *et al.*, 2006). This difference in the site of phosphorylation stimulated by TNF α may be a reflection of the difference in cell type studied, namely epithelial as opposed to endothelial cells or may reflect a different role for CAR in cell junctions.

IL-5 has not previously been indicated in epithelial cell signalling. Classically IL-5 is seen as a TH2 cytokine that acts as an eosinophil chemo-attractant and is therefore associated with diseases such as asthma (Peters *et al.*, 2014). Intriguingly it has, though, been shown to activate PKC δ (Bankers-Fulbright *et al.*, 2001). In CAR-GFP HBEC, the pathway for both TNF α and IL-5 driven phosphorylation of CAR was also via activation of PKC δ . This may therefore provide a link between these two cytokines given that IL-5 has not previously shown to be active in cells that are not part of the immune system. It was also established that PI-3K was required as an intermediate step in the activation. As described, both of these kinases are known to be activated in response to TNF α and IL-5. Separately it was also shown that CAR was phosphorylated via PKC δ but this work is the first to show that the two processes are connected and that they occur in epithelial cells.

Alternative cytokines were tested to determine if they would also induce a similar response in CAR. As outlined in the introduction multiple cytokines have been identified as triggering disruption of tight junction proteins including IFN γ, IL-1β, IL-13 and IL-17 but from this data do not cause phosphorylation of the serine/threonine site on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR. This selectivity is interesting given our current knowledge of the effect of these alternative cytokines. IFN γ did 104

not affect CAR in this cell model but is known to activate the PI3K pathway which our results show activates CAR phosphorylation (McKay *et al.*, 2007, Boivin *et al.*, 2009). This difference could reflect the difference in cell types used in these studies; gastrointestinal epithelial cells versus the respiratory epithelium. Further work with gastrointestinal epithelial cells shows that in the presence of IFN γ there is an increased turnover of tight junction proteins including JAMA (Bruewer *et al.*, 2005) which may suggest that INF γ is having longer-term effects on protein localisation rather than triggering short term changes to tight junction proteins through phosphorylation. Therefore given that these cytokines are not driving CAR phosphorylation at the cytoplasmic tail the response to TNF α and IL-5 is not a simple reaction to tight junction impairment or alteration alone but is instead directly related to their presence.

3.3.2 CAR at the cell membrane

The second key aspect of these findings is that this phosphorylation effect occurs when CAR is at the cell membrane. The basis for investigating this phosphorylation effect was our recent work (Morton *et al* 2013) which showed that this site on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR can be phosphorylated leading to alterations in cell-cell junction protein localisation. These adhesion proteins, in particular E-cadherin, have also been found to be altered following cytokine stimulation as part of the immune response (Al-Sadi *et al.*, 2009). The previously identified CAR phosphorylation events were found to occur at both junctions and recycling vesicles in association with disruption to the junctions (Morton *et al.*, 2013). This process of CAR phosphorylation was related to the localisation of junction proteins, as E-cadherin was recycled from the cell membrane when CAR was not phosphorylated. Confocal images presented in this chapter indicate that CAR phosphorylation is specifically occurring at the membrane in response to

TNF α . This is significant, as CAR has long been established as playing a role in the formation and stability of tight junctions via homerdimerisation of its extracellular domain (Cohen *et al.*, 2001). As previously described this position at the cell membrane also places CAR in the position where it can bind with leucocytes implicating it in the immune response. Therefore the fact the phosphorylation response to TNF α occurs only at the membrane implies that it is of physiological relevance, possibly by ensuring that CAR is still in a position to act on the transmigrating leucocytes. Its physiological relevance was reinforced by that fact that although these effects were demonstrated in an immortalised cell line overexpressing CAR, the downstream pathways for TNF α signalling were not being altered by the presence of phosphorylated CAR and thereby implying that CAR overexpression is not altering the overall mechanics of the cell.

4 Inflammation leads to CAR phosphorylation and immune cell migration *in vitro*

4.1 Introduction

The previous chapter showed that the serine/threonine site on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR, when CAR is homerdimerised at cell junctions, is phosphorylated in response to TNF α . This phosphorylation is driven by PI-3K and PKC δ but does not result in an alteration in the expected intracellular signalling pathways associated with TNF α ; NF κ B, p38 and ERK. This chapter explores the physiological role the phosphorylation of CAR may have in inflammatory conditions.

4.1.1 CAR and the immune response

There is a growing body of evidence that the epithelial barrier in the lungs of patients with asthma and cystic fibrosis is disrupted through effects on both tight junctions (Xiao *et al.*, 2011) and adherens junctions (Lambrecht and Hammad, 2012) (Coyne *et al.*, 2002). As described previously CAR is a member of the epithelial junction complex and its expression is upregulated in chronic autoimmune inflammatory conditions in mice suggesting the role of CAR in cells is altered in response to inflammation (Ito *et al.*, 2000). A mechanism for the role of CAR in this immune reaction has been suggested through more recent work that addressed CAR's interaction with other members of the JAM family (Verdino and Wilson, 2011, Witherden *et al.*, 2010). As described previously CAR has a similar structure to other proteins in the JAM family and their extracellular components can hetero-dimerise. Some members of the family including JAM-A are also found on leucocytes as well as endothelial and epithelial cells. JAM-A disruption in leucocytes has long been known to lead to a reduction in leucocyte

107
trans-endothelial migration due to loss of homerdimerisation with JAM-A found on epithelial cells (Martin-Padura et al., 1998). The more recent work by Verdino et. al. and Witherden et. al. showed that CAR on the epithelial cell membrane binds to JAM-L on γδT cells and neutrophils (Witherden et al., 2010, Verdino et al., 2010, Zen et al., 2005). The $y\delta T$ cells play a key role in host immunity and are resident in the epidermis (Jameson et al., 2002, Girardi et al., 2001, Sharp et al., 2005). These cells are the primary responders to epidermal insult thereby protecting against environmental insults such as infection, trauma and malignancy. Importantly where this interaction between CAR and JAM-L on epidermal and T cells respectively is disrupted skin healing is slowed (Witherden et al., 2010). Therefore JAM-L with its ligand CAR can been seen as a costimulatory receptor for $\gamma\delta T$ cells (Verdino and Wilson, 2011) which places CAR in the position to modulate the immune response. The nature of CAR's role in this process in particular needs to be established, as it's binding to JAM-L on immune cells may be a passive function but also have an active role through control of junction stability or through intracellular signalling. Therefore this complex interaction may be responsible for disease activity and also open the possibility for therapeutic modification.

4.1.2 Leucocyte Transepithelial Migration (TEpM) in response to cytokine stimuli

Leucocyte TEpM into luminal sites such as respiratory airways in response to inflammatory stimuli is a complex process that requires multiple molecular and cellular responses to occur in sequence, as outlined in the introductory chapter. It occurs in three steps: adhesion, migration and post migration (Zen and Parkos, 2003). CAR in its role as a ligand to JAM-L on immune cells has therefore been

implicated in the adhesion step and may also be necessary for successful migration.

This process requires a trigger, which is often provided by a cytokine. IL-1 β , IL-8 and TNF α act as neutrophil chemo-attractants (Strieter et al., 1993, Strieter et al., 1992, Salva et al., 1996) and hence were tested as possible triggers for CAR phosphorylation in the previous chapter. These cytokines have also been implicated in the regulation of junctional proteins through modification of their expression and localisation to the cell membrane. This was shown for JAM, ZO-1 and ICAM-1 in response to TNF α and INF γ . (Coyne *et al.*, 2002). This suggests a mechanism for feedback control of leucocyte movement.

Following the findings that CAR was phosphorylated at serine290 and threonine293 sites in response to TNF α we next sought to determine whether this process was integral to the previously established role for CAR in leucocyte migration.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Localisation of TNF receptor and CAR in HBEC

In the previous chapter, it was established that CAR is phosphorylated at the serine290/threonine293 sites in response to TNF α stimulation in a time dependent fashion. This phosphorylation effect was mediated by PI-3K and PKC δ , however these results do not determine whether this process occurs with CAR in complex with the TNFR1 receptor or as part of a downstream signalling cascade (figure 4.1). TNF α signals predominantly through TNFR1 in epithelial cells as the alternative receptor TNFR2 is not known to be found in the epithelium (Speeckaert *et al.*, 2012). Both CAR and TNFR1 are localised to the cell membrane and interact with other proteins at this site (Coyne and Bergelson, 2005, Park *et al.*, 2014).



ERK,p38, NF_KB

Figure 4-1: CAR phosphorylation at cell junctions: TNF signals through PI-3K and PKC which could act at a separate site at the cell membrane on CAR (A) or occur in complex (B). This phosphorylation effect though is lost if CAR is no longer homerdimerised at cell junctions (C).

To determine whether CAR and TNFR1 were in complex at junctions, confocal microscopy was performed to visualise their respective positions at the cell membrane in both resting conditions and in response to TNF α (figure 4.2b&c). The maximum intensity confocal microscopy projection images provided strong evidence that when at the membrane, the two receptors are not co-localised. This is not due to the over expression of TNFR1 in CAR-GFP cells as there are equal amounts of TNFR1 in the CAR-GFP cells as the WT HBEC (figure 4.2a).



(B)



Cropped image

Cropped image

Figure 4-2: Localisation of TNF receptor and CAR in HBEC. A) TNFR1 levels in Wt HBEC and CARGFP HBEC. B) Confocal images of mixed populations of Wt HBEC and CARGFP HBEC with TNFR1 (red) and CAR (green) at cell junctions. C) Maximum intensity projection of the confocal images (TNFR1 – red and CAR – green). The white boxed areas are cropped and shown in the images below. Scale bars are 10um.

4.2.2 Functional effect of TNF α driven p-ser290/thr293 CAR phosphorylation

Increased epithelial permeability as a result of the presence of TNF α is a wellestablished phenomenon (AI-Sadi *et al.*, 2009). The reasons for this response have been studied previously and multiple factors have been implicated, including loss of tight junction proteins (AI-Sadi *et al.*, 2009, Ivanov *et al.*, 2005) and increased cell death (Gitter *et al.*, 2000a, Gitter *et al.*, 2000b).

CAR has also been shown to influence permeability at tight junctions; CAR homodimerisation has been shown to be disrupted at tight junctions in T84 metastatic lung carcinoma cells by the addition of its soluble extracellular domain (CAR-ECD) to cell media (Cohen *et al.*, 2001). These effects are organ specific though with loss of CAR leading to increased permeability in the heart myocytes but not in gut epithelial cells in knockout mice. (Pazirandeh *et al.*, 2011)

Given the role both CAR and TNF α have been shown to play in the stability of the epithelial barrier it was therefore important to determine whether CAR was influencing the effect of TNF α on cell junction stability and permeability given the fact that CAR is being phosphorylated in its presence. Therefore permeability assays were undertaken as described in section 2.11. These assays were performed on stable confluent monolayers of either WT HBEC or CAR-GFP HBEC grown on transwells and either untreated or treated with TNF α . The amount of FITC-dextran passing through the monolayer is indicative of permeability between cells (figure 4.3 a,b). The reproducibility of the results in this model was highly sensitive to the formation of complete cell monolayers, which necessitated many repeats. The data is shown in two formats to aid interpretation. Firstly the average absolute values obtained from all of the

experiments are shown (figure 4.3a). The second figure shows the percentage change at each time point seen in those experiments where a realistic response to TNF α was seen. This removed two of the experimental repeats as there was no corresponding change in permeability with TNF which given the cytokines physiological effect likely reflects experimental error. Interestingly, the data shows that cells with high levels of CAR were less permeable in the presence of TNF α than those without, particularly at 30 minutes post TNF addition. This suggests that CAR plays a functional role in the response to TNF α by maintaining cell to cell contact. Given that the timing of this response coincides with phosphorylation effect seen in CAR in response to TNF α it may be that the two events are associated.



Figure 4-3: CAR plays a role in control of TNF-induced epithelial cell monolayer permeability. A) Transwell fitc/dextrans permeability assay data of multiple experimental repeats (n=6) of Wt HBEC or CARGFP HBEC monolayers either treated or untreated with TNF α (10ng/ml). B) Graph showing the percentage change in permeability between the Wt or CARGFP monolayers either treated or untreated at 30 or 60 minutes where there was a demonstrable change with the addition of TNF α (n=4).

4.2.3 Confocal imaging of junction markers in mixed populations of Wt HBEC and FLCAR HBEC

Following the data suggesting that the presence CAR at junctions is capable of maintaining their stability after the addition of TNF α it was necessary to determine whether there was alteration in other protein markers associated with both tight and adherens junctions. ZO-1 was used as a marker for tight junctions and was as expected seen to co-localise with CAR at epithelial junctions both in a resting state and in the presence of TNF α (figure 4.4a).

E-cadherin was used as a marker for adherens junctions. E-cadherin has previously been shown to be displaced from junctions that over-express CAR at junctions, specifically when the cytoplasmic tail of CAR is not phosphorylated at either the p-ser290/thr293 sites (Morton *et al.*, 2013). As previously identified confocal imaging showed that when untreated there was little co-localisation of CAR and E-Cadherin to epithelial junctions. Following treatment with TNF α for 30 minutes the p-ser290/thr293 sites on CAR have been shown to be phosphorylated. The confocal imaging suggests that it also leads to an increased expression of E-Cadherin at epithelial junctions with a representative image showing increased red staining of E-Cadherin at junctions (figure 4.4b). This supports the previous assertion that where the p-ser290/thr293 sites on CAR are phosphorylated then E-Cadherin is able to be expressed at the junction.



Figure 4-4: Confocal imaging showing maximum intensity projections of junction markers in HBEC following TNF α treatment: A) Tight junction staining (ZO-1 - red, CAR - green, co-localisation of both - yellow, nucleus - white) of HBEC +/- treatment with 10 µg TNF α for 30 minutes. B) Adherens junction staining (E-Cadherin – red, CAR - green, co-localisation of both - yellow, nucleus - white) of HBEC +/- treatment with 10 µg TNF α for 30 minutes. Scale bars are 10um.

4.2.4 Phospho-CAR alters leucocyte transmigration

The role of CAR at the cell membrane has already been established as more complex than simply homodimerising with adjacent epithelial cells. As described in the introduction, CAR is also able to act as a ligand for proteins on transmigrating leucocytes (Witherden et al., 2010, Zen et al., 2005) but the mechanisms underpinning this are unclear. In order to test the hypothesis that phosphorylation of CAR may be involved in leucocyte transmigration, a monocytic-derived cell line THP-1 (that express JAM-L) were incubated with control WT HBEC or CAR-GFP HBEC and allowed to undergo transmigration over 24 hours. In agreement with previous studies, data demonstrated that overexpression of CAR-GFP significantly increased THP-1 cell transmigration but not adhesion to the epithelial layer (Figure 4.5 a, b). Moreover, incubation with recombinant Ad5FK (Kirby et al 2000 inhibited THP-1 transmigration but had no effect on adhesion (Figure 4.5 a,b). This suggests that THP-1 migration might be dependent on the ability of CAR to homodimerise in *trans*. Alternatively, as the binding sites on CAR for JAM-L and Ad5FK overlap (Verdino et al., 2010, Witherden et al., 2010, Kirby et al., 2000), Ad5FK may inhibit THP-1 transmigration by competitively blocking THP-1 binding to CAR. Interestingly, THP-1 interaction with CAR-GFP HBEC led to a prolonged increase in pser290/thr293 CAR that peaked at around 4 hours post-THP-1 addition (Figure 4.5 c), which correlated with the time taken for THP-1 to fully integrate into HBEC monolayers.

To investigate whether this observed increase in phospho-CAR played a role in TEpM we analysed transmigration in previously described ser290/thr293 CAR phosphorylation site mutants DDCAR-GFP or AACAR-GFP as well as WT and CAR-GFP HBEC. Data demonstrated that expression of DDCAR-GFP but not

118

AACAR-GFP supported enhanced THP-1 transmigration across HBEC indicating that phosphorylation of CAR is required for this process (Figure 4.5 d). Confocal analysis further revealed that CAR-GFP and DDCAR-GFP but not AACAR-GFP were clustered around transmigrating THP-1 cells between HBEC cells (Figure 4.5 e). These data collectively demonstrate that CAR is required for efficient transmigration of leucocytes and this is promoted by phosphorylation of the CAR cytoplasmic tail.



Figure 4-5 CAR phosphorylation does not affect adhesion but promotes integration: (data from Dr. Penny Morton) (A) THP-1 Epithelial transmigration of THP-1 cells was analysed using Transwell chambers. THP-1 cells were stained using cell-tracker orange before adding to the top well of transwell inserts with WT or CARGFP-HBEC monolayers grown on top and pre-treated with BSA control or recombinant Ad5FK. After 48hours cell-tracker orange stained cells in the bottom well were counted using FACS. (B) Quantification of THP-1 adhesion to wild-type or CAR-GFP HBEC cells. HBEC cells were grown to confluence in the presence of BSA control or recombinant Ad5FK before addition of THP-1 cells stained with cell-tracker orange for 24 hours. N=4 (C) Western blot of phosphorylated CAR during THP-1 transmigration. THP-1 were applied to CARGFP HBEC monolayers for the times indicated before lysis and western blotting using antibodies against p-CAR, GFP, E-cadherin and HSC-70 as a loading control. (D) Transmigration analysis as in 1B using wild-type, CARGFP, AACARGFP and DDCARGFP HBEC. (E) Example confocal images of THP-1 cells undergoing transepithelial migration. Cell tracker orange stained THP-1 cells were added to confluent monolayers of HBEC and fixed after 24 hours before confocal imaging to obtain z-stacks. Cell tracker orange THP-1 cells (blue), CARGFP (green) and actin (red) to show the position of the HBEC are shown. Z-slice shows the location of THP-1 in relation to HBEC monolayer and recruitment of CARGFP to THP-1. Error bars are SEM. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01 ***=p<0.005.

4.2.5 TNF α induced CAR phosphorylation promotes TEpM of THP-1 cells

Given that phosphorylation of CAR can regulate THP-1 migration, and that TNF α promotes CAR phosphorylation, as we have shown, we next sought to clarify whether TNF α could promote integration of leucocytes within epithelial monolayers in a CAR-dependent manner. CAR-GFP HBEC monolayers stimulated with 10ng/ml TNF α showed significantly higher THP-1 integration after 4 hours than untreated monolayers (Fig 4.5 a). Moreover, WT HBEC (that express low levels of CAR) and AACAR-GFP HBEC did not exhibit an increase in THP-1 integration when treated with TNF α (Fig 4.5 a). These data show that phosphorylation of CAR is required for TNF α -induced transmigration of THP-1 cells. Importantly, although TNF α has been shown to promote TEM through increasing permeability of endothelial cells (Cain *et al.*, 2010). The results from the permeability experiments show that CAR-GFP expression actually reduces TNF α -mediated paracellular permeability (figure 2.3b,c). This suggests that CAR does not promote TEPM via weakening of cell-cell contacts.

THP-1 have previously been shown to secrete TNF α (Satsu *et al.*, 2006) so we next investigated whether this may act on the HBEC in a paracrine fashion to promote THP-1 transmigration. In support of this, pre-incubation of CAR-GFP HBEC with TNFR1 blocking antibodies resulted in reduced THP-1 integration into CAR-GFP HBEC monolayers (figure 4.5 b) there by confirming a requirement for TNFR1 in this process. Moreover, blocking TNFR1 inhibited both TNF α - and THP-1 induced CAR phosphorylation (figure 4.5 c, d) further demonstrating a requirement for TNF-TNFR1 engagement in controlling TNF α induced CAR phosphorylation. Taken together, these data show that TNF α secreted by THP-1 cells can induce CAR phosphorylation in epithelial cells via TNFR1 to promote THP-1 epithelial integration.

121



Figure 4-6: TNF α promotes trans-epithelial migration of THP-1 cells in a CAR dependent manner. (A) Analysis of THP-1 integration into WT, CARGFP or AACARGFP HBEC monolayers 4 hours after addition of THP-1. Where indicated, HBEC cultures were pre-treated with 10ng/ml TNF α for 1 hour prior to addition of THP-1. (B) Analysis of THP-1 integration into WT, CARGFP or AACARGFP HBEC monolayers 6 hours after addition of THP-1. Where indicated, HBEC cultures were pre-treated with 10µg/ml anti-TNFR1 blocking antibody or an isotype specific control antibody, for 1 hour prior to addition of THP-1. (C) Western blot analysis of phospho-CAR in CARGFP HBEC treated with 10ng/ml TNFR1 blocking antibody or a control antibody, and further treated with 10ng/ml TNF α where indicated. (N=3)(D) Western blot analysis of phospho-CAR in CARGFP HBEC cultured with THP-1 cells for 4 hours. Where indicated, CARGFP HBEC were treated with 10µg/ml TNFR1 blocking antibody prior to addition of THP-1 (N=3).

4.3 Discussion

In vitro data presented in this chapter provides a direct functional role for CAR in TEpM, as integration of THP-1 cells was reduced in the absence of CAR at the cell membrane. This process has previously been demonstrated in the TEpM of neutrophils through the heterophilic interaction between CAR on epithelial cells and JAM-L on neutrophils (Zen *et al.*, 2005). THP-1 cells have also been shown to contain JAM-L and their transmigration through endothelial layers was impaired when JAM-L was blocked from interacting with its likely binding partner CAR (Guo *et al.*, 2009). In the longer term this interaction is augmented by soluble JAM-L released by transmigrating neutrophils which extenuates the loss of barrier function through its binding to CAR which slows wound healing (Weber *et al.*, 2014).

Data presented here shows that CAR is only active in mediating TEpM when it can be phosphorylated at the ser290/thr293 site. This phosphorylation event was a prerequisite for TNF driven TEpM. There have been several studies to show that the presence of TNF α leads to increasing epithelial permeability through a variety of methods. This firstly includes the internalisation of the apical tight junction, thereby causing disruption of cell-cell contacts and increased solute passage (Ivanov *et al.*, 2004, Schwarz *et al.*, 2007). TNF α has also been associated with the mechanisms that control cell survival and cell death, in particular via activation of NF κ B (Saile *et al.*, 2001) however the presence of CAR had no effect on signalling to MAPK or NFkB downstream of TNF suggesting that CAR does not play a role in these pathways. Therefore TNF α may also be causing an increase in permeability via the apoptosis of epithelial cells leading to holes forming in the epithelial raft. This process has been shown to be the case in HT-29/B6 intestinal cells with a doubling of their rate of death in the presence of TNF α with a resulting fifty percent loss in their TER (Gitter *et al.*, 2000a, Gitter *et al.*, 2000b). This response is not universal, however, with multiple other studies showing the epithelium is highly conserved during cell apoptosis with cells stretching to fill any spaces caused by cell death and thereby preserving the barrier function (Madara, 1990, Madara, 1989, Moore *et al.*, 1989, Florian *et al.*, 2002). Importantly all of these events are shown to occur over a 24 hour period where as the effect on CAR at cell junctions occurs much more rapidly with phosphorylation within fifteen minutes.

Significantly, for the TEpM data, the increased permeability effect was not found to be the case in the presence of CAR, which suggests that the changing movement of leucocytes is not simply due to the physical loss of cell contacts. From the data shown this may reflect the importance of p-ser290/thr293 CAR at stabilising the junction but could it also be related to the alteration of other tight junction proteins in the presence of CAR. Occludin but not claudin-4, ZO-1 or E-cadherin for example was shown to be lost from junctions in response to TNF and IL18 in Human colonic epithelial (Caco-2) cells (Marchiando *et al.*, 2010, Lapointe and Buret, 2012). Lapointe and Buret *al*so noted that in Caco-2 cells there was no rise in permeability but there was an increase in TEpM with this occludin loss. They suggest that fine changes in epithelial barrier structure, although too subtle to alter paracellular permeability, may be of great physiological significance by accommodating leukocyte transmigration.

These subtle changes with the loss of tight junction proteins does not account for the need for CAR to be present at the epithelial membrane and capable of phosphorylation for TEpM to occur. Neutrophils are known to secrete TNF α when in contact with endothelial cells to increase vascular leakage (Finsterbusch *et al.*, 2014, Satsu *et al.*, 2006). This TNF α secretion response has implications 124 for the results seen in this chapter. THP-1 cells alone were capable of driving CAR phosphorylation but this effect was lost in the presence of a TNFR1 blocking antibody implying a similar paracrine release of TNF from THP-1 was sufficient to drive p-ser290/thr293 CAR. It was this phosphorylation effect that was shown to be necessary for THP-1 trans-migration demonstrating that CAR plays an active role in this second step in TEpM. However, this process was not associated with leakage of solute through the epithelial barrier as the presence of CAR instead reduced the expected increase in permeability. Rather than as Lapointe and Buret suggest the loss of tight junction proteins may lead to subtle structural changes enabling TEpM CAR may instead be playing a role in maintaining junction integrity so that it is still present to act as a ligand for the migration of leucocytes attracted to a site of inflammation (Lapointe and Buret, 2012).

Two alternative JAM's, endothelial cell-selective adhesion molecule (ESAM) and JAM-C in contrast have been shown to increase junctional permeability when compared to knockout mice in endothelial layers rather than the epithelium (Luissint *et al.*, 2014). This effect is associated with myosin light chain phosphorylation leading to actin contraction (Orlova and Chavakis, 2007) and therefore may explain the difference seen with CAR as its presence in inflammatory conditions appears to stabilise actin at the cell junctions rather than promote its contraction. This is an interesting finding as tight junction proteins along with the adherens junctions, are intimately linked to the peri-junctional actomyosin ring, a belt like structure formed by actin and myosin II that encircles the apical pole of epithelial cells. This belt projects actin filaments that interface with the tight junction and thus circumferential contractions of the peri-junctional actomyosin ring regulate tight junction structure and para-cellular permeability (Ulluwishewa *et al.*, 2011). It also ties into previous work that has shown that

where CAR in epithelial cells is phosphorylated E-cadherin is mobilised to cell junctions which would aid junction stability and reduce permeability (Morton et al., 2013). Although the phosphorylation of tight junction proteins does not always lead to reduced permeability as seen with ZO-1 at epithelial junctions are associated with a reduction in TEER (Stevenson et al., 1989) other JAM family members, JAM-A and JAM-2, have also been found to stabilise cell junctions. This was seen between endothelial and epithelial cells respectively and led to reduced permeability when they were phosphorylated at serine sites (Ebnet et al., 2003, Iden et al., 2012). Therefore the increased TEpM seen with pser290/thr293 CAR must be related to its interaction with the THP-1 cells rather than the general porousness of the epithelial layer. Data shown in the previous chapter also suggests that this is not a reflection of downstream signalling events as there was no alteration in the pathways associated with TNF α signalling when p-ser290/thr293 CAR occurred. Therefore the TEpM response to TNF α driven pser290/thr293 CAR may reflect an alteration in the binding of CAR to JAM-L to aid leucocyte binding and movement. The extracellular domain of JAM-A for example will bind significantly more strongly if it can occur in cis rather than in trans (Monteiro et al., 2014). Therefore if the cytoplasmic phosphorylation of CAR is having an effect on the extracellular domain then it could be mediating the impact on TEpM.

The paracrine release of TNF α from THP-1 during adhesion and the resulting CAR phosphorylation driving THP-1 migration also suggests a possible reason for the conflicting results for anti-TNF treatments in inflammatory conditions in the lungs (Erin *et al.*, 2006, Brightling *et al.*, 2002, Rennard *et al.*, 2007). These studies have only ever shown a limited response to systemic anti-TNF therapies in particular in asthma which may reflect that the movement of inflammatory cells

that drive the disease can be released by the cells themselves and act over very short distances by controlling tight junction proteins such as CAR that are found in the adjacent epithelial cells.

In conclusion, these results support a novel mechanism where CAR can control TEpM of leucocytes through its own post-translational modification in response to a TNF α inflammatory stimulus. These findings implicate CAR as an important mediator of immune cell recruitment to sites of epithelial inflammation.

5 Inflammation leads to CAR phosphorylation and immune cell migration *in vivo*

5.1 Introduction

The conclusions drawn from the last two chapters have been based on the use of immortalised cell lines. The understanding of the importance of CAR in inflammation is limited and therefore many of the fundamental principles underlying any role it may play are unknown. In vitro models are essential in the development of any understanding of these principles and have been widely used previously in the study of epithelial junctional dynamics in asthma (Xiao et al., 2011, Hackett et al., 2011). These cells were used as they allowed for stable expression of CAR in a controlled and reproducible form. In so doing the fundamental biology of CAR could be interrogated. Primary cells in in vitro models provide a closer reflection of living systems as they have not been manipulated in such a way as to ensure immortality. However, they have been shown to exhibit a high degree of variability between donors, experiments, and passage, particularly with respect to development of epithelial junctional stability (Stewart et al., 2012). Primary cells are also costly and therefore unsuitable for large scale experiments, have a finite lifespan and can be difficult to manipulate as required by these experiments to alter the formation of the CAR cytoplasmic tail. Immortalised cell lines therefore represent an attractive alternative to investigate basic biological principles.

Nevertheless, there remains concern that immortalised cells do not replicate living systems. Animal models have been established as providing additional relevant information for our understanding of inflammatory conditions in the complex interactions that occur in the human lung (Vargaftig, 1999, Hraiech et al., 2015, Erle and Sheppard, 2014). This chapter therefore addresses the physiological relevance of CAR in respiratory inflammation by testing the conclusions of the preceding two sections in animal models.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Mouse lung response to acute inflammatory stimulation

The initial experiments investigating a role for CAR phosphorylation in leucocyte transmigration in response to inflammatory conditions were all performed *In-vitro* but suggest at a physiologically relevant response. Following the finding that the CAR phosphorylation response *in vitro* occurs rapidly in response to TNF α a mouse model was chosen to reflect an acute inflammatory response. The inflammatory conditions were provided by intranasal inhalation of TNF α 24 hours prior to animal sacrifice. This challenge led to a significant response in the mouse lung with a rise in the number of neutrophils seen in the peri-bronchial region (figure 5.1) and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid (figure 5.2).

Importantly this increase in neutrophil egression measured in bronchoalveolar lavage and by H&E staining in the same animals corresponded with a dramatic increase in CAR phosphorylation at junctions between small airway epithelial cells as detected by immunohistochemical staining of fixed lung tissue (figure 5.3 a). This was not due to increased presence of total CAR at tight junctions in response to TNF α stimulation, as equivalent amounts of CAR was seen at junctions in both the PBS control mice and the TNF stimulation group (figure 5.3 b). These data are therefore suggestive that CAR, which is present at tight junctions during resting conditions in the lung, is being phosphorylated in inflammatory conditions.

129

Further analysis of lung tissue revealed that 24 hours following TNF α stimulation there was no clear change in localisation of other epithelial junctional markers including P120, ZO-1 and E-cadherin (figure 5.4 a,b,c). This would suggest that the epithelium remains intact and the change in neutrophil number seen in the BAL data is not a reflection of the loss of the epithelial barrier effect but instead an active process that allows for leucocyte egression.

These data show that CAR phosphorylation and neutrophil recruitment into the broncho-alveolar spaces occur at similar time-frames and similar locations in the lung suggesting that exogenously applied TNF α stimulates CAR phosphorylation and promotes migration of leucocytes in the bronchial lumen.



Figure 5-1 Acute inflammatory mouse model with increased neutrophil presence in response to TNF stimulation. A) Mouse lung sections of either TNF or PBS stimulated animals. Neutrophils marked with black arrows in the tissue space and leukocytes migrating through the epithelial layer marked by white arrows. Scale bars are 50µm.

Mouse BAL cell count



Figure 5-2: Acute inflammatory mouse model with increased neutrophil presence in response to TNF stimulation. Flow cytometry results from the bronchiolar lavage results of the pooled data from the control and treatment groups (n=6 per group). Error bars are SEM and ** =p0.009



Figure 5-3: Mouse lung model of acute TNF α stimulation leads to CAR phosphorylation. A) p-ser290/thr293 CAR staining (green) of mouse lung tissue following TNF stimulation or PBS control. Nuclei are shown in blue. Zoomed images of individual cells shown in each corner B) CAR staining of the same mouse lung tissue following TNF or PBS treatment showing no variation in CAR expression. Images representative of 6 mouse lungs. Scale bars represent 10µm.



Figure 5-4: Junction marker staining is unaltered in an acute inflammatory mouse lung model. A) P120 staining. B) ZO-1 staining. C) E-cadherin staining. All antibodies in green, blue are DAPI staining (nuclei). Images representative of 6 mouse lungs. Scale bars represent 10µm.

5.2.2 Mouse lung response to TNF α in the presence of Ad5FK

The initial *in vivo* data demonstrated a correlation between the phosphorylation of CAR and increased transmigration of neutrophils in response to TNF α stimulation but did not provide a causal link between the two. To determine whether this is the case, the experiments were repeated but with the additional inclusion of mice pre-treated with intra-nasal inhalation with Ad5FK. Ad5FK was used as it had been shown to both block p-ser290/thr293 CAR (figure 3.13) and CAR mediated THP-1 migration (figure 4.5 a). Analysis of immune cell infiltration revealed that the presence of Ad5FK resulted in a significant reduction in the number of neutrophils found in the BAL (Figure 5.5). This implies that blocking CAR homodimerisation and phosphorylation leads to reduced leucocyte transmigration through the epithelial layer and into the airways in response to TNF α stimulation.

Interestingly the *in vitro* experiments used the THP-1 cell line which was derived from the blood of a patient with acute monocytic leukaemia. These cells therefore are used to model monocyte or macrophage responses *in vitro*. As a cell line THP-1 cells are useful as they have a homogenous genetic history thereby ensuring a reproducible response. They, however, do have some differences in their response when compared to primary monocyte or macrophage cells, including the effect of the cytokines such as IL 10 and IL 27 (Qin, 2012). This could be the cause for the difference shown with the *in vivo* data which shows that there is a stronger response from neutrophils rather than macrophages.

135



Figure 5-5 Acute inflammatory mouse model with loss of increased neutrophil presence in response to TNF stimulation with the addition of Ad5FK. Flow cytometry results from the bronchiolar lavage results of the pooled data from the control and treatment groups (n=4 per group). Error bars are SEM and * = p0.029

5.2.3 Mouse lung response to chronic inflammatory stimulation

To further evaluate the effect of CAR activity on lung inflammation an alternative mouse model was used to reproduce chronic inflammatory conditions. The Ovalbumin challenge model of chronic lung inflammation was used. Although it does not exclusively drive TNF α stimulation it is well established as providing a reflection of many of the findings seen in asthmatic conditions in the lung (Kumar *et al.*, 2008, Nials and Uddin, 2008). These experiments were carried out in the lab of Dr Gisli Jenkins (University of Nottingham) and fixed tissues and protein samples provided to us for analysis.

H&E staining of the mouse lung tissue demonstrates significant architectural changes in response to the ovalbumin challenge (figure 5.6 a,b). This response is driven by extensive peri-vascular and peri-bronchiolar leucocyte infiltration (figure 5.7 a,b) reflecting the strong inflammatory response generated by this model. The leucocytes seen were predominantly macrophages and neutrophils as highlighted in figure 5.7b.

Further immunostaining revealed that, as seen with the acute inflammatory model, a strong CAR p-ser290/thr293 increase was observed at the cell membrane of epithelial cells associated with an influx of inflammatory cells (figure 5.7).



Figure 5-6: H&E staining of ovalbumin treated mouse lung. A) H&E staining of widefield view of PBS and ovalbumin mouse lungs. B) H&E stained images focused on small airways. Images representative of 6 mouse lungs.

Ovalbumin stimulation



Figure 5-7: H&E staining of ovalbumin treated mouse lung (Higher magnification). A,B) H&E stained images focused on leukocyte cell types in the sub epithelial zone in mouse lung tissue. Representative neutrophils highlighted with white arrows and macrophages with black arrows. Images representative of 6 mouse lungs.



Figure 5-8: Confocal imaging of CAR phosphorylation of mouse epithelium in response to ova stimulation. A) Imaging for p-ser290/thr293 CAR in ovalbumin treated mouse lung with a zoomed image of epithelial junctions. B) Confocal imaging of CAR in ova albumin treated mice. Images representative of 6 mouse lungs.

5.3 Discussion

This thesis set out to determine whether CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α is of physiological relevance through CAR's known interaction with leucocytes during TEpM.

The *in vivo* models used mice as the animal system which does lead to limitations in its possible application in human biology. In particular mice do not naturally suffer with inflammatory conditions such as asthma and as such model systems looking to recreate similar inflammatory lung states require artificial sensitisation. Therefore an alternative tissue engineered model using human epithelial cells in combination with other parenchymal cells to develop artificial human lung equivalents may provide additional relevant data (Bucchieri *et al.*, 2012). However, the two mouse models used here both show that CAR is phosphorylated at cell membranes during inflammatory conditions. The fact both mouse strains demonstrate a CAR phosphorylation response implies a consistent physiologically relevant response which is important given previous reports that the genetic background of the mouse strain can significantly affect the presence and function of specific junctional proteins (Schenkel *et al.*, 2004, Woodfin *et al.*, 2009).

It is also interesting to note that the phosphorylation effect is maintained despite chronic inflammatory stimulation. Vincent *et al.* have previously shown that CAR mRNA levels in vascular endothelial cells are reduced following prolonged exposure to both TNF α and IFN γ but not immortalised A549 respiratory epithelial cells (Vincent *et al.*, 2004). Therefore the suggested feedback mechanism in response to inflammation caused by the loss of CAR in endothelial cells does not appear to occur in the mouse lung epithelium as CAR was still

present and phosphorylated at the cell membranes despite prolonged inflammation. This consequently indicates that CAR may play a role in chronic inflammatory conditions in the lung and more specifically this role is relevant to the epithelium rather than the endothelium as there is no down regulation of its expression in these cells.

The significance of CAR phosphorylation in response to TNF α is difficult to prove In vivo as the mouse model by its very nature is a complex system. Confirming a direct link between CAR phosphorylation and TEpM would be greatly enhanced by studying this in a CAR knockout model. This in itself would be challenging as a CAR knockout is a lethal mutation by day 12 in mouse embryonic development (Chen et al., 2006). Therefore a lung conditional knockout mouse using either a Cre/loxP or Flp/FRT system would be required to ensure a spatial and temporal specific effect (Hall et al., 2009). Data here shows a correlation between increased neutrophil migration and CAR phosphorylation and combined with our in vitro data suggests a link between these two events. The in vivo neutrophil response to TNF α is reduced in the presence of Ad5FK showing that CAR is required for TNF α stimulated egression in the lung and suggests that CAR homerdimerisation at the cell membrane is required. This supports a role for CAR phosphorylation as this was shown to be blocked in the presence of Ad5FK. However since Ad5FK binds CAR on the same domain as JAM-L this result may also reflect competitive binding preventing the interaction of leukocyte proteins with CAR.

6 Discussion

6.1 CAR phosphorylation in inflammatory conditions

In this thesis I have set out to determine whether there is a physiological relevance for the two previously published, and one putative phosphorylation sites on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR during the inflammatory response in lung epithelial cells. Threonine290 and serine293 sites can be phosphorylated in response to inhibition of phosphatases (Morton et al., 2013) and we additionally identified a putative phosphorylation site at tyr269. Phosphorylation of the threonine290/serine293 sites was shown to control stability of E-Cadherin at the cell membrane (Morton *et al.*, 2013). This finding suggested a possible function for these phosphorylation sites during both the normal inflammatory response and in disease as once at the cell membrane E-cadherin would be able to stabilise epithelial junctions and maintain its barrier function. This is of particular relevance to inflammatory conditions in the lung such as asthma as previous work has shown a down regulation of junctional proteins including E-Cadherin (Xiao et al., 2011). Therefore, phosphorylation of these sites during inflammation would indicate a potentially important role for CAR in the inflammatory processes. However, the importance in the overall function of CAR within the cell, and interaction with other cells, was not been clearly established.

Data presented in this thesis is the first to demonstrate that CAR phosphorylation can be triggered by an inflammatory stimulus, in particular in response to the proinflammatory cytokines TNF α and IL-5. TNF α is a pleotropic cytokine with multiple effects on almost all differentiated cells including the epithelium. In particular TNF α has been shown to have multiple effects on tight junction proteins in both epithelial and endothelial cells including causing the
internalisation of proteins such as JAM-1, occludin, and claudin-1 and 4 (Al-Sadi et al., 2009, Feng and Teitelbaum, 2013), which contributes to control of junction stability in these cells. This suggests that CAR phosphorylation downstream of TNF may play a role in the inflammatory cascade, possibly through control of Ecadherin and junction integrity. As outlined in the introduction this is also of particularly relevance in the respiratory epithelium as those patients with severe steroid resistant asthma can have their airway hyper-responsiveness controlled by TNF α inhibition with etanercept (Holgate, 2010, Morjaria *et al.*, 2008, Howarth et al., 2005, Berry et al., 2006). This effect is not universal, though, (Erin et al., 2006, Brightling et al., 2002) and may reflect the time dependent effect seen in the *in-vitro* data where phosphorylation in response to cytokines was lost after a few hours. This transient phosphorylation event implies a method of auto regulation to prevent an uncontrolled inflammatory response as it is self-limiting. However, CAR phosphorylation was still evident in our chronic inflammation model suggesting that this autoregulation does not happen in cases of chronic stimulation of airway inflammation. This challenges previous work that found alternative junctional proteins, including ZO-1, occludin and E-cadherin were downregulated in patients with asthma (de Boer et al., 2008, Xiao et al., 2011). This may reflect the difference in the model system used which relied on recurrent stimulation of normal tissue compared to the intrinsically abnormal cells seen in asthmatic airways. Previous work has shown down regulation of CAR expression following chronic exposure to TNF α and Inf y (Vincent *et al.*, 2004). However, these observations were not reproduced when the same experiments were performed in respiratory cells (Vincent *et al.*, 2004). Therefore there may be specific response seen in the lung epithelium that enables CAR а

phosphorylation to be maintained in chronic inflammatory conditions such asthma.

This contrasts with IL-5, the other cytokine shown to cause phosphorylation of the same sites on CAR. IL-5 is associated with TH2 derived inflammatory responses and in particular acts as a chemo-attractant to eosinophils. The results shown here confirm previous reports which showed that IL-5 activates PKCo activity thereby suggesting that IL-5 could use a similar pathway to TNF to drive phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR (Bankers-Fulbright et al., 2001). Its activation of PKC δ could also point to a possible synergistic effect with TNF α as both cytokines would be driving the same pathway. IL-5, however, has not previously been shown to have any effect on epithelial cells (Al-Sadi et al., 2009). The IL-5 receptor has never been identified on epithelial cells and therefore the physiological relevance of IL-5 in the phosphorylation of CAR may be limited. IL-5 does act as a chemoattractant to eosinophils in particular therefore its phosphorylation effect may be of more relevance to endothelial cells to aid eosinophilic extravasation and accumulation in tissues. In this position a synergistic effect with the pro-inflammatory TNF α could lead to a rapid extravasation of leukocytes. The work in this thesis did not extend to the endothelium as the focus was the role that CAR can play in the complex function of the respiratory epithelium. However, further work could concentrate on its function within endothelial cells, particularly with reference to determining whether there is an additive effect of using both IL 5 and TNF α together.

Several alternative cytokines were also tested to determine whether they also drove the phosphorylation of CAR at the serine/threonine sites. As shown none of these other cytokines caused CAR phosphorylation despite their well-established role during inflammation of the lung epithelium, in particular in patients with 145 asthma. IFN y and IL-17 have also been shown to activate PI-3K showing that activating PI3K is not sufficient to drive CAR phosphorylation (McKay et al., 2007, Prasad et al., 2005). The fact that TNF controls CAR phosphorylation in these conditions suggests that the activation of CAR occurs in a targeted and therefore controllable and adjustable manner. The lack of response to these cytokines may also reflect a difference in organ specificity. Section one highlighted the difference seen in organ expression of CAR. The response from PI-3K to IFN y was seen in intestinal cells which are known to express CAR and which may respond differently to cytokines than airway epithelial cells (McKay et al., 2007). As yet CAR phosphorylation in the intestine has not been investigated and would be an interesting avenue to pursue further. It also supports the proposed pathway requiring the stimulation of both PI-3K and PKC δ . Theoretically the two processes could act independently to drive CAR phosphorylation. The previously reported PI-3K response to IFNγ and IL-17 would imply that they should be able to drive CAR phosphorylation if this kinase alone was required. Given that they do not have this ability therefore there is likely to be an additional necessity for PKC δ to work in sequence.

The serine and threonine phosphorylation response contrasts with that seen at the tyrosine site. Previously TNF has been shown to drive tyrosine phosphorylation on the junction protein, P120 in endothelial cells (Angelini *et al.*, 2006) but it does not appear to cause a similar effect with CAR. There are multiple alternative cytokines that could instead drive phosphorylation of the tyrosine site and further work would need to be undertaken to establish whether this is the case. It would also be interesting to determine whether any cytokine response was cell type specific as the P120 data was confined to an endothelial cell line as opposed to the epithelial cells used in this study.

6.2 Phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR controls CARdependent leucocyte transmigration.

The necessity for CAR to be present at the cell membrane to facilitate the transmigration of leucocytes has previously been established (Zen et al., 2005, Witherden et al., 2010, Verdino et al., 2010). However, these previous studies have failed to show whether CAR plays an active role in controlling this movement or is simply a passive intermediary. Work presented in this thesis demonstrates that the phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail facilitates TEpM. These data demonstrate that the CAR cytoplasmic tail is phosphorylated during TEpM and where this is prevented the efficiency of TEpM is reduced. By so doing control of the cytoplasmic domain of CAR has an active role in TEpM thereby placing the tail in a new role in mediating the inflammatory cascade. As described, CAR is activated in inflammatory conditions and this has the added effect of controlling the physiologically relevant function of TEpM of leucocytes that is required for an ongoing inflammatory response. In so doing it emphasises the concept of the mesenchymal trophic unit in the pathogenesis of asthma (Holgate et al., 2000). This concept emphasises the key role played by the epithelium in the control of the pathogenic mechanism seen in asthma through direct contact of leucocytes with the inflammatory stimulus.

This data may provide an explanation for the wide range of responses to TNF α inhibitors observed in the treatment of patients with asthma. There is a known paracrine release of TNF α by transmigrating leucocytes (Finsterbusch *et al.*, 2014) which is likely to cause local phosphorylation of proteins such as CAR thereby altering junctional complexes at a very local level. Given their proximity to the individual junctions when released it would be difficult to prevent their effect with the systemic anti-TNF α therapies used in current clinical studies (Erin *et al.*,

2006, Brightling et al., 2002, Rennard et al., 2007). To ensure a sufficient local response to therapy a high treatment dose would be required leading to the previously observed associated complications of systemic anti-TNF α therapy (Wenzel et al., 2009). However, by targeting the phosphorylation site on the cytoplasmic tail of CAR some of the inflammatory effects of TNF α may be prevented without the associated complications of inhibiting it's intended other functions. The acute mouse model supports this as a future treatment model as the use of Ad5FK was sufficient to reduce the number of neutrophils in the airway. Use of Ad5FK may not be ideal since it also reduced CAR homodimerisation and in doing so may destabilise epithelial cell junctions. An alternative might be to instead target the upstream factors in the pathway to CAR phosphorylation to overcome some of these difficulties, including PKC δ , PI3K and the TNF α /TNFR1 complex. PKC δ could theoretically provide one option as it has previously been inhibited in order to potentiate the effect of chemotherapy with significant benefits in vivo (Pabla et al., 2011). These findings though have failed to lead to a clinically effective treatment as importantly the inhibitors so far developed struggle to have specific effects on particular PKC isoforms and as a result have had many unintended off target effects (Mochly-Rosen et al., 2012). The targeting of the alternative kinase PI3K also has the issue of unintended off target effects. As a member of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway it has multiple roles in cellular function and therefore its inhibition has been clinically unhelpful in previous trials (Rodon et al., 2013). Treatment of lung conditions can be undertaken via inhaled therapies, though, which reduces the systemic burden thereby reducing side effects. The mouse experiments in this thesis demonstrate that this could be used to prevent the phosphorylation CAR by administration of inhaled Ad5FK. As outlined the use of Ad5FK will lead to preferential binding to the extracellular domain of CAR thereby preventing CAR homodimerisation *in trans* but an alternative could be to use inhaled treatments to target the respiratory system and block the binding of TNF α to its receptor with the resulting loss of CAR phosphorylation.

Identifying those patients in whom such treatment would be helpful to its resultant efficacy. Our understanding of many diseases such as asthma has significantly increased over the last decade and with it has come an increased awareness of the heterogeneity of these diseases. This is of particular relevance in this model of disease as the response from CAR seems to be confined to a limited range of cytokines and *in vivo* is specific to the function of neutrophils. Therefore future work would need access to multiple samples from patients with a variety different pathologies to determine firstly whether there is abnormal function of CAR in their conditions and to use primary airway cells to compare the response to different stimuli and treatments.

6.3 Potential mechanisms for CAR mediated TEpM.

A link between the cytoplasmic tail of CAR and its extra cellular domain has not been investigated so it remains unclear how blocking CAR homo-dimerisation might alter events at the cytoplasmic face of the cell. In particular the interaction with the extracellular domain and other members of the JAM family during TEpM has been reported as a passive process (Zen *et al.*, 2005, Verdino *et al.*, 2010, Witherden *et al.*, 2010). Data presented in this thesis clearly demonstrate that phosphorylation of either or both the CAR serine/threonine sites results in an increase in TEpM. This may reflect a conformational change in the CAR extra cellular domain to improve its ability to heterodimerise with alternative JAM family members. TNF α has been shown to signal through phosphorylation and conformational change of Pin1 binding to p47phox previously (Boussetta *et al.*, 2010). This process of conformational change would require a significant alteration of the protein to occur across the epithelial cell membrane which is not an effect that has been specifically shown in previous studies of CAR. However, our previously published work demonstrated a band shift in the western blot analysis of CAR in response to its phosphorylation which may indicate conformation change (Morton *et al.*, 2013). A conformational change in the extra cellular domain of CAR may also switch CAR from favouring homodimerisation to hetero-dimerisation with neutrophil expressed JAM-L, thereby facilitating TEpM. This process of altering the barrier function of the epithelium through the phosphorylation of a tight junction protein in order to aid its binding to other junctional proteins has been seen with occludin highlighting this as a possible mechanism (Cummins, 2012). However, to date conformational changes in CAR have not been reported.

An alternative method for this process may instead relate to its role in the junctional complex and the impact this has on stability. This response to TNF α has previously been associated with other members of the tight junction complex as occludin, claudin 1, claudin 4 and JAM-1 have all been found to internalise in detergent insoluble membrane microdomains in epithelial cells (Ivanov *et al.*, 2004). We have shown that when the pSer/293 and pThr/290 sites are activated there is an alteration in the composition of the junctional complex with an associated alteration in E-Cadherin in adherens junctions (Morton *et al.*, 2013). This process could in turn ensure the passage of leucocytes between epithelial cells would be easier as they would meet less resistance. This process where epithelial junctions 'unzip' in the presence of phosphorylated CAR to facilitate TEpM is partially contradicted by the paracellular permeability data. This has

150

shown that the presence of CAR reduced the known effect of TNF α on junctional permeability.

Transmigration is a controlled process requiring the leucocyte to move through the epithelium by interacting and binding to individual epithelial cells. Therefore although the junctions may not be disrupted in such a way as to cause increased solute permeability they may instead be primed to facilitate the passage of whole leucocyte cells. Additional work undertaken within the group has specifically looked at the role of threonine290 and serine293 phosphorylation of CAR in junction permeability (S. Raghavan, unpublished data). In these experiments an epithelial layer comprising either CAR-GFP cells or AACAR-GFP cells were treated with TNF α and the cell junctions imaged. Interestingly the AACAR-GFP cell junctions were maintained for significantly longer before disassociating in the presence of TNF α suggesting that although the presence of CAR may limit the impact of TNF α on epithelial barrier permeability this effect is reduced when the cytoplasmic tail is phosphorylated.

Finally, the observed increase in TEpM following phosphorylation of CAR in response to TNF α may be due to downstream cell signalling. TNF α has been shown to activate the Rho GTPase pathway leading to an alteration in the actin cytoskeleton that promotes junction permeability (Mong et al., 2008). Although this was undertaken in endothelial cells and led to increased permeability of the vascular system its relevance is supported by previous work from the group that showed a significant increase in Rho FRET efficiency in CAR-GFP cells when compared to wild type cells and interestingly in the AACAR-GFP mutants where the cytoplasmic tail of CAR is altered. TNF α stimulation of Rho has also been shown to drive MAPK to cause permeability changes (Nwariaku et al., 2003).These findings are, unlikely be relevant to CAR however, to

151

phosphorylation at the threonine290 and serine293 sites as the data showed that MAPK activity was unaltered by the presence or absence of phosphorylated CAR. An alternative pathway that is known to be associated with endothelial permeability and Rho activity in response to TNF is MRCK (Vandenbroucke *et al.*, 2008). Although this is again focused on endothelial cells, mass spectrometry analysis of phosphorylated CAR undertaken by the group shows an association with MRCK. It would therefore be interesting to determine whether TNF induced CAR phosphorylation leads to an increase in MRCK activity or binding to CAR. However, despite findings showing that Rho and MRCK are activated in the presence of TNF their inhibition does not prevent an increase in permeability (McKenzie and Ridley, 2007). In this case loss of permeability was maintained by a loss of the tight junction proteins JAM-A and occludin at junctions which may suggest that the presence of CAR itself at the junction along with its interaction with other junctional proteins plays a more significant role than its effect on downstream signalling.

6.4 Conclusion

In summary these results are the first to show that the cytoplasmic tail of CAR is responsible for the extra cellular function of the protein and significantly that this process is activated in inflammatory conditions. Significantly, this provides CAR with a new role in the immune response that can be manipulated to the control its effect. The model system in figure 5.1 highlights the steps that have been identified in this process and importantly includes the inhibition of the pSer/293 and pThr/290 phosphorylation of CAR in the presence the Ad5FK. Given that this in turn results in the inhibition of neutrophil transmigration in the mouse model it demonstrates a novel target mechanism for possible control of inflammation in a variety of disease states.



Figure 6-1: Proposed model for phosphorylation of CAR leading to transepithelial migration of leucocytes.

1) Systemic TNF binds to the TNF receptor to trigger serine/threonine phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic tail of CAR via PI-3K and PKC δ enabling leucocyte transmigration possibly through alteration of other junctional proteins.

2) The same pathway is activated by TNF release from the transmigrating leucocytes. 3) Transmigration is prevented in the presence of adenovirus fibre knob which both prevents the homerdimerisation of CAR due to competitive binding and blocks JAM-L binding to CAR.

7 References

- AHDIEH, M., VANDENBOS, T. & YOUAKIM, A. 2001. Lung epithelial barrier function and wound healing are decreased by IL-4 and IL-13 and enhanced by IFN-gamma. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 281, C2029-38.
- AL-SADI, R., BOIVIN, M. & MA, T. 2009. Mechanism of cytokine modulation of epithelial tight junction barrier. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed),* 14, 2765-78.
- AL-SADI, R., YE, D., DOKLADNY, K. & MA, T. Y. 2008. Mechanism of IL-1beta-induced increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability. *J Immunol*, 180, 5653-61.
- ANDERSON, J. M. & VAN ITALLIE, C. M. 2009. Physiology and function of the tight junction. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 1, a002584.
- ANDREEVA, A. Y., PIONTEK, J., BLASIG, I. E. & UTEPBERGENOV, D. I. 2006. Assembly of tight junction is regulated by the antagonism of conventional and novel protein kinase C isoforms. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 38, 222-33.
- ANGELINI, D. J., HYUN, S. W., GRIGORYEV, D. N., GARG, P., GONG, P., SINGH, I. S., PASSANITI, A., HASDAY, J. D. & GOLDBLUM, S. E. 2006. TNF-alpha increases tyrosine phosphorylation of vascular endothelial cadherin and opens the paracellular pathway through fyn activation in human lung endothelia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 291, L1232-45.
- AOKI, K., YAMADA, M., KUNIDA, K., YASUDA, S. & MATSUDA, M. 2011. Processive phosphorylation of ERK MAP kinase in mammalian cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 12675-80.
- ARRATE, M. P., RODRIGUEZ, J. M., TRAN, T. M., BROCK, T. A. & CUNNINGHAM, S. A. 2001. Cloning of human junctional adhesion molecule 3 (JAM3) and its identification as the JAM2 counter-receptor. J Biol Chem, 276, 45826-32.
- BAERT, F. J. & RUTGEERTS, P. R. 1999. Anti-TNF strategies in Crohn's disease: mechanisms, clinical effects, indications. *Int J Colorectal Dis*, 14, 47-51.
- BANKERS-FULBRIGHT, J. L., KITA, H., GLEICH, G. J. & O'GRADY, S. M. 2001. Regulation of human eosinophil NADPH oxidase activity: a central role for PKCdelta. *J Cell Physiol*, 189, 306-15.
- BARALDO, S., TURATO, G., BAZZAN, E., BALLARIN, A., DAMIN, M., BALESTRO, E., LOKAR
 OLIANI, K., CALABRESE, F., MAESTRELLI, P., SNIJDERS, D., BARBATO, A. & SAETTA,
 M. 2011. Noneosinophilic asthma in children: relation with airway remodelling. *Eur Respir J*, 38, 575-83.
- BAUD, V. & KARIN, M. 2001. Signal transduction by tumor necrosis factor and its relatives. *Trends Cell Biol*, 11, 372-7.
- BERGELSON, J. M., CUNNINGHAM, J. A., DROGUETT, G., KURT-JONES, E. A., KRITHIVAS, A., HONG, J. S., HORWITZ, M. S., CROWELL, R. L. & FINBERG, R. W. 1997. Isolation of a common receptor for Coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses 2 and 5. *Science*, 275, 1320-3.
- BERGELSON, J. M., KRITHIVAS, A., CELI, L., DROGUETT, G., HORWITZ, M. S., WICKHAM, T., CROWELL, R. L. & FINBERG, R. W. 1998. The murine CAR homolog is a receptor for coxsackie B viruses and adenoviruses. J Virol, 72, 415-9.
- BERRY, M., BRIGHTLING, C., PAVORD, I. & WARDLAW, A. 2007. TNF-alpha in asthma. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, **7**, 279-82.
- BERRY, M. A., HARGADON, B., SHELLEY, M., PARKER, D., SHAW, D. E., GREEN, R. H., BRADDING, P., BRIGHTLING, C. E., WARDLAW, A. J. & PAVORD, I. D. 2006.

Evidence of a role of tumor necrosis factor alpha in refractory asthma. *N Engl J Med*, 354, 697-708.

- BEWLEY, M. C., SPRINGER, K., ZHANG, Y. B., FREIMUTH, P. & FLANAGAN, J. M. 1999. Structural analysis of the mechanism of adenovirus binding to its human cellular receptor, CAR. *Science*, 286, 1579-83.
- BOIVIN, M. A., ROY, P. K., BRADLEY, A., KENNEDY, J. C., RIHANI, T. & MA, T. Y. 2009. Mechanism of interferon-gamma-induced increase in T84 intestinal epithelial tight junction. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 29, 45-54.
- BOUSHEY, H. A. & HOLTZMAN, M. J. 1985. Experimental airway inflammation and hyperreactivity. Searching for cells and mediators. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 131, 312-3.
- BOUSSETTA, T., GOUGEROT-POCIDALO, M. A., HAYEM, G., CIAPPELLONI, S., RAAD, H., ARABI DERKAWI, R., BOURNIER, O., KROVIARSKI, Y., ZHOU, X. Z., MALTER, J. S., LU, P. K., BARTEGI, A., DANG, P. M. & EL-BENNA, J. 2010. The prolyl isomerase Pin1 acts as a novel molecular switch for TNF-alpha-induced priming of the NADPH oxidase in human neutrophils. *Blood*, 116, 5795-802.
- BOWLES, K. R., GIBSON, J., WU, J., SHAFFER, L. G., TOWBIN, J. A. & BOWLES, N. E. 1999. Genomic organization and chromosomal localization of the human Coxsackievirus B-adenovirus receptor gene. *Hum Genet*, 105, 354-9.
- BRADFIELD, P. F., NOURSHARGH, S., AURRAND-LIONS, M. & IMHOF, B. A. 2007. JAM family and related proteins in leukocyte migration (Vestweber series). *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 2104-12.
- BRIGHTLING, C. E., BRADDING, P., SYMON, F. A., HOLGATE, S. T., WARDLAW, A. J. & PAVORD, I. D. 2002. Mast-cell infiltration of airway smooth muscle in asthma. *N Engl J Med*, 346, 1699-705.
- BRUEWER, M., UTECH, M., IVANOV, A. I., HOPKINS, A. M., PARKOS, C. A. & NUSRAT, A. 2005. Interferon-gamma induces internalization of epithelial tight junction proteins via a macropinocytosis-like process. *FASEB J*, 19, 923-33.
- BRUNING, A. & RUNNEBAUM, I. B. 2003. CAR is a cell-cell adhesion protein in human cancer cells and is expressionally modulated by dexamethasone, TNFalpha, and TGFbeta. *Gene Ther*, 10, 198-205.
- BUCCHIERI, F., FUCARINO, A., MARINO GAMMAZZA, A., PITRUZZELLA, A., MARCIANO, V., PADERNI, C., DE CARO, V., SIRAGUSA, M. G., LO MUZIO, L., HOLGATE, S. T., DAVIES, D. E., FARINA, F., ZUMMO, G., KUDO, Y., GIANNOLA, I. L. & CAMPISI, G.
 2012. Medium-term culture of normal human oral mucosa: a novel threedimensional model to study the effectiveness of drugs administration. *Curr Pharm Des*, 18, 5421-30.
- BURNS, A. R., SMITH, C. W. & WALKER, D. C. 2003. Unique structural features that influence neutrophil emigration into the lung. *Physiol Rev*, 83, 309-36.
- BURNS, A. R., TAKEI, F. & DOERSCHUK, C. M. 1994. Quantitation of ICAM-1 expression in mouse lung during pneumonia. *J Immunol*, 153, 3189-98.
- CAIN, R. J., VANHAESEBROECK, B. & RIDLEY, A. J. 2010. The PI3K p110alpha isoform regulates endothelial adherens junctions via Pyk2 and Rac1. *J Cell Biol*, 188, 863-76.
- CELI, A., CIANCHETTI, S., PETRUZZELLI, S., CARNEVALI, S., BALIVA, F. & GIUNTINI, C. 1999. ICAM-1-independent adhesion of neutrophils to phorbol ester-stimulated human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol*, 277, L465-71.
- CHEN, J. W., GHOSH, R., FINBERG, R. W. & BERGELSON, J. M. 2003. Structure and chromosomal localization of the murine coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor gene. *DNA Cell Biol*, 22, 253-9.

- CHEN, J. W., ZHOU, B., YU, Q. C., SHIN, S. J., JIAO, K., SCHNEIDER, M. D., BALDWIN, H. S. & BERGELSON, J. M. 2006. Cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor results in hyperplasia of the embryonic left ventricle and abnormalities of sinuatrial valves. *Circ Res*, 98, 923-30.
- CHEN, Z., WANG, Q., SUN, J., GU, A., JIN, M., SHEN, Z., QIU, Z., WANG, J., WANG, X., ZHAN, Z. & LI, J. W. 2013. Expression of the coxsackie and adenovirus receptor in human lung cancers. *Tumour Biol*, 34, 17-24.
- CITI, S. 1992. Protein kinase inhibitors prevent junction dissociation induced by low extracellular calcium in MDCK epithelial cells. *J Cell Biol*, 117, 169-78.
- COHEN, C. J., SHIEH, J. T., PICKLES, R. J., OKEGAWA, T., HSIEH, J. T. & BERGELSON, J. M. 2001. The coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor is a transmembrane component of the tight junction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 15191-6.
- COHEN, S. G. 1997. Asthma among the famous. Henry Hyde Salter (1823-1871), British physician. *Allergy Asthma Proc*, 18, 256-8.
- COYNE, C. B. & BERGELSON, J. M. 2005. CAR: a virus receptor within the tight junction. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 57, 869-82.
- COYNE, C. B., VANHOOK, M. K., GAMBLING, T. M., CARSON, J. L., BOUCHER, R. C. & JOHNSON, L. G. 2002. Regulation of airway tight junctions by proinflammatory cytokines. *Mol Biol Cell*, 13, 3218-34.
- CUMMINS, P. M. 2012. Occludin: one protein, many forms. Mol Cell Biol, 32, 242-50.
- CUNNINGHAM, S. A., ARRATE, M. P., RODRIGUEZ, J. M., BJERCKE, R. J., VANDERSLICE, P., MORRIS, A. P. & BROCK, T. A. 2000. A novel protein with homology to the junctional adhesion molecule. Characterization of leukocyte interactions. J Biol Chem, 275, 34750-6.
- DAVIES, D. E. 2009. The role of the epithelium in airway remodeling in asthma. *Proc Am Thorac Soc,* 6, 678-82.
- DE BOER, W. I., SHARMA, H. S., BAELEMANS, S. M., HOOGSTEDEN, H. C., LAMBRECHT, B. N. & BRAUNSTAHL, G. J. 2008. Altered expression of epithelial junctional proteins in atopic asthma: possible role in inflammation. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 86, 105-12.
- DORNER, A. A., WEGMANN, F., BUTZ, S., WOLBURG-BUCHHOLZ, K., WOLBURG, H., MACK, A., NASDALA, I., AUGUST, B., WESTERMANN, J., RATHJEN, F. G. & VESTWEBER, D. 2005. Coxsackievirus-adenovirus receptor (CAR) is essential for early embryonic cardiac development. *J Cell Sci*, 118, 3509-21.
- EBNET, K., AURRAND-LIONS, M., KUHN, A., KIEFER, F., BUTZ, S., ZANDER, K., MEYER ZU BRICKWEDDE, M. K., SUZUKI, A., IMHOF, B. A. & VESTWEBER, D. 2003. The junctional adhesion molecule (JAM) family members JAM-2 and JAM-3 associate with the cell polarity protein PAR-3: a possible role for JAMs in endothelial cell polarity. *J Cell Sci*, 116, 3879-91.
- EBNET, K., SUZUKI, A., OHNO, S. & VESTWEBER, D. 2004. Junctional adhesion molecules (JAMs): more molecules with dual functions? *J Cell Sci*, 117, 19-29.
- ERIN, E. M., LEAKER, B. R., NICHOLSON, G. C., TAN, A. J., GREEN, L. M., NEIGHBOUR, H., ZACHARASIEWICZ, A. S., TURNER, J., BARNATHAN, E. S., KON, O. M., BARNES, P. J. & HANSEL, T. T. 2006. The effects of a monoclonal antibody directed against tumor necrosis factor-alpha in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 174, 753-62.
- ERLE, D. J. & SHEPPARD, D. 2014. The cell biology of asthma. *J Cell Biol*, 205, 621-31.
- EXCOFFON, K. J., GANSEMER, N. D., MOBILY, M. E., KARP, P. H., PAREKH, K. R. & ZABNER, J. 2010. Isoform-specific regulation and localization of the coxsackie and adenovirus receptor in human airway epithelia. *PLoS One*, 5, e9909.

- FARMER, C., MORTON, P. E., SNIPPE, M., SANTIS, G. & PARSONS, M. 2009. Coxsackie adenovirus receptor (CAR) regulates integrin function through activation of p44/42 MAPK. *Exp Cell Res*, 315, 2637-47.
- FARQUHAR, M. G. & PALADE, G. E. 1963. Junctional complexes in various epithelia. *J Cell Biol*, 17, 375-412.
- FECHNER, H., NOUTSIAS, M., TSCHOEPE, C., HINZE, K., WANG, X., ESCHER, F., PAUSCHINGER, M., DEKKERS, D., VETTER, R., PAUL, M., LAMERS, J., SCHULTHEISS, H. P. & POLLER, W. 2003. Induction of coxsackievirus-adenovirus-receptor expression during myocardial tissue formation and remodeling: identification of a cell-to-cell contact-dependent regulatory mechanism. *Circulation*, 107, 876-82.
- FENG, Y. & TEITELBAUM, D. H. 2013. Tumour necrosis factor--induced loss of intestinal barrier function requires TNFR1 and TNFR2 signalling in a mouse model of total parenteral nutrition. J Physiol, 591, 3709-23.
- FINSTERBUSCH, M., VOISIN, M. B., BEYRAU, M., WILLIAMS, T. J. & NOURSHARGH, S. 2014. Neutrophils recruited by chemoattractants in vivo induce microvascular plasma protein leakage through secretion of TNF. J Exp Med, 211, 1307-14.
- FISCHER, A., GLUTH, M., PAPE, U. F., WIEDENMANN, B., THEURING, F. & BAUMGART, D.
 C. 2013. Adalimumab prevents barrier dysfunction and antagonizes distinct effects of TNF-alpha on tight junction proteins and signaling pathways in intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 304, G970-9.
- FISH, S. M., PROUJANSKY, R. & REENSTRA, W. W. 1999. Synergistic effects of interferon gamma and tumour necrosis factor alpha on T84 cell function. *Gut*, 45, 191-8.
- FLORIAN, P., SCHONEBERG, T., SCHULZKE, J. D., FROMM, M. & GITTER, A. H. 2002. Single-cell epithelial defects close rapidly by an actinomyosin purse string mechanism with functional tight junctions. J Physiol, 545, 485-99.
- FUXE, J., LIU, L., MALIN, S., PHILIPSON, L., COLLINS, V. P. & PETTERSSON, R. F. 2003. Expression of the coxsackie and adenovirus receptor in human astrocytic tumors and xenografts. *Int J Cancer*, 103, 723-9.
- GARRIDO-URBANI, S., BRADFIELD, P. F., LEE, B. P. & IMHOF, B. A. 2008. Vascular and epithelial junctions: a barrier for leucocyte migration. *Biochem Soc Trans*, 36, 203-11.
- GARROD, D. & CHIDGEY, M. 2008. Desmosome structure, composition and function. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1778, 572-87.
- GIRARDI, M., OPPENHEIM, D. E., STEELE, C. R., LEWIS, J. M., GLUSAC, E., FILLER, R., HOBBY, P., SUTTON, B., TIGELAAR, R. E. & HAYDAY, A. C. 2001. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science*, 294, 605-9.
- GITTER, A. H., BENDFELDT, K., SCHMITZ, H., SCHULZKE, J. D., BENTZEL, C. J. & FROMM, M. 2000a. Epithelial barrier defects in HT-29/B6 colonic cell monolayers induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 915, 193-203.
- GITTER, A. H., BENDFELDT, K., SCHULZKE, J. D. & FROMM, M. 2000b. Leaks in the epithelial barrier caused by spontaneous and TNF-alpha-induced single-cell apoptosis. *FASEB J*, 14, 1749-53.
- GOMEZ, M. I., LEE, A., REDDY, B., MUIR, A., SOONG, G., PITT, A., CHEUNG, A. & PRINCE, A. 2004. Staphylococcus aureus protein A induces airway epithelial inflammatory responses by activating TNFR1. *Nat Med*, 10, 842-8.
- GOMEZ, M. I., O'SEAGHDHA, M., MAGARGEE, M., FOSTER, T. J. & PRINCE, A. S. 2006. Staphylococcus aureus protein A activates TNFR1 signaling through conserved IgG binding domains. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 20190-6.

- GONZALEZ-MARISCAL, L., TAPIA, R. & CHAMORRO, D. 2008. Crosstalk of tight junction components with signaling pathways. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1778, 729-56.
- GUO, Y. L., BAI, R., CHEN, C. X., LIU, D. Q., LIU, Y., ZHANG, C. Y. & ZEN, K. 2009. Role of junctional adhesion molecule-like protein in mediating monocyte transendothelial migration. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 29, 75-83.
- GYE, M. C., OH, Y. S., LEE, J. E., SHIM, S., CHOI, K. J. & AHN, H. S. 2011. Expression of coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor isoforms in developing mouse bladder uroepithelium. *Urology*, 77, 1009 e9-1009 e18.
- HACKETT, T. L., SINGHERA, G. K., SHAHEEN, F., HAYDEN, P., JACKSON, G. R., HEGELE, R.
 G., VAN EEDEN, S., BAI, T. R., DORSCHEID, D. R. & KNIGHT, D. A. 2011. Intrinsic phenotypic differences of asthmatic epithelium and its inflammatory responses to respiratory syncytial virus and air pollution. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 45, 1090-100.
- HALL, B., LIMAYE, A. & KULKARNI, A. B. 2009. Overview: generation of gene knockout mice. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol*, Chapter 19, Unit 19 12 19 12 1-17.
- HALLSTRAND, T. S., HACKETT, T. L., ALTEMEIER, W. A., MATUTE-BELLO, G., HANSBRO, P.
 M. & KNIGHT, D. A. 2014. Airway epithelial regulation of pulmonary immune homeostasis and inflammation. *Clin Immunol*, 151, 1-15.
- HALSTENSEN, T. S., MOLLNES, T. E., GARRED, P., FAUSA, O. & BRANDTZAEG, P. 1990. Epithelial deposition of immunoglobulin G1 and activated complement (C3b and terminal complement complex) in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*, 98, 1264-71.
- HARDYMAN, M. A., WILKINSON, E., MARTIN, E., JAYASEKERA, N. P., BLUME, C., SWINDLE, E. J., GOZZARD, N., HOLGATE, S. T., HOWARTH, P. H., DAVIES, D. E. & COLLINS, J. E. 2013. TNF-alpha-mediated bronchial barrier disruption and regulation by src-family kinase activation. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 132, 665-675 e8.
- HIDAKA, C., MILANO, E., LEOPOLD, P. L., BERGELSON, J. M., HACKETT, N. R., FINBERG, R.
 W., WICKHAM, T. J., KOVESDI, I., ROELVINK, P. & CRYSTAL, R. G. 1999. CARdependent and CAR-independent pathways of adenovirus vector-mediated gene transfer and expression in human fibroblasts. J Clin Invest, 103, 579-87.
- HOGG, J. C. 1993. Pathology of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 92, 1-5.
- HOLGATE, S. T. 2007. Epithelium dysfunction in asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 120, 1233-44; quiz 1245-6.
- HOLGATE, S. T. 2010. A look at the pathogenesis of asthma: the need for a change in direction. *Discov Med*, 9, 439-47.
- HOLGATE, S. T., DAVIES, D. E., LACKIE, P. M., WILSON, S. J., PUDDICOMBE, S. M. & LORDAN, J. L. 2000. Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in the pathogenesis of asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 105, 193-204.
- HOLTZMAN, M. J., BYERS, D. E., ALEXANDER-BRETT, J. & WANG, X. 2014. The role of airway epithelial cells and innate immune cells in chronic respiratory disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 14, 686-98.
- HONDA, T., SAITOH, H., MASUKO, M., KATAGIRI-ABE, T., TOMINAGA, K., KOZAKAI, I., KOBAYASHI, K., KUMANISHI, T., WATANABE, Y. G., ODANI, S. & KUWANO, R. 2000. The coxsackievirus-adenovirus receptor protein as a cell adhesion molecule in the developing mouse brain. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 77, 19-28.
- HOTTA, Y., HONDA, T., NAITO, M. & KUWANO, R. 2003. Developmental distribution of coxsackie virus and adenovirus receptor localized in the nervous system. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res*, 143, 1-13.

- HOWARTH, P. H., BABU, K. S., ARSHAD, H. S., LAU, L., BUCKLEY, M., MCCONNELL, W., BECKETT, P., AL ALI, M., CHAUHAN, A., WILSON, S. J., REYNOLDS, A., DAVIES, D. E. & HOLGATE, S. T. 2005. Tumour necrosis factor (TNFalpha) as a novel therapeutic target in symptomatic corticosteroid dependent asthma. *Thorax*, 60, 1012-8.
- HRAIECH, S., PAPAZIAN, L., ROLAIN, J. M. & BREGEON, F. 2015. Animal models of polymicrobial pneumonia. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 9, 3279-92.
- HUANG, G. T., ECKMANN, L., SAVIDGE, T. C. & KAGNOFF, M. F. 1996. Infection of human intestinal epithelial cells with invasive bacteria upregulates apical intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM)-1) expression and neutrophil adhesion. J Clin Invest, 98, 572-83.
- HUANG, M. R., OLSSON, M., KALLIN, A., PETTERSSON, U. & TOTTERMAN, T. H. 1997. Efficient adenovirus-mediated gene transduction of normal and leukemic hematopoietic cells. *Gene Ther*, 4, 1093-9.
- IDEN, S., MISSELWITZ, S., PEDDIBHOTLA, S. S., TUNCAY, H., REHDER, D., GERKE, V., ROBENEK, H., SUZUKI, A. & EBNET, K. 2012. aPKC phosphorylates JAM-A at Ser285 to promote cell contact maturation and tight junction formation. J Cell Biol, 196, 623-39.
- ITO, M., KODAMA, M., MASUKO, M., YAMAURA, M., FUSE, K., UESUGI, Y., HIRONO, S., OKURA, Y., KATO, K., HOTTA, Y., HONDA, T., KUWANO, R. & AIZAWA, Y. 2000. Expression of coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor in hearts of rats with experimental autoimmune myocarditis. *Circ Res*, 86, 275-80.
- IVANOV, A. I., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2004. Endocytosis of epithelial apical junctional proteins by a clathrin-mediated pathway into a unique storage compartment. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15, 176-88.
- IVANOV, A. I., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2005. Endocytosis of the apical junctional complex: mechanisms and possible roles in regulation of epithelial barriers. *Bioessays*, 27, 356-65.
- JAGELS, M. A., DAFFERN, P. J., ZURAW, B. L. & HUGLI, T. E. 1999. Mechanisms and regulation of polymorphonuclear leukocyte and eosinophil adherence to human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 21, 418-27.
- JAMESON, J., UGARTE, K., CHEN, N., YACHI, P., FUCHS, E., BOISMENU, R. & HAVRAN, W. L. 2002. A role for skin gammadelta T cells in wound repair. *Science*, 296, 747-9.
- JIANG, S. & CAFFREY, M. 2007. Solution structure of the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor domain 2. *Protein Sci*, 16, 539-42.
- KANT, S., SWAT, W., ZHANG, S., ZHANG, Z. Y., NEEL, B. G., FLAVELL, R. A. & DAVIS, R. J. 2011. TNF-stimulated MAP kinase activation mediated by a Rho family GTPase signaling pathway. *Genes Dev*, 25, 2069-78.
- KILPATRICK, L. E., LEE, J. Y., HAINES, K. M., CAMPBELL, D. E., SULLIVAN, K. E. & KORCHAK, H. M. 2002. A role for PKC-delta and PI 3-kinase in TNF-alpha-mediated antiapoptotic signaling in the human neutrophil. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 283, C48-57.
- KILPATRICK, L. E., SUN, S., MACKIE, D., BAIK, F., LI, H. & KORCHAK, H. M. 2006. Regulation of TNF mediated antiapoptotic signaling in human neutrophils: role of delta-PKC and ERK1/2. J Leukoc Biol, 80, 1512-21.
- KIM, M., SUMEREL, L. A., BELOUSOVA, N., LYONS, G. R., CAREY, D. E., KRASNYKH, V. & DOUGLAS, J. T. 2003. The coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor acts as a tumour suppressor in malignant glioma cells. *Br J Cancer*, 88, 1411-6.

- KINUGASA, T., SAKAGUCHI, T., GU, X. & REINECKER, H. C. 2000. Claudins regulate the intestinal barrier in response to immune mediators. *Gastroenterology*, 118, 1001-11.
- KIRBY, I., DAVISON, E., BEAVIL, A. J., SOH, C. P., WICKHAM, T. J., ROELVINK, P. W., KOVESDI, I., SUTTON, B. J. & SANTIS, G. 2000. Identification of contact residues and definition of the CAR-binding site of adenovirus type 5 fiber protein. *J Virol*, 74, 2804-13.
- KLESNEY-TAIT, J., KECK, K., LI, X., GILFILLAN, S., OTERO, K., BARUAH, S., MEYERHOLZ, D. K., VARGA, S. M., KNUDSON, C. J., MONINGER, T. O., MORELAND, J., ZABNER, J. & COLONNA, M. 2013. Transepithelial migration of neutrophils into the lung requires TREM-1. J Clin Invest, 123, 138-49.
- KOSTREWA, D., BROCKHAUS, M., D'ARCY, A., DALE, G. E., NELBOECK, P., SCHMID, G., MUELLER, F., BAZZONI, G., DEJANA, E., BARTFAI, T., WINKLER, F. K. & HENNIG, M.
 2001. X-ray structure of junctional adhesion molecule: structural basis for homophilic adhesion via a novel dimerization motif. *EMBO J*, 20, 4391-8.
- KREMER, E. J. & PERRICAUDET, M. 1995. Adenovirus and adeno-associated virus mediated gene transfer. *Br Med Bull*, 51, 31-44.
- KUMAR, R. K., HERBERT, C. & FOSTER, P. S. 2008. The "classical" ovalbumin challenge model of asthma in mice. *Curr Drug Targets*, 9, 485-94.
- LAMBRECHT, B. N. & HAMMAD, H. 2012. The airway epithelium in asthma. *Nat Med*, 18, 684-92.
- LAMPINEN, M., CARLSON, M., SANGFELT, P., TAHA, Y., THORN, M., LOOF, L., RAAB, Y. & VENGE, P. 2001. IL-5 and TNF-alpha participate in recruitment of eosinophils to intestinal mucosa in ulcerative colitis. *Dig Dis Sci*, 46, 2004-9.
- LAPOINTE, T. K. & BURET, A. G. 2012. Interleukin-18 facilitates neutrophil transmigration via myosin light chain kinase-dependent disruption of occludin, without altering epithelial permeability. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 302, G343-51.
- LAWRENCE, D. W., COMERFORD, K. M. & COLGAN, S. P. 2002. Role of VASP in reestablishment of epithelial tight junction assembly after Ca2+ switch. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 282, C1235-45.
- LI, Y., PONG, R. C., BERGELSON, J. M., HALL, M. C., SAGALOWSKY, A. I., TSENG, C. P., WANG, Z. & HSIEH, J. T. 1999. Loss of adenoviral receptor expression in human bladder cancer cells: a potential impact on the efficacy of gene therapy. *Cancer Res*, 59, 325-30.
- LIU, Y., MERLIN, D., BURST, S. L., POCHET, M., MADARA, J. L. & PARKOS, C. A. 2001. The role of CD47 in neutrophil transmigration. Increased rate of migration correlates with increased cell surface expression of CD47. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 40156-66.
- LIU, Y., O'CONNOR, M. B., MANDELL, K. J., ZEN, K., ULLRICH, A., BUHRING, H. J. & PARKOS, C. A. 2004a. Peptide-mediated inhibition of neutrophil transmigration by blocking CD47 interactions with signal regulatory protein alpha. *J Immunol*, 172, 2578-85.
- LIU, Y., SHAW, S. K., MA, S., YANG, L., LUSCINSKAS, F. W. & PARKOS, C. A. 2004b. Regulation of leukocyte transmigration: cell surface interactions and signaling events. *J Immunol*, 172, 7-13.
- LOOK, D. C., RAPP, S. R., KELLER, B. T. & HOLTZMAN, M. J. 1992. Selective induction of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 by interferon-gamma in human airway epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol*, 263, L79-87.

- LORTAT-JACOB, H., CHOUIN, E., CUSACK, S. & VAN RAAIJ, M. J. 2001. Kinetic analysis of adenovirus fiber binding to its receptor reveals an avidity mechanism for trimeric receptor-ligand interactions. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 9009-15.
- LUISSINT, A. C., LUTZ, P. G., CALDERWOOD, D. A., COURAUD, P. O. & BOURDOULOUS, S. 2008. JAM-L-mediated leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells is regulated in cis by alpha4beta1 integrin activation. *J Cell Biol*, 183, 1159-73.
- LUISSINT, A. C., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2014. JAM-related proteins in mucosal homeostasis and inflammation. *Semin Immunopathol*, 36, 211-26.
- MA, T. Y., IWAMOTO, G. K., HOA, N. T., AKOTIA, V., PEDRAM, A., BOIVIN, M. A. & SAID,
 H. M. 2004. TNF-alpha-induced increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability requires NF-kappa B activation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 286, G367-76.
- MADARA, J. L. 1989. Epithelial cells develop membrane wounds--and recover! *Gastroenterology*, 96, 1360-1.
- MADARA, J. L. 1990. Maintenance of the macromolecular barrier at cell extrusion sites in intestinal epithelium: physiological rearrangement of tight junctions. *J Membr Biol*, 116, 177-84.
- MADARA, J. L. & STAFFORD, J. 1989. Interferon-gamma directly affects barrier function of cultured intestinal epithelial monolayers. *J Clin Invest*, 83, 724-7.
- MALERGUE, F., GALLAND, F., MARTIN, F., MANSUELLE, P., AURRAND-LIONS, M. & NAQUET, P. 1998. A novel immunoglobulin superfamily junctional molecule expressed by antigen presenting cells, endothelial cells and platelets. *Mol Immunol*, 35, 1111-9.
- MARANO, C. W., LEWIS, S. A., GARULACAN, L. A., SOLER, A. P. & MULLIN, J. M. 1998. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha increases sodium and chloride conductance across the tight junction of CACO-2 BBE, a human intestinal epithelial cell line. *J Membr Biol*, 161, 263-74.
- MARCHIANDO, A. M., SHEN, L., GRAHAM, W. V., WEBER, C. R., SCHWARZ, B. T., AUSTIN,
 J. R., 2ND, RALEIGH, D. R., GUAN, Y., WATSON, A. J., MONTROSE, M. H. &
 TURNER, J. R. 2010. Caveolin-1-dependent occludin endocytosis is required for
 TNF-induced tight junction regulation in vivo. J Cell Biol, 189, 111-26.
- MARTIN-PADURA, I., LOSTAGLIO, S., SCHNEEMANN, M., WILLIAMS, L., ROMANO, M., FRUSCELLA, P., PANZERI, C., STOPPACCIARO, A., RUCO, L., VILLA, A., SIMMONS, D. & DEJANA, E. 1998. Junctional adhesion molecule, a novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily that distributes at intercellular junctions and modulates monocyte transmigration. J Cell Biol, 142, 117-27.
- MAZZON, E. & CUZZOCREA, S. 2007. Role of TNF-alpha in lung tight junction alteration in mouse model of acute lung inflammation. *Respir Res,* 8, 75.
- MCCOLE, D. F. 2013. Phosphatase regulation of intercellular junctions. *Tissue Barriers*, 1, e26713.
- MCKAY, D. M., WATSON, J. L., WANG, A., CALDWELL, J., PRESCOTT, D., CEPONIS, P. M., DI LEO, V. & LU, J. 2007. Phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase is a critical mediator of interferon-gamma-induced increases in enteric epithelial permeability. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 320, 1013-22.
- MCKENZIE, J. A. & RIDLEY, A. J. 2007. Roles of Rho/ROCK and MLCK in TNF-alpha-induced changes in endothelial morphology and permeability. *J Cell Physiol*, 213, 221-8.
- MICHEAU, O. & TSCHOPP, J. 2003. Induction of TNF receptor I-mediated apoptosis via two sequential signaling complexes. *Cell*, 114, 181-90.

- MIYATA, R., IWABUCHI, K., WATANABE, S., SATO, N. & NAGAOKA, I. 1999. Short exposure of intestinal epithelial cells to TNF-alpha and histamine induces Mac-1-mediated neutrophil adhesion independent of protein synthesis. *J Leukoc Biol*, 66, 437-46.
- MOCHLY-ROSEN, D., DAS, K. & GRIMES, K. V. 2012. Protein kinase C, an elusive therapeutic target? *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 11, 937-57.
- MONG, P. Y., PETRULIO, C., KAUFMAN, H. L. & WANG, Q. 2008. Activation of Rho kinase by TNF-alpha is required for JNK activation in human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells. *J Immunol*, 180, 550-8.
- MONTEIRO, A. C., LUISSINT, A. C., SUMAGIN, R., LAI, C., VIELMUTH, F., WOLF, M. F., LAUR, O., REISS, K., SPINDLER, V., STEHLE, T., DERMODY, T. S., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2014. Trans-dimerization of JAM-A regulates Rap2 and is mediated by a domain that is distinct from the cis-dimerization interface. *Mol Biol Cell*, 25, 1574-85.
- MOORE, R., CARLSON, S. & MADARA, J. L. 1989. Rapid barrier restitution in an in vitro model of intestinal epithelial injury. *Lab Invest*, 60, 237-44.
- MORJARIA, J. B., CHAUHAN, A. J., BABU, K. S., POLOSA, R., DAVIES, D. E. & HOLGATE, S. T. 2008. The role of a soluble TNFalpha receptor fusion protein (etanercept) in corticosteroid refractory asthma: a double blind, randomised, placebo controlled trial. *Thorax*, 63, 584-91.
- MORTON, P. E., HICKS, A., NASTOS, T., SANTIS, G. & PARSONS, M. 2013. CAR regulates epithelial cell junction stability through control of E-cadherin trafficking. *Sci Rep*, 3, 2889.
- MULLIN, J. M., LAUGHLIN, K. V., MARANO, C. W., RUSSO, L. M. & SOLER, A. P. 1992. Modulation of tumor necrosis factor-induced increase in renal (LLC-PK1) transepithelial permeability. *Am J Physiol*, 263, F915-24.
- MURDACA, G., COLOMBO, B. M. & PUPPO, F. 2009. Anti-TNF-alpha inhibitors: a new therapeutic approach for inflammatory immune-mediated diseases: an update upon efficacy and adverse events. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol*, 22, 557-65.
- MUTO, S., SATO, Y., UMEKI, Y., YOSHIDA, K., YOSHIOKA, T., NISHIKAWA, Y., NAKAMURA, T., MORI, M., KOYAMA, K. & ENOMOTO, K. 2000. HGF/SF-induced spreading of MDCK cells correlates with disappearance of barmotin/7H6, a tight junctionassociated protein, from the cell membrane. *Cell Biol Int*, 24, 439-46.
- NIALS, A. T. & UDDIN, S. 2008. Mouse models of allergic asthma: acute and chronic allergen challenge. *Dis Model Mech*, 1, 213-20.
- NIESSEN, C. M. 2007. Tight junctions/adherens junctions: basic structure and function. J Invest Dermatol, 127, 2525-32.
- NWARIAKU, F. E., ROTHENBACH, P., LIU, Z., ZHU, X., TURNAGE, R. H. & TERADA, L. S. 2003. Rho inhibition decreases TNF-induced endothelial MAPK activation and monolayer permeability. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 95, 1889-95.
- OKEGAWA, T., LI, Y., PONG, R. C., BERGELSON, J. M., ZHOU, J. & HSIEH, J. T. 2000. The dual impact of coxsackie and adenovirus receptor expression on human prostate cancer gene therapy. *Cancer Res*, 60, 5031-6.
- OKEGAWA, T., PONG, R. C., LI, Y., BERGELSON, J. M., SAGALOWSKY, A. I. & HSIEH, J. T. 2001. The mechanism of the growth-inhibitory effect of coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR) on human bladder cancer: a functional analysis of car protein structure. *Cancer Res,* 61, 6592-600.
- ORLOVA, V. V. & CHAVAKIS, T. 2007. Regulation of vascular endothelial permeability by junctional adhesion molecules (JAM). *Thromb Haemost*, 98, 327-32.

- OSTERMANN, G., WEBER, K. S., ZERNECKE, A., SCHRODER, A. & WEBER, C. 2002. JAM-1 is a ligand of the beta(2) integrin LFA-1 involved in transendothelial migration of leukocytes. *Nat Immunol*, **3**, 151-8.
- OZAKI, H., ISHII, K., HORIUCHI, H., ARAI, H., KAWAMOTO, T., OKAWA, K., IWAMATSU, A. & KITA, T. 1999. Cutting edge: combined treatment of TNF-alpha and IFN-gamma causes redistribution of junctional adhesion molecule in human endothelial cells. *J Immunol*, 163, 553-7.
- PABLA, N., DONG, G., JIANG, M., HUANG, S., KUMAR, M. V., MESSING, R. O. & DONG, Z. 2011. Inhibition of PKCdelta reduces cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity without blocking chemotherapeutic efficacy in mouse models of cancer. *J Clin Invest*, 121, 2709-22.
- PALMERI, D., VAN ZANTE, A., HUANG, C. C., HEMMERICH, S. & ROSEN, S. D. 2000. Vascular endothelial junction-associated molecule, a novel member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, is localized to intercellular boundaries of endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 19139-45.
- PARK, Y. H., JEONG, M. S. & JANG, S. B. 2014. Death domain complex of the TNFR-1, TRADD, and RIP1 proteins for death-inducing signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 443, 1155-61.
- PARKOS, C. A., COLGAN, S. P., LIANG, T. W., NUSRAT, A., BACARRA, A. E., CARNES, D. K. & MADARA, J. L. 1996. CD47 mediates post-adhesive events required for neutrophil migration across polarized intestinal epithelia. *J Cell Biol*, 132, 437-50.
- PARKOS, C. A., DELP, C., ARNAOUT, M. A. & MADARA, J. L. 1991. Neutrophil migration across a cultured intestinal epithelium. Dependence on a CD11b/CD18-mediated event and enhanced efficiency in physiological direction. *J Clin Invest*, 88, 1605-12.
- PAZIRANDEH, A., SULTANA, T., MIRZA, M., ROZELL, B., HULTENBY, K., WALLIS, K., VENNSTROM, B., DAVIS, B., ARNER, A., HEUCHEL, R., LOHR, M., PHILIPSON, L. & SOLLERBRANT, K. 2011. Multiple phenotypes in adult mice following inactivation of the Coxsackievirus and Adenovirus Receptor (Car) gene. *PLoS One*, 6, e20203.
- PEREZ, L. M., MILKIEWICZ, P., ELIAS, E., COLEMAN, R., SANCHEZ POZZI, E. J. & ROMA, M.
 G. 2006. Oxidative stress induces internalization of the bile salt export pump, Bsep, and bile salt secretory failure in isolated rat hepatocyte couplets: a role for protein kinase C and prevention by protein kinase A. *Toxicol Sci*, 91, 150-8.
- PETERS, M. C., MEKONNEN, Z. K., YUAN, S., BHAKTA, N. R., WOODRUFF, P. G. & FAHY, J.
 V. 2014. Measures of gene expression in sputum cells can identify TH2-high and TH2-low subtypes of asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 133, 388-94.
- PRASAD, S., MINGRINO, R., KAUKINEN, K., HAYES, K. L., POWELL, R. M., MACDONALD, T.
 T. & COLLINS, J. E. 2005. Inflammatory processes have differential effects on claudins 2, 3 and 4 in colonic epithelial cells. *Lab Invest*, 85, 1139-62.
- QIN, Z. 2012. The use of THP-1 cells as a model for mimicking the function and regulation of monocytes and macrophages in the vasculature. *Atherosclerosis*, 221, 2-11.
- RASCHPERGER, E., THYBERG, J., PETTERSSON, S., PHILIPSON, L., FUXE, J. & PETTERSSON,
 R. F. 2006. The coxsackie- and adenovirus receptor (CAR) is an in vivo marker for epithelial tight junctions, with a potential role in regulating permeability and tissue homeostasis. *Exp Cell Res*, 312, 1566-80.
- RAUEN, K. A., SUDILOVSKY, D., LE, J. L., CHEW, K. L., HANN, B., WEINBERG, V., SCHMITT, L. D. & MCCORMICK, F. 2002. Expression of the coxsackie adenovirus receptor in

normal prostate and in primary and metastatic prostate carcinoma: potential relevance to gene therapy. *Cancer Res,* 62, 3812-8.

- REEH, M., BOCKHORN, M., GORGENS, D., VIETH, M., HOFFMANN, T., SIMON, R., IZBICKI, J. R., SAUTER, G., SCHUMACHER, U. & ANDERS, M. 2013. Presence of the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor (CAR) in human neoplasms: a multitumour array analysis. *Br J Cancer*, 109, 1848-58.
- RENNARD, S. I., FOGARTY, C., KELSEN, S., LONG, W., RAMSDELL, J., ALLISON, J., MAHLER, D., SAADEH, C., SILER, T., SNELL, P., KORENBLAT, P., SMITH, W., KAYE, M., MANDEL, M., ANDREWS, C., PRABHU, R., DONOHUE, J. F., WATT, R., LO, K. H., SCHLENKER-HERCEG, R., BARNATHAN, E. S., MURRAY, J. & INVESTIGATORS, C. 2007. The safety and efficacy of infliximab in moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 175, 926-34.
- RIDGER, V. C., WAGNER, B. E., WALLACE, W. A. & HELLEWELL, P. G. 2001. Differential effects of CD18, CD29, and CD49 integrin subunit inhibition on neutrophil migration in pulmonary inflammation. *J Immunol*, 166, 3484-90.
- RODON, J., DIENSTMANN, R., SERRA, V. & TABERNERO, J. 2013. Development of PI3K inhibitors: lessons learned from early clinical trials. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, 10, 143-53.
- SAILE, B., MATTHES, N., EL ARMOUCHE, H., NEUBAUER, K. & RAMADORI, G. 2001. The bcl, NFkappaB and p53/p21WAF1 systems are involved in spontaneous apoptosis and in the anti-apoptotic effect of TGF-beta or TNF-alpha on activated hepatic stellate cells. *Eur J Cell Biol*, 80, 554-61.
- SALVA, P. S., DOYLE, N. A., GRAHAM, L., EIGEN, H. & DOERSCHUK, C. M. 1996. TNF-alpha, IL-8, soluble ICAM-1, and neutrophils in sputum of cystic fibrosis patients. *Pediatr Pulmonol*, 21, 11-9.
- SANDERS, S. E., MADARA, J. L., MCGUIRK, D. K., GELMAN, D. S. & COLGAN, S. P. 1995. Assessment of inflammatory events in epithelial permeability: a rapid screening method using fluorescein dextrans. *Epithelial Cell Biol*, *4*, 25-34.
- SANTIS, G., LEGRAND, V., HONG, S. S., DAVISON, E., KIRBY, I., IMLER, J. L., FINBERG, R.
 W., BERGELSON, J. M., MEHTALI, M. & BOULANGER, P. 1999. Molecular determinants of adenovirus serotype 5 fibre binding to its cellular receptor CAR. J Gen Virol, 80 (Pt 6), 1519-27.
- SARRIS, M., MASSON, J. B., MAURIN, D., VAN DER AA, L. M., BOUDINOT, P., LORTAT-JACOB, H. & HERBOMEL, P. 2012. Inflammatory chemokines direct and restrict leukocyte migration within live tissues as glycan-bound gradients. *Curr Biol*, 22, 2375-82.
- SATO, M., VAUGHAN, M. B., GIRARD, L., PEYTON, M., LEE, W., SHAMES, D. S., RAMIREZ, R. D., SUNAGA, N., GAZDAR, A. F., SHAY, J. W. & MINNA, J. D. 2006. Multiple oncogenic changes (K-RAS(V12), p53 knockdown, mutant EGFRs, p16 bypass, telomerase) are not sufficient to confer a full malignant phenotype on human bronchial epithelial cells. *Cancer Res*, 66, 2116-28.
- SATSU, H., ISHIMOTO, Y., NAKANO, T., MOCHIZUKI, T., IWANAGA, T. & SHIMIZU, M. 2006. Induction by activated macrophage-like THP-1 cells of apoptotic and necrotic cell death in intestinal epithelial Caco-2 monolayers via tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Exp Cell Res*, 312, 3909-19.
- SCHENKEL, A. R., CHEW, T. W. & MULLER, W. A. 2004. Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule deficiency or blockade significantly reduces leukocyte emigration in a majority of mouse strains. *J Immunol*, 173, 6403-8.

- SCHMITZ, H., FROMM, M., BENTZEL, C. J., SCHOLZ, P., DETJEN, K., MANKERTZ, J., BODE, H., EPPLE, H. J., RIECKEN, E. O. & SCHULZKE, J. D. 1999. Tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNFalpha) regulates the epithelial barrier in the human intestinal cell line HT-29/B6. J Cell Sci, 112 (Pt 1), 137-46.
- SCHREIBER, J., LANGHORST, H., JUTTNER, R. & RATHJEN, F. G. 2014. The IgCAMs CAR, BT-IgSF, and CLMP: structure, function, and diseases. *Adv Neurobiol*, 8, 21-45.
- SCHRODER, K., HERTZOG, P. J., RAVASI, T. & HUME, D. A. 2004. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *J Leukoc Biol*, **75**, 163-89.
- SCHULZKE, J. D. & FROMM, M. 2009. Tight junctions: molecular structure meets function. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1165, 1-6.
- SCHULZKE, J. D., PLOEGER, S., AMASHEH, M., FROMM, A., ZEISSIG, S., TROEGER, H., RICHTER, J., BOJARSKI, C., SCHUMANN, M. & FROMM, M. 2009. Epithelial tight junctions in intestinal inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1165, 294-300.
- SCHWARZ, B. T., WANG, F., SHEN, L., CLAYBURGH, D. R., SU, L., WANG, Y., FU, Y. X. & TURNER, J. R. 2007. LIGHT signals directly to intestinal epithelia to cause barrier dysfunction via cytoskeletal and endocytic mechanisms. *Gastroenterology*, 132, 2383-94.
- SHARP, L. L., JAMESON, J. M., CAUVI, G. & HAVRAN, W. L. 2005. Dendritic epidermal T cells regulate skin homeostasis through local production of insulin-like growth factor 1. Nat Immunol, 6, 73-9.
- SHAW, C. A., HOLLAND, P. C., SINNREICH, M., ALLEN, C., SOLLERBRANT, K., KARPATI, G. & NALBANTOGLU, J. 2004. Isoform-specific expression of the Coxsackie and adenovirus receptor (CAR) in neuromuscular junction and cardiac intercalated discs. *BMC Cell Biol*, 5, 42.
- SPEECKAERT, M. M., SPEECKAERT, R., LAUTE, M., VANHOLDER, R. & DELANGHE, J. R. 2012. Tumor necrosis factor receptors: biology and therapeutic potential in kidney diseases. *Am J Nephrol*, 36, 261-70.
- STECKER, K., KOSCHEL, A., WIEDENMANN, B. & ANDERS, M. 2009. Loss of Coxsackie and adenovirus receptor downregulates alpha-catenin expression. *Br J Cancer*, 101, 1574-9.
- STEVENSON, B. R., ANDERSON, J. M., BRAUN, I. D. & MOOSEKER, M. S. 1989. Phosphorylation of the tight-junction protein ZO-1 in two strains of Madin-Darby canine kidney cells which differ in transepithelial resistance. *Biochem J*, 263, 597-9.
- STEWART, C. E., TORR, E. E., MOHD JAMILI, N. H., BOSQUILLON, C. & SAYERS, I. 2012. Evaluation of differentiated human bronchial epithelial cell culture systems for asthma research. *J Allergy (Cairo)*, 2012, 943982.
- STRIETER, R. M., KASAHARA, K., ALLEN, R. M., STANDIFORD, T. J., ROLFE, M. W., BECKER, F. S., CHENSUE, S. W. & KUNKEL, S. L. 1992. Cytokine-induced neutrophil-derived interleukin-8. *Am J Pathol*, 141, 397-407.
- STRIETER, R. M., LUKACS, N. W., STANDIFORD, T. J. & KUNKEL, S. L. 1993. Cytokines. 2. Cytokines and lung inflammation: mechanisms of neutrophil recruitment to the lung. *Thorax*, 48, 765-9.
- SWINDLE, E. J., COLLINS, J. E. & DAVIES, D. E. 2009. Breakdown in epithelial barrier function in patients with asthma: identification of novel therapeutic approaches. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 124, 23-34; quiz 35-6.
- TAM, A., WADSWORTH, S., DORSCHEID, D., MAN, S. F. & SIN, D. D. 2011. The airway epithelium: more than just a structural barrier. *Ther Adv Respir Dis*, 5, 255-73.

- THOMAS, S. M. & BRUGGE, J. S. 1997. Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 13, 513-609.
- TOMKO, R. P., JOHANSSON, C. B., TOTROV, M., ABAGYAN, R., FRISEN, J. & PHILIPSON, L. 2000. Expression of the adenovirus receptor and its interaction with the fiber knob. *Exp Cell Res*, 255, 47-55.
- TOMKO, R. P., XU, R. & PHILIPSON, L. 1997. HCAR and MCAR: the human and mouse cellular receptors for subgroup C adenoviruses and group B coxsackieviruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 3352-6.
- TOSI, M. F., STARK, J. M., SMITH, C. W., HAMEDANI, A., GRUENERT, D. C. & INFELD, M. D. 1992. Induction of ICAM-1 expression on human airway epithelial cells by inflammatory cytokines: effects on neutrophil-epithelial cell adhesion. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 7, 214-21.
- TURNER, J. R. 2009. Intestinal mucosal barrier function in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9, 799-809.
- ULLUWISHEWA, D., ANDERSON, R. C., MCNABB, W. C., MOUGHAN, P. J., WELLS, J. M. & ROY, N. C. 2011. Regulation of tight junction permeability by intestinal bacteria and dietary components. *J Nutr*, 141, 769-76.
- UTECH, M., IVANOV, A. I., SAMARIN, S. N., BRUEWER, M., TURNER, J. R., MRSNY, R. J., PARKOS, C. A. & NUSRAT, A. 2005. Mechanism of IFN-gamma-induced endocytosis of tight junction proteins: myosin II-dependent vacuolarization of the apical plasma membrane. *Mol Biol Cell*, 16, 5040-52.
- VAN'T HOF, W. & CRYSTAL, R. G. 2002. Fatty acid modification of the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor. *J Virol*, 76, 6382-6.
- VAN DER MERWE, P. A. & BARCLAY, A. N. 1994. Transient intercellular adhesion: the importance of weak protein-protein interactions. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 19, 354-8.
- VAN DER MERWE, P. A., BARCLAY, A. N., MASON, D. W., DAVIES, E. A., MORGAN, B. P., TONE, M., KRISHNAM, A. K., IANELLI, C. & DAVIS, S. J. 1994. Human cell-adhesion molecule CD2 binds CD58 (LFA-3) with a very low affinity and an extremely fast dissociation rate but does not bind CD48 or CD59. *Biochemistry*, 33, 10149-60.
- VAN RAAIJ, M. J., CHOUIN, E., VAN DER ZANDT, H., BERGELSON, J. M. & CUSACK, S. 2000. Dimeric structure of the coxsackievirus and adenovirus receptor D1 domain at 1.7 A resolution. *Structure*, 8, 1147-55.
- VAN RIJT, L. S., KUIPERS, H., VOS, N., HIJDRA, D., HOOGSTEDEN, H. C. & LAMBRECHT, B. N. 2004. A rapid flow cytometric method for determining the cellular composition of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid cells in mouse models of asthma. J Immunol Methods, 288, 111-21.
- VANDENBROUCKE, E., MEHTA, D., MINSHALL, R. & MALIK, A. B. 2008. Regulation of endothelial junctional permeability. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1123, 134-45.
- VARGAFTIG, B. B. 1999. What can we learn from murine models of asthma? *Clin Exp Allergy*, 29 Suppl 1, 9-13.
- VERDINO, P. & WILSON, I. A. 2011. JAML and CAR: two more players in T-cell activation. *Cell Cycle*, 10, 1341-2.
- VERDINO, P., WITHERDEN, D. A., HAVRAN, W. L. & WILSON, I. A. 2010. The molecular interaction of CAR and JAML recruits the central cell signal transducer PI3K. *Science*, 329, 1210-4.
- VIGL, B., ZGRAGGEN, C., REHMAN, N., BANZIGER-TOBLER, N. E., DETMAR, M. & HALIN, C. 2009. Coxsackie- and adenovirus receptor (CAR) is expressed in lymphatic vessels in human skin and affects lymphatic endothelial cell function in vitro. *Exp Cell Res*, 315, 336-47.

- VINCENT, T., PETTERSSON, R. F., CRYSTAL, R. G. & LEOPOLD, P. L. 2004. Cytokinemediated downregulation of coxsackievirus-adenovirus receptor in endothelial cells. *J Virol*, 78, 8047-58.
- VOLCKAERT, T. & DE LANGHE, S. 2014. Lung epithelial stem cells and their niches: Fgf10 takes center stage. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair*, 7, 8.
- WALTERS, R. W., FREIMUTH, P., MONINGER, T. O., GANSKE, I., ZABNER, J. & WELSH, M. J. 2002. Adenovirus fiber disrupts CAR-mediated intercellular adhesion allowing virus escape. *Cell*, 110, 789-99.
- WATERS, J. P., POBER, J. S. & BRADLEY, J. R. 2013. Tumour necrosis factor in infectious disease. *J Pathol*, 230, 132-47.
- WEBER, D. A., SUMAGIN, R., MCCALL, I. C., LEONI, G., NEUMANN, P. A., ANDARGACHEW, R., BRAZIL, J. C., MEDINA-CONTRERAS, O., DENNING, T. L., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2014. Neutrophil-derived JAML inhibits repair of intestinal epithelial injury during acute inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol*, 7, 1221-32.
- WENZEL, S. E., BARNES, P. J., BLEECKER, E. R., BOUSQUET, J., BUSSE, W., DAHLEN, S. E., HOLGATE, S. T., MEYERS, D. A., RABE, K. F., ANTCZAK, A., BAKER, J., HORVATH, I., MARK, Z., BERNSTEIN, D., KERWIN, E., SCHLENKER-HERCEG, R., LO, K. H., WATT, R., BARNATHAN, E. S., CHANEZ, P. & INVESTIGATORS, T. A. 2009. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade in severe persistent asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 179, 549-58.
- WITHERDEN, D. A., VERDINO, P., RIEDER, S. E., GARIJO, O., MILLS, R. E., TEYTON, L., FISCHER, W. H., WILSON, I. A. & HAVRAN, W. L. 2010. The junctional adhesion molecule JAML is a costimulatory receptor for epithelial gammadelta T cell activation. *Science*, 329, 1205-10.
- WOODFIN, A., VOISIN, M. B., IMHOF, B. A., DEJANA, E., ENGELHARDT, B. & NOURSHARGH, S. 2009. Endothelial cell activation leads to neutrophil transmigration as supported by the sequential roles of ICAM-2, JAM-A, and PECAM-1. *Blood*, 113, 6246-57.
- XIAO, C., PUDDICOMBE, S. M., FIELD, S., HAYWOOD, J., BROUGHTON-HEAD, V., PUXEDDU, I., HAITCHI, H. M., VERNON-WILSON, E., SAMMUT, D., BEDKE, N., CREMIN, C., SONES, J., DJUKANOVIC, R., HOWARTH, P. H., COLLINS, J. E., HOLGATE, S. T., MONK, P. & DAVIES, D. E. 2011. Defective epithelial barrier function in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 128, 549-56 e1-12.
- ZEMANS, R. L., COLGAN, S. P. & DOWNEY, G. P. 2009. Transepithelial migration of neutrophils: mechanisms and implications for acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 40, 519-35.
- ZEN, K., BABBIN, B. A., LIU, Y., WHELAN, J. B., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2004. JAM-C is a component of desmosomes and a ligand for CD11b/CD18-mediated neutrophil transepithelial migration. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15, 3926-37.
- ZEN, K., LIU, Y., MCCALL, I. C., WU, T., LEE, W., BABBIN, B. A., NUSRAT, A. & PARKOS, C. A. 2005. Neutrophil migration across tight junctions is mediated by adhesive interactions between epithelial coxsackie and adenovirus receptor and a junctional adhesion molecule-like protein on neutrophils. *Mol Biol Cell*, 16, 2694-703.
- ZEN, K. & PARKOS, C. A. 2003. Leukocyte-epithelial interactions. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 15, 557-64.